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Chiquita Brands International, Inc. (NYSE: CQB) is a leading international marketer and distributor of nutritious, high-
quality fresh and value-added food products – from energy-rich bananas, blends of convenient green salads and other fruits to 
healthy snacking products.  The company markets its healthy, fresh products under the Chiquita® and Fresh Express® premium 
brands and other related trademarks.  With annual revenues of more than $3 billion, Chiquita employs approximately 20,000 
people and has operations in nearly 70 countries worldwide. Additional information is available at www.chiquita.com and 
www.freshexpress.com. Additional company and investor relations information is available at http://investors.chiquita.com.

• Improving Lives • Loving our Planet • 
 • Leading our Industry •

CORP13_AR_CEO_Letter_Cover.indd   2 3/28/14   12:04 PM



Chiquita Brands International, Inc.  –  2013 Annual Report  i

TO THE STOCKHOLDERS OF CHIQUITA BRANDS INTERNATIONAL:

This is an exciting time to be a stockholder of Chiquita.  In addition to the improved results driven by implementation of 
our “return to the core” strategy, we recently announced a milestone transaction in which Chiquita Brands International 
and Fy�es plc have agreed to merge as ChiquitaFy�es plc.  We believe this transaction will create signi�cant value for our 
stockholders and o�er immediate bene�ts for customers and consumers worldwide.  The combination of Chiquita and 
Fy�es, if completed, unites two highly complementary businesses and a number of popular produce brands under one roof, 
including Chiquita, Fresh Express, Fy�es and Sol.

I am very proud of the work our global team has done to execute against our “return to the core” strategy since its 
announcement in mid-2012.  This has placed us in position to realize a transformational combination.  Chiquita is a di�erent 
company today than it was at the time of our report a year ago.  We have revitalized our core brands, exited distractions, kept 
our promise to deliver a more e�cient value chain and overhead cost structure, and improved our debt position.  Some of our 
many accomplishments in 2013 include:

Improved �nancial results
In 2013, our revenues were relatively constant to the 2012 level at approximately $3.1 billion.  However, we exited non-
core businesses that delivered nearly $60 million net sales in the 2012 base and improved the pro�le of our remaining core 
businesses.  As a result, comparable operating income1, which excludes the impact of certain non-recurring items, increased 
from $7 million to $53 million.  Adjusted EBITDA1 (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization) increased 
from $70 million to $118 million, a near 70% improvement.  

Increased pro�tability in our core businesses
Chiquita is focused upon delivering pro�table growth of its core banana and salad businesses.  This year in bananas, as a 
result of our actions and the consumer preference for the Chiquita brand, we increased volume and market share in North 
America and maintained our price premium across our markets in Europe.  Our pre-packaged salad business reported the 
�rst year of annual volume growth since 2008.  We have positive momentum from increasing volume sales of Fresh Express, 
our branded salad product, and from entry into the private label market, which has generated additional volume sales at 
attractive returns. 

Driven cost out of our value chain
In our August 2012 restructuring announcement, we committed to reducing expenses within our value chain by $35 million.  
In 2013, we were able to deliver this savings through improved e�ciency and �exibility in our shipping and logistics activities 
and agricultural practice improvements on our farms.  Productivity on the banana farms that Chiquita owns improved by 12% 
compared to prior year levels and reached a record level in terms of boxes produced per hectare.  In our salad business, we 
completed our Midwest plant consolidation, which incurred approximately $18 million in transition and start-up expenses in 
2013 that we do not expect to continue in 2014.

Aligned overhead to industry benchmarks
Another key component to our 2012 restructuring is the alignment of corporate expenses with our peers.  In 2013, Chiquita 
reduced its SG&A expenses as a percentage of sales by 130 basis points from approximately 8.9% to 7.6% continuing a trend 
to bring company costs into line with industry benchmarks.  

Letter from the CEO, Ed Lonergan

1See reconciliation of comprable operating income and Adjusted EBITDA to GAAP operating income on page iv
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Addressed non-core and unpro�table businesses
By the end of 2013, Chiquita had exited many non-core businesses that were performing poorly.  While these businesses had 
previously generated approximately $60 million in annual revenue, they had operating losses of approximately $11 million 
annually.

We are convinced, unconditionally, that our “return to the core” strategy, and ultimately our combination with Fy�es plc, 
continues to be the right path to bring Chiquita back to its luster.  I have met with employees across the globe and have spent 
time in all of our farming divisions and salads plants, our R&D centers, our ports, with our banana and salads growers, our 
suppliers and numerous key customers and stakeholders.  All are excited about the strategic path of our company.  It is clear 
we are making the right choices, we possess the skills and capabilities to execute against these choices, and we have the 
passion to deliver. 

STRATEGIC PLAN
We remain con�dent in our “return to the core” strategy and are focused on operating a branded commodity produce business 
with excellence.  We continue to believe that our decisions and execution against this strategy position the company to 
remain on glidepath over the next 2-3 years to achieve long-term margin targets of:
• 4% Operating Income margins in Bananas 
• 7-8% Operating Income margins in Salads

As an important part of our strategic plan, we plan to make investment choices that will di�erentiate us within our industry 
and deliver sustainable competitive advantages in what matters most to customers and consumers.  These choices will be 
across the areas of quality/food safety, service, innovation, and operating e�ciency.

We recognize that a quality and freshness advantage leads to faster selling products.  It is how Chiquita and Fresh Express 
have maintained market leading positions.  We focus on driving the quality of our products through all steps of the value 
chain and bringing to market products that our consumers value and trust.

As a market leader, we have a responsibility to be an innovator with the products that we o�er.  Chiquita utilizes an insight-
driven pipeline to attract new users, drive incremental category growth and improve operating e�ciencies.  In fact, in 2013 
Chiquita and Fresh Express introduced more new products and innovations than the prior three years combined.

While our consumers value our products, our customers value our service.  Chiquita strives to be the benchmark for 
consistent, reliable supply of value-added products.  We strive to be a complete category provider, and our industry leading 
category management expertise should drive above market top and bottom line growth for both our customers and our 
company.

Lastly, we will continue our relentless focus on overhead expenses and capital e�ciency.  One aspect of this involves 
establishing key customer joint business plans that will optimize our joint supply and value chains.  Substantially all 
productivity enhancements will continue to be focused on our core businesses – whether on our farms, in our ports and 
plants, or within our shipping and logistics operations.
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PROPOSED COMBINATION WITH FYFFES
This milestone transaction for Chiquita and Fy�es brings together two companies of long history and great reputations built 
upon an unwavering commitment to exceeding our customers’ expectations.  The new combined company should be able to 
capitalize on our complementary assets, portfolios, geographic coverage and outstanding people to grow the company at a 
pace neither entity could achieve separately.

There are many reasons why bringing our two companies together makes sense.

This transaction creates a leading global produce company.  In particular, ChiquitaFy�es plc will be the largest 
player in bananas globally, the number one fruit in household kitchens and retail stores.  The company will also have strong 
positions in packaged salads, healthy snacks, melons and pineapples, rounding out a portfolio that is important to consumer 
health and to our customers. 

Together, we will have a strong and stable �nancial pro�le, with the capacity to generate signi�cant free cash 
�ow. Our e�cient capital structure will provide �nancial �exibility to support our brands and grow our business.
  
This transaction also brings together our outstanding employee teams, who share similar cultures with a strong 
commitment to healthy foods, sustainability and operational excellence. The new entity will leverage the combined expertise 
of both management teams, who have proven track records and deep operational expertise. 

Together, we will leverage our expertise and resources to capitalize upon growing health and wellness trends globally 
and to better serve our customer partners and consumers.   

OUTLOOK FOR THE FUTURE
We have a lot of work to do, but 2014 should be an eventful year for Chiquita.  The elements required to deliver the 
successful turnaround of this business are in place.  We have products that our customers and consumers want to buy, and 
global health and wellness trends will further contribute to the desirability of our portfolio over time.  Importantly, the 
current management team is strong, is committed to our strategy and to successfully implementing it in the marketplace. 
We continue to have a clear picture of what we must do to execute our strategy, reduce our leverage, and remain on the 
appropriate glidepath to achieve our long term performance targets. 

The proposed transaction with Fy�es will be transformative and o�er exciting opportunities for the new business.  The 
synergies of bringing these two great companies together provide, in our judgement,  a value proposition neither company 
could achieve alone. We are especially pleased that stockholders of both companies will have the ability to participate in the 
upside potential inherent in this compelling combination.  

My fellow employees and members of the Board of Directors join me in thanking you for entrusting us with your business.

Sincerely,

Edward F. Lonergan
President and CEO
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RECONCILIATION OF NON-GAAP TO GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES:
The following information is provided to reconcile results reported under U.S. GAAP to certain non-GAAP �nancial measures 
disclosed in the preceding Letter from the President and CEO.  In an e�ort to provide investors with additional information 
regarding our �nancial results and to provide more meaningful year-over-year comparisons of our �nancial performance 
against internal budgets and targets, we sometimes use non-GAAP measurements as de�ned by the Securities and Exchange 
Commission.  Non-GAAP �nancial measures should be considered in addition to, and not instead of, U.S. GAAP.

        Operating Income (Loss)

(in millions) 2013 2012
Operating income (loss) (U.S. GAAP) $ 50 $ (254)
Goodwill and trademark impairments 1 - 182
Danone JV investment impairment 2 - 32
Headquarters relocation and restructuring 3 - 35
Exit activities 4 2 7
Shipping recon�guration 5 - 6
Recovery of previously reserved grower receivables 6 (1) (2)
Other 2 -
Comparable operating income (Non-GAAP) 53 7
Depreciation and amortization 65 63
Adjusted EBITDA (Non-GAAP) $ 118 $ 70
Columns may not total due to rounding.

1  In 2012, the company recorded non-cash impairment charges of $157 million to goodwill, $23 million to the Fresh Express trademark, and $2 million to goodwill 
related to a non-core business.
2  In 2012, the company recognized $32 million of losses to fully impair its equity-method investment and related assets and to record estimates of probable cash 
obligations related to its Danone joint venture.  The Danone joint venture was fully exited in the fourth quarter of 2013 without additional cost.
3  In 2012, the company relocated its corporate headquarters to Charlotte, North Carolina and announced a restructuring plan to transform into a branded commodity 
operator with the goal of increasing pro�tability in its core businesses.  The company recognized $20 million of relocation expenses and $16 million of restructuring 
expenses in 2012.  Both the relocation and related restructuring were substantially complete at December 31, 2012. 
4   In 2013, exit activities included $2 million of severance expenses and inventory write-o�s related to discontinued products in the Salads and Healthy Snacks 
segment.  In 2012, exit activities included $3 million of estimated lease expenses, net of future sublease income, and $5 million of asset write-o�s and severance 
related to discontinued products and activities.
5  During the third quarter of 2011, the company initiated a recon�guration of its European shipping system.  The company recognized $6 million in 2012 related to 
expected losses on subleased vessels removed from service in that year.  These losses did not recur in 2013.
6  In 2011, the company recognized a $32 million reserve for the expected remaining carrying value of advances make to a Chilean grower that were not fully repaid in 
prior growing seasons.  In 2013 and in 2012, the company recovered $1 million and $2 million, respectively, and continues to aggressively pursue additional recoveries.  
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
The directors of Chiquita accept responsibility for the information contained in this letter. To the best of the knowledge 
and belief of the directors of Chiquita (who have taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information 
contained in this letter for which they accept responsibility is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely 
to a�ect the import of such information.

No Pro�t Forecast / Asset Valuations
No statement in this letter is intended to constitute a pro�t forecast for any period, nor should any statements be interpreted 
to mean that earnings or earnings per share will necessarily be greater or lesser than those for the relevant preceding 
�nancial periods for Chiquita, or Fy�es or ChiquitaFy�es, as appropriate. No statement in this announcement constitutes an 
asset valuation.

Important Additional Information will be �led with the SEC
ChiquitaFy�es will �le (if it has not already done so) with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-4 that will include the 
preliminary/de�nitive Proxy Statement of Chiquita and Fy�es that also constitutes a Prospectus of ChiquitaFy�es. Chiquita 
plans to mail to its shareholders the Proxy Statement/Prospectus/Scheme Circular (including the Scheme) in connection with 
the business combination transaction described above.  INVESTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS ARE URGED TO READ THE PROXY 
STATEMENT/PROSPECTUS/SCHEME CIRCULAR (INCLUDING THE SCHEME) AND OTHER RELEVANT DOCUMENTS FILED OR TO BE 
FILED WITH THE SEC CAREFULLY WHEN THEY BECOME AVAILABLE BECAUSE THEY WILL CONTAIN IMPORTANT INFORMATION 
ABOUT CHIQUITA, FYFFES, CHIQUITAFYFFES, THE TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED MATTERS. Investors and security holders will 
be able to obtain free copies of the de�nitive Proxy Statement/Prospectus/Scheme Circular (including the Scheme) and other 
documents �led with the SEC by ChiquitaFy�es, Chiquita and Fy�es through the website maintained by the SEC at www.sec.
gov. In addition, investors and shareholders will be able to obtain free copies of the Proxy Statement/Prospectus/Scheme 
Circular (including the Scheme) and other documents �led by Chiquita and ChiquitaFy�es with the SEC by contacting Chiquita 
Investor Relations at: Chiquita Brands International, Inc., c/o Corporate Secretary, 550 South Caldwell Street, Charlotte, North 
Carolina 28202 or by calling +1 (980) 636 5000. 

Participants in the Solicitation
Chiquita, ChiquitaFy�es and their respective directors and executive o�cers may be considered participants in the solicitation 
of proxies in connection with the transaction. Information about the directors and executive o�cers of Chiquita is set forth 
in its annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, which was �led with the SEC on March 4, 2014, 
its proxy statement for its 2013 annual meeting of stockholders, which was �led with the SEC on April 12, 2013, its Current 
Report on Form 8-K which was �led with the SEC on July 18, 2013, and its proxy statement for its 2014 annual meeting of 
stockholders which was recently �led with the SEC. Other information regarding the participants in the proxy solicitations 
and a description of their direct and indirect interests, by security holdings or otherwise, will be contained in the de�nitive 
Proxy Statement/Prospectus/Scheme Circular described above and other relevant materials to be �led with the SEC when 
they become available.
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MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

The financial statements and related financial information presented in this Annual Report are the responsibility of 
Chiquita Brands International, Inc. management, who believe that they present fairly the company's consolidated financial 
position, results of operations, and cash flows in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States.

Our system of internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance that the company's 
financial records can be relied upon for preparation of its financial statements and that its assets are safeguarded against loss 
from unauthorized use or disposition. Management has also designed a system of disclosure controls and procedures as defined 
in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e) to ensure that material information relating to the company and its consolidated subsidiaries is 
made known to the company representatives who prepare and are responsible for the company's financial statements and 
periodic reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). The effectiveness of these disclosure controls and 
procedures is reviewed quarterly by management, including the company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer. Management modifies these disclosure controls and procedures as a result of the quarterly reviews, when appropriate, 
or as changes occur in business conditions, operations or reporting requirements. The company's global internal audit function, 
which reports to the Audit Committee, participates in the review of the adequacy and effectiveness of controls and compliance 
with the company's policies.

Chiquita has published its Core Values and Code of Conduct, which establish high standards for ethical business conduct. 
The company maintains a helpline, administered by an independent service supplier, that employees and other third parties can 
use confidentially and anonymously (where permitted by local law) to communicate suspected violations of the company's 
Core Values or Code of Conduct, including concerns regarding accounting, internal accounting control or auditing matters. All 
matters reported through the helpline are reported directly to the Chief Compliance Officer, who reports to the Audit 
Committee of the Board of Directors, and any significant concerns that relate to accounting, internal accounting control or 
auditing matters are communicated to the chairman of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors consists solely of directors who are considered independent under 
applicable New York Stock Exchange rules. The Board has determined that Howard W. Barker, Jr., a member of the Audit 
Committee, is an "audit committee financial expert" as defined by SEC rules. Two other members of the Audit Committee, 
Kerrii B. Anderson and Ronald V. Waters, III, also meet the requirements of an "audit committee financial expert," though they 
are not formally designated as such. The Audit Committee reviews the company's financial statements and periodic reports 
filed with the SEC, as well as the company's internal control over financial reporting and its accounting policies. In performing 
its reviews, the Audit Committee meets periodically with the independent auditors, management and the internal auditors, both 
together and separately, to discuss these matters.

The Audit Committee engaged PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, to audit 
the company's consolidated financial statements and its internal control over financial reporting and to express opinions 
thereon. The scope of the audits is set by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP following review and discussion with the Audit 
Committee. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has full and free access to all company records and personnel in conducting its 
audits. Representatives of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP meet regularly with the Audit Committee, with and without members 
of management present, to discuss their audit work and any other matters they believe should be brought to the attention of the 
Audit Committee. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP's opinions on the company's consolidated financial statements and the 
effectiveness of the company's internal control over financial reporting are on page 22.

Management's Assessment of the Company's Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The company's management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial 
reporting, as that term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). The company's management assessed the effectiveness of the 
company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013. In making this assessment, our management used 
the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission ("COSO") in Internal 
Control - Integrated Framework (1992). Based on this assessment, management believes that, as of December 31, 2013, the 
company's internal control over financial reporting was effective based on the criteria in Internal Control – Integrated 
Framework (1992), as set forth by the COSO. The effectiveness of the company's internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2013 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as 
stated in their report which appears herein.

RICK P. FRIER  JOSEPH B. JOHNSON EDWARD F. LONERGAN 
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer Chief Accounting Officer
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS

Overview

Chiquita Brands International, Inc. ("CBII") and its subsidiaries (collectively, "Chiquita," "the company," "we" or "us") 
operate as a leading international marketer and distributor of high-quality fresh and value-added produce which is sold under 
the premium Chiquita® and Fresh Express® brands and other trademarks, including private label brands. We are one of the 
largest banana distributors in the world and a major supplier of bananas in Europe and North America. In Europe, we are the 
brand leader and obtain a price premium for our Chiquita® bananas, and we hold the number one market share in U.S. 
supermarkets and the number two market position in North America overall for bananas. Our packaged salads are sold under 
the Fresh Express brand name, as well as private label offerings, primarily in the United States. Fresh Express is the branded 
retail value-added salad category leader in North America.

We are pleased with the progress that we have made during 2013, and our overall year-over-year results continue to 
improve. The restructuring initiatives implemented at the end of 2012 have meaningfully reduced our selling, general and 
administrative expenses. Our strategic decisions to focus on our core bananas and salads businesses and to enhance owned farm 
and logistics efficiencies have positively impacted our results from operations. Productivity on our owned banana farms 
improved substantially as a primary result of changes in agricultural practices. The additional volume from our owned farms 
resulted in lower sourcing costs during this period by reducing third-party banana purchases during 2013 as compared to 2012, 
especially for higher-priced spot purchases in the first half of the year. 

We secured 5 million boxes of incremental annualized banana volume in North America in late 2012 and an additional 2 
million annualized boxes in the first quarter of 2013. These wins drove volume gains in our North American business in 2013 
compared to 2012 and resulted in further logistics cost savings from scale efficiencies. In Europe, we prioritized profitability 
over volume during 2013 resulting in stable local pricing, but lower volume. Pricing in Europe is mainly based on weekly price 
quotes in local currency. Typically, European pricing is significantly stronger in the first half of the year when supply and 
demand are more balanced as compared to the second half of the year, when supply is typically greater than demand. Overall, 
both local currency and U.S. dollar pricing in our Core European banana markets were higher in 2013 compared to 2012. 
Pricing is also affected by average European exchange rates net of hedging, which were flat in 2013 compared to 2012 as a 
result of hedges we put in place during 2012, and 7% lower in 2012 compared to 2011, which adversely affected pricing by 
nearly $63 million. 

Retail value-added salad volumes were approximately 4% higher in 2013 compared to 2012 as a result of increased 
velocity with our current customers and the impact of new branded and private label contract wins. The fourth quarter of 2013 
marked the third consecutive quarter of year-over-year growth in our retail value-added salad volumes. In late February 2013, 
we commenced shipping private label salads under a signature contract win, and that private label and branded salad wins to 
date have delivered approximately 4 million annualized cases, beginning from the second quarter of 2013. We also realized 
improvements versus the same period of 2012 in healthy snacks pricing. Our Salads and Healthy Snacks segment were 
adversely affected by transition and startup costs at our new Midwest facility, which were approximately $18 million in 2013. 
This new, more automated salad production and warehousing facility in the Midwest fully replaced three existing production 
facilities in the region. Transition and installation of the manufacturing lines began in April 2013, and was substantially 
completed at the end of 2013. During this transition period, we balanced manufacturing line transitions and volume growth 
with the requirement to maintain quality, food safety and customer service. Adverse weather conditions across growing regions 
in specific periods during 2013 increased raw product costs compared to 2012.

Several other key items affected year-over-year comparisons:

Relocation and restructuring charges of $35 million and $6 million in 2012 and 2011, respectively. In 2012, we 
relocated our headquarters and consolidated management and administrative functions to improve efficiency and 
speed decision-making. We also changed our leadership and restructured our business to become a branded 
commodity operator focused on our core banana and salads businesses.

Goodwill and trademark impairment charges of $180 million in 2012 related to the Fresh Express salads business. 
Goodwill and trademarks are reviewed for impairment each fourth quarter, or more frequently if circumstances 
indicate the possibility of impairment.  These impairment charges were the result of lower operating performance of 
the retail value-added salad business, lower retail salad volumes, lower perceived valuation multiples in the packaged 
salad industry and continuing demand for private label versus branded products.

Impairment and other charges of $32 million in 2012 to fully impair our former equity-method investment and related 
assets and to record estimates of probable cash obligations to the Danone Chiquita SAS ("Danone JV"), which sold 
Chiquita-branded fruit smoothies in Europe.

Reserve for grower advances of $32 million in 2011 related to a grower of grapes and other produce in Chile. The 
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grower declared bankruptcy in 2011.

We exited our North American deciduous product lines after the end of the California grape season at the end of 2012. 
These product lines represented approximately $40 million of annualized net sales and an insignificant negative 
contribution to our operating income on an annual basis. At the end of the second quarter of 2013, we sold a European 
healthy snacking business, which represented approximately $12 million of net sales and an insignificant contribution 
to our operating income on an annual basis.

Income taxes included expense of $130 million in 2012 to establish valuation allowances against U.S. deferred tax 
assets and a benefit of $87 million in 2011 for the release of valuation allowances against U.S. deferred tax assets. 
Income taxes also included expense of $6 million in 2011 related to a settlement in Italy.

We operate in a highly competitive industry and are subject to significant risks beyond our immediate control. The major 
risks facing our business include: the customary risks experienced by global food companies, such as prices for commodity and 
other inputs, currency exchange rate fluctuations, industry and competitive conditions (all of which may be more unpredictable 
in light of continuing uncertainty in the global economic environment), government regulations, food safety issues and product 
recalls affecting us or the industry, labor relations, taxes, political instability and terrorism; challenges in implementing the 
relocation of our corporate headquarters and other North American corporate functions to Charlotte, North Carolina; challenges 
in implementing restructuring and leadership changes announced in August and October 2012 including our ability to achieve 
the cost savings and other benefits anticipated from the restructuring; unusual weather events, conditions or crop risks; 
continued ability to access the capital and credit markets on commercially reasonable terms and comply with the terms of our 
debt instruments; access to and cost of financing; and the outcome of pending litigation and governmental investigations 
involving us, as well as the legal fees and other costs incurred in connection with such items.We are a defendant in several 
pending legal proceedings that are described in Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, where unfavorable outcomes 
could be material to our results of operations or financial position. We believe that most of our products are well-positioned to 
continue to withstand the risks of the current global economic environment because they are healthy and convenient staple food 
items that provide value to consumers. See "Item 1A – Risk Factors" in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for a further 
description other risks.

Operations

The company reports the following three business segments:

• Bananas: Includes the sourcing (purchase and production), transportation, marketing and distribution of bananas.

• Salads and Healthy Snacks: Includes ready-to-eat, packaged salads, referred to in the industry as "value-added 
salads" and other value-added products, such as healthy snacking items, fresh vegetable and fruit ingredients used 
in food service; processed fruit ingredients; and the company's former equity-method investment in Danone 
Chiquita Fruits, which sold Chiquita-branded fruit smoothies in Europe (see Note 7).

• Other Produce: Includes the sourcing, marketing and distribution of whole fresh produce other than bananas. As 
part of the 2012 restructuring plan, the company exited its North American deciduous business at the end of the 
California grape season in December 2012. Beginning in 2013, the primary product of the Other Produce segment 
is pineapples.

Certain corporate expenses are not allocated to the reportable segments and are included in "Corporate costs," including 
costs related to the relocation of the company's headquarters and restructuring activities described in Note 3 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. Inter-segment transactions are eliminated. Additional segment information can be found in Note 18 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for information related to 
Discontinued Operations.
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Financial information for each segment follows:

 

(In millions) 2013 2012 2 2011 2 Better (Worse)

Net sales: 2013 vs. 2012 2012 vs. 2011

Bananas $ 1,970 $ 1,985 $ 2,023 (0.8)% (1.9)%
Salads and Healthy Snacks 967 953 953 1.5 % — %
Other Produce 121 140 163 (13.6)% (14.1)%

Total net sales $ 3,057 $ 3,078 $ 3,139 (0.7)% (1.9)%

Cost of sales:
Bananas $ 1,712 $ 1,748 $ 1,715 2.1 % (1.9)%
Salads and Healthy Snacks 864 833 814 (3.7)% (2.3)%
Other Produce 123 150 158 18.0 % 5.1 %
Corporate costs 10 11 11 9.1 % — %

Total cost of sales $ 2,708 $ 2,743 $ 2,698 1.3 % (1.7)%

Operating income:
Bananas $ 112 $ 77 $ 127 45.5 % (39.4)%
Salads and Healthy Snacks1 (8) (218) 7 96.3 % (3,214.3)%
Other Produce (2) (18) (37) 88.9 % 51.4 %
Corporate costs (52) (95) (64) 45.3 % (48.4)%

Total operating income $ 50 $ (254) $ 34 119.7 % (847.1)%
Tables may not total or recalculate due to rounding.

1 2012 results include impairment charges related to goodwill, trademarks and the Danone JV equity-method investment, which are 
further discussed below.

2 Cost of sales by segment in 2012 and 2011 have been revised. Cost of sales is unchanged on a consolidated basis. Operating income 
by segment has not changed for these periods.

2013 vs. 2012

Net Sales. Net sales decreased on a consolidated basis by 0.7%. Banana segment sales were 0.8% lower primarily as a 
result of lower volume in Core Europe (defined below), where we continued to prioritize profitability over volume, lower 
volume in the Middle East and lower pricing in North America. These declines were offset by significant new banana volumes 
in North America as a result of customer wins and stable local pricing in Europe during 2013.

Salads and Healthy Snacks segment sales were 1.5% higher primarily from increased volume of our retail value-added 
salads, as a result of new private label and branded contract volume and increased velocity with our current customers, as well 
as improved pricing in our healthy snacks products. These improvements were offset by a decrease in sales of our processed 
fruit ingredient products and the exit of a European healthy snacking business that represented approximately $12 million of 
net sales on an annual basis and had an insignificant effect on operating income.

Other Produce segment sales were lower as a result of discontinuing our North American deciduous product lines at the 
end of 2012 partially offset by increased volume and pricing of pineapples. Our North American deciduous product lines 
represented approximately $40 million of net sales on an annual basis.

Cost of Sales. Cost of sales decreased on a consolidated basis primarily related to the Bananas and Other Produce 
segments. Changes in our agriculture practices for bananas increased productivity and lowered our costs because we purchased 
less fruit from third parties in 2013 as compared to 2012. We also realized significant improvements in our banana sourcing and 
logistics costs from the deployment of value chain efficiency and productivity initiatives that commenced at the start of 2013. 
Banana logistics costs included the continued optimization of our ocean shipping network and scale efficiencies from additional 
volume distribution in North America. As a result of our 2011 shipping reconfiguration, five chartered cargo ships were 
subleased until the end of 2012, and an equivalent number of ship charters were not renewed in 2013. We accelerated $6 
million of losses on the three sublease arrangements in the first quarter of 2012, net of $2 million of related deferred sale-
leaseback gain amortization during the sublease period. 

In our Salads and Healthy Snacks segment, an increase in cost of sales was driven by increased volume and product mix 
of retail value-added salads, reduced yields and increased raw product costs from adverse weather across our growing regions 



and approximately $18 million of transition and startup costs at our new Midwest facility recorded in "Cost of sales" in the 
Consolidated Statements of Income. These increased costs were partially offset by lower costs in our processed fruit ingredient 
products and from exiting a European healthy snacking business at the end of the second quarter of 2013. Additionally, 
inventory write-downs of fruit ingredient products decreased from approximately $5 million in 2012 to approximately $1 
million in 2013.

Other Produce segment cost of sales were lower as a result of exiting our North American deciduous product lines at the 
end of 2012, which were partially offset by an increased volume of pineapples. 2012 also included $2 million of costs primarily 
related to inventory write-offs from the discontinuation of other non-strategic, low-margin products and $1 million costs related 
to a lease exit accrual.

Operating Income. As a result of the above, as well as the benefits to our selling, general and administrative expenses 
from our completed restructuring and relocation plans, operating income improved on a consolidated basis and in each of the 
operating segments. As more fully described below, the 2012 results of the Salads and Healthy Snacks segment also include a 
$180 million goodwill and trademark impairment related to the Fresh Express salads business and a $32 million loss to fully 
impair our equity-method investment and related assets and to record estimates of probable cash obligations to the Danone JV. 
The 2012 results of the Bananas segment include $9 million in allowance for doubtful accounts related to a Middle Eastern 
customer.

Corporate costs include relocation and restructuring costs that were insignificant in 2013 and $35 million in 2012 and are 
further described in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, as well as $1 million for other relocation and hiring 
expenses in 2013. Corporate expenses excluding those related to the restructuring and relocation, were $51 million and $59 
million for 2013 and 2012, respectively, which also reflect savings from these relocation and restructuring activities that were 
partially offset by higher incentive compensation accruals.

Additional detail of the variances are included in the segment discussion below.

2012 vs. 2011

Net Sales. Net sales decreased on a consolidated basis by 1.9%. Banana segment sales volume grew in North America and 
the Mediterranean and Middle East markets and fell in Core Europe (defined below) as we balanced our allocation of fruit with 
pricing and demand across the Mediterranean and European markets. Higher local currency pricing in Core Europe was more 
than offset by lower average European exchange rates. Exchange rates adversely affected pricing by nearly $63 million in 2012 
compared to 2011. Year-over-year North American pricing was lower in 2012 because 2011 included force majeure surcharges 
from late January to the end of the second quarter to recover significantly higher sourcing costs resulting from weather-related 
supply shortages that began in late 2010. 

Salads and Healthy Snacks segment declines in sales in our retail value-added sales during 2012 and 2011 were primarily 
due to lower volumes as a result of customer conversions from branded to private label that began in the fourth quarter of 2009 
and continued into early 2012. While traditionally we were a supplier of branded product offerings, we expanded our product 
offerings as part of our strategic transformation in 2012 without the need for significant capital expenditures to include private 
label packaged salads, organic packaged salads and whole-head lettuce products. The decline in retail value-added salad sales 
was offset by increased sales volumes in both our healthy snack and foodservice offerings.

Other Produce segment sales were lower due to a change in the second half of 2011 in standard contract language 
applicable to certain other produce sales in Europe, which resulted in recognizing the net amount retained in such sales (a 
commission earned as an agent) instead of recognizing gross sales and cost of sales, as when we acted as a principal in the 
transactions during the first half of 2011 and prior. In addition, as part of our restructuring plan, we exited our North American 
deciduous business after the end of the California grape season in December 2012. We had already exited avocados earlier in 
2012 and other types of low-margin produce in 2011 and earlier.

Cost of Sales. Cost of sales increased 1.7% on a consolidated basis primarily related to the Bananas and Salads and 
Healthy Snacks segments. Sourcing costs in our owned banana operations were higher in 2012 than 2011 due to a number of 
factors including labor cost increases, control of crop disease (primarily black sigatoka) and our rejuvenation programs. 
Sourcing costs in 2012 from purchased fruit were higher than 2011 primarily as a result of increased contractual purchase 
prices with our third party growers, which was partially offset by lower spot purchases in 2012. Late in 2011, we implemented 
a new European shipping configuration that partially offset increases in other logistics costs, including fuel. The new 
configuration involves shipping part of our core volume in container equipment on board third parties' container ships. The 
container capacity is more flexible than leasing entire ships and particularly benefits the second half of the year when volumes 
are typically lower. The effect of this shipping reconfiguration is further discussed below.

Chiquita Brands International, Inc.  –  2013 Annual Report  5
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In our Salads and Healthy Snacks segment, we initiated a cost savings program in 2011 to realign our overhead structure 
and innovation functions in our retail value-added salads business. In 2012, we were able to reduce commodity, manufacturing 
and quality costs through harvesting and manufacturing process improvements. These cost reductions realized in 2012 partially 
offset the effect of lower volumes of retail value-added salads and higher raw product input costs. Warmer weather conditions 
in the beginning of 2012 also improved raw product yields and quality. This compares to adverse weather conditions, industry 
input cost inflation and process customization associated with Fresh Rinse implementation and product quality-related costs 
that all negatively affected costs of sales in 2011.Fresh Rinse is our produce wash that significantly reduces microorganisms on 
particular leafy greens compared to a conventional chlorine sanitizer. We converted all of our facilities to support the use of this 
technology during the first half of 2011, although we continue to use a conventional chlorine sanitizer for some products. 
Additionally, in the fourth quarter of 2012 we recorded an inventory write-down of fruit ingredient products of approximately 
$5 million.

Operating Income. As a result of the above, operating income decreased in our Bananas and Salads and Healthy Snacks 
segments. Operating income of our Other Produce segment increased. However, excluding the $32 million grower advance 
reserve recorded in 2011, our Other Produce segment 2012 operating loss increased by $12 million, which was primarily due to 
lower average European exchange rates and higher fruit and logistics costs. For further information on the grower advance, see 
Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Decreases in operating income were partially offset in the Bananas segment 
due to lower selling, general and administrative expenses as a result of cost reduction initiatives implemented throughout the 
year, including $17 million of reduced marketing investment and the restructuring that was announced in August 2012. As more 
fully described below, the 2012 results of the Salads and Healthy Snacks segment also include a $180 million goodwill and 
trademark impairment related to the Fresh Express salads business and a $32 million loss to fully impair our equity-method 
investment and related assets and to record estimates of probable cash obligations to the Danone JV.

Corporate costs include relocation and restructuring costs that were $35 million and $6 million in 2012 and 2011, 
respectively, and are further described in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Corporate expenses excluding those 
related to the restructuring and relocation were $59 million and $58 million in 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Additional detail of the variances are included in the segment discussion below. Analysis of 2012 vs. 2011 results has 
been conformed to be on the same basis as the analysis of the 2013 vs. 2012 results.

BANANA SEGMENT - NET SALES, COST OF SALES AND OPERATING INCOME ANALYSIS

(In millions) 2013 vs. 2012 2012 vs. 2011

Banana net sales - comparison year 1,985 2,023
Global pricing including geographical mix (64) 4
Volume 51 21
Average European exchange rates including the effect of hedging (2) (63)
Banana net sales $ 1,970 $ 1,985
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(In millions) 2013 vs. 2012 2012 vs. 2011

Banana cost of sales - comparison year $ 1,748 $ 1,715
Volume 66 $ 20
Sourcing and logistics costs1 (95) 22
Average European exchange rates 2 (18)
Acceleration of losses on ship sublease arrangements in 20122 (6) 2
Tariffs (5) (4)
Gains on asset sales in 2011 — 5
Other 2 6
Banana cost of sales $ 1,712 $ 1,748

1 Sourcing costs include costs of producing fruit in our owned operations and purchasing fruit from our third party growers. 
Logistics costs are significantly affected by fuel prices, including the effect of fuel hedges that were a benefit of $6 million, $15 
million and $47 million in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Logistics costs are also significantly affected by shifts in volume 
from one destination market to another and shifts in transportation modalities (reefer vessel, 3rd party container lines, container 
vessel, etc.).

2 Late in 2011, we implemented a new European shipping configuration that resulted in significant reductions in logistics costs in 
2012 that continue throughout 2013. These changes reduced our total expected bunker fuel purchases and the number of ports 
where bunker fuel is purchased, and accounting standards required us to recognize $12 million of unrealized fuel hedging gains 
in 2011 for hedge positions originally intended to hedge fuel purchases in future periods. Additionally, bunker fuel forward 
contracts that were in excess of our expected core fuel demand were sold and gains of $2 million were realized in 2011. See Note 
11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further description of our hedging program. Also as a result of the shipping 
reconfiguration, five chartered cargo ships were subleased to third parties until the end of 2012, and eight ship charters were not 
renewed for 2013. In 2012, we accelerated $6 million of losses on the three sublease arrangements that began in the first quarter 
of 2012, net of $2 million of related deferred sale-leaseback gain amortization during the sublease period. We accelerated $4 
million of losses in 2011 on the other two sublease arrangements that began in the fourth quarter of 2011.

(In millions) 2013 vs. 2012 2012 vs. 2011

Banana operating income - comparison year $ 77 $ 127
Change in Banana segment net sales from above (15) (38)
Change in Banana segment cost of sales from above 36 (33)
Selling, general and administrative 6 33
Allowance for doubtful accounts for customers in Iran 7 (9)
Other 1 (3)
Banana operating income $ 112 $ 77

BANANA SEGMENT METRICS

Our banana sales volumes1 in 40-pound box equivalents were as follows:

(In millions, except percentages) 2013 2012 % Change

North America 72.7 65.8 10.4 %
Europe and the Middle East

Core Europe2 33.2 38.1 (12.8)%
Mediterranean3 14.5 11.2 29.8 %
Middle East 4.5 6.7 (33.0)%

Europe and the Middle East 52.2 56.0 (6.7)%
Total Volume 124.9 121.8 2.5 %
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Year-over-year favorable (unfavorable) percentage changes in our banana prices and banana volume for 2013 compared 
to 2012 were as follows:

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Year

Banana Prices
North America4 (3.3)% (2.9)% (1.0)% (1.5)% (2.3)%

Core Europe:
Local currency 5.0 % 1.9 % 13.1 % 4.5 % 5.6 %
Currency exchange impact 0.9 % 1.2 % 6.3 % 5.3 % 3.0 %

Core Europe U.S. Dollar Basis5 5.9 % 3.1 % 19.4 % 9.8 % 8.6 %
Mediterranean3 2.4 % (7.0)% 13.3 % (29.7)% (9.1)%
Middle East (5.5)% (5.2)% 2.2 % 4.8 % (0.8)%

Europe and the Middle East 3.9 % 1.3 % 16.9 % (7.7)% 2.6 %
Banana Volume

North America 10.8 % 11.1 % 11.1 % 8.7 % 10.4 %
Europe and the Middle East:

Core Europe2 (13.3)% (8.6)% (15.3)% (14.7)% (12.8)%
Mediterranean3 11.5 % 9.2 % (3.9)% 96.6 % 29.8 %
Middle East (31.0)% (47.3)% (35.1)% (20.3)% (33.0)%

Europe and the Middle East 10.9 % 9.5 % (15.6)% 9.1 % (6.7)%

1 Volume sold includes all banana varieties, such as Chiquita to Go, Chiquita minis, organic bananas and plantains.
2 Core Europe includes the 28 member states of the European Union, Switzerland, Norway and Iceland. Banana sales in Core Europe are primarily in 

euros, as well as other European currencies.
3 Mediterranean markets are mainly European and other Mediterranean countries that do not belong to the European Union.
4 North America pricing includes surcharges to recover fuel-related and other costs. In 2014, our surcharge was expanded to also recover increases in 

paper costs.
5 Prices on a U.S. dollar basis exclude the effect of hedging.

European Exchange Rates. We use hedging instruments (derivatives) to reduce the negative cash flow and earnings effect 
that any significant decline in the value of the euro would have on the conversion of euro-based revenue into U.S. dollars for up 
to 18 months in the future. To minimize the volatility that changes in fuel prices could have on the operating results of our core 
shipping operations, we also use hedging instruments to lock in prices of future bunker fuel purchases for up to three years in 
the future. Further discussion of hedging risks and instruments can be found under the caption Market Risk Management - 
Financial Instruments below, and Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The average spot and hedged euro 
exchange rates were as follows: 

 Year Ended Dec. 31,  

(Dollars per euro) 2013 2012 % Change

Euro average exchange rate, spot $ 1.33 $ 1.28 3.9 %
Euro average exchange rate, hedged 1.27 1.29 (1.2)%

Year over year increases (decreases) in our results related to the effect of European currency was as follows:

(In millions) 2013 vs. 2012 2012 vs. 2011

Net sales
Change in euro exchange rate $ 23 $ (63)
Change in realized hedging loss1 (26) —

Effect on net sales (2) (63)
Local costs increase (decrease) (5) 14
Change in balance sheet translation gain2 3 4
Net effect on operating income (loss) $ (4) $ (45)

Table may not total or recalculate due to rounding.
1 Hedging loss was $25 million in 2013 versus less than $1 million gain in 2012 and 2011.
2 Balance sheet translation was a net loss of $2 million, $5 million and $9 million in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. 



BANANA SEGMENT - OTHER INFORMATION

Concentration of Risk. Our primary markets are in North America and Europe, but we also have sales in the Middle East 
and other markets. The majority of our sales in the Middle East are in Iran under license from the U.S. government that allows 
sale of food products to non-sanctioned parties. These sales to Iranian customers are in U.S. dollars and represent $17 million 
and $20 million of "Trade receivables, less allowances" on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2013 and 2012. 
Even though the sales in Iran are permitted, the international sanctions against Iran affected the ability of Iranian customers to 
pay invoices within terms because it became difficult for them to obtain U.S. dollars, euros or other suitable currencies in 
sufficient quantity on a regular basis.  Over the course of 2012, our receivable balance with these customers increased making 
repayment more difficult, and we have established payment plans with each of these customers to reduce their balances. Certain 
customers have so far been able to find acceptable methods of payment to comply with their payment plans. However, some 
customers have not, and as a result we recorded a reserve of $9 million in 2012, with an additional $2 million in 2013 as a 
result of further delinquency and other repayment risk. We source bananas from the Philippines for sale in the Middle East 
under a committed-volume, long-term purchase contract with a former joint venture partner through 2016. To mitigate risk, we 
have reduced the amount of volume being sent to the Middle East and have developed customers in other Middle eastern 
markets, such as Iraq and Saudi Arabia. However, Iran remains an important market for the company's Philippine-sourced 
bananas. 

Import Regulations. Bananas imported into the European Union ("EU") from Latin America, our primary source of fruit, 
are subject to a tariff, while bananas imported from African, Caribbean and Pacific sources continue to enter the EU tariff-free. 
In 2009, the EU and 11 Latin American countries reached the World Trade Organization ("WTO") Geneva Agreement on Trade 
in Bananas ("GATB"), under which the EU agreed to reduce tariffs on Latin American bananas annually, from €176 per metric 
ton ending with a rate of €114 per metric ton by 2019. The GATB resulted in tariff rates per metric ton of €143 in 2011, €136 in 
2012 and €132 in both 2013 and 2014, respectively. The EU also signed a WTO agreement with the United States, under which 
it agreed not to reinstate WTO-illegal tariff quotas or licenses on banana imports. 

In another regulatory development, in June 2012, the EU signed free trade area ("FTA") agreements with (i) Colombia 
and Peru and (ii) the Central American countries. Under both FTA agreements, the EU committed to reduce its banana tariff to 
€75 per metric ton over ten years for specified volumes of banana exports from each of the countries covered by these FTAs, 
and further required that the banana volumes assigned to each country under the Central American FTA be administered 
through export licenses. Implementation of an export license system in the 1990's (subsequently ruled illegal) significantly 
increased our logistics and other export costs. The EU implemented its FTA with Peru on March 1, 2013; its FTAs with 
Panama, Honduras, Nicaragua, and Colombia on August 1, 2013; its FTAs with Costa Rica and El Salvador on October 1, 
2013; and its FTA with Guatemala on December 1, 2013. Because questions remain over how the banana volume and export 
licensing rules will be applied over time, it is still unclear what, if any, effect the new FTAs will have on our operations.

SALADS AND HEALTHY SNACKS SEGMENT  - NET SALES, COST OF SALES AND OPERATING INCOME 
ANALYSIS

(In millions) 2013 vs. 2012 2012 vs. 2011

Salads and Healthy Snacks net sales - comparison year $ 953 $ 953
Pricing including mix:

Retail value-added salads 4 (13)
Healthy snacks, foodservice and other 8 (15)

Volume:
Retail value-added salads 23 (32)
Healthy snacks, foodservice and other (1) 48

Processed fruit ingredient products, primarily volume (15) —
Returns and other sales reductions due to quality-related and
manufacturing disruption matters — 3
Other (5) 9
Salads and Healthy Snacks net sales $ 967 $ 953
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(In millions) 2013 vs. 2012 2012 vs. 2011

Salads and Healthy Snacks cost of sales - comparison year $ 833 $ 814
Volume:

Retail value-added salads 18 (21)
Healthy snacks, foodservice and other — 37

Mix:
Retail value-added salads 12 —
Healthy snacks, foodservice and other 1 5

Industry input and manufacturing costs:
Retail value-added salads 2 8
Healthy snacks, foodservice and other — (12)

Processed fruit ingredient products, primarily volume (18) —
Transition costs for new Midwest production facility 18 —
Exit of European healthy snacking business (4) —
Quality-related and manufacturing disruption costs — (5)
Fresh Rinse technology customization costs — (3)
Other1 2 10
Salads and Healthy Snacks cost of sales $ 864 $ 833

1 Other includes $1 million in the first quarter of 2012 primarily related to inventory write-offs to exit healthy snacking products that were not 
sufficiently profitable. Includes $1 million in "Cost of sales" in the second quarter of 2012, primarily related to the closure of a research and 
development facility.

(In millions) 2013 vs. 2012 2012 vs. 2011

Salads and Healthy Snacks operating income - comparison year $ (218) $ 7
Change in Salads and Healthy Snacks segment net sales from above 14 —
Change in Salads and Healthy Snacks segment cost of sales from above (31) (19)
Selling, general and administrative 13 3
Equity in (earnings) losses of investees, including impairment of Danone
JV

34 (27)
Goodwill and trademark impairment 180 (180)
Other2 — (2)
Salads and Healthy Snacks operating income $ (8) $ (218)

2 Other includes $2 million of goodwill impairment in the third quarter 2012 and $1 million to restructure our European healthy snacking sales 
force in the first quarter of 2012.

SALADS AND HEALTHY SNACKS SEGMENT METRICS

Volume and average price per case for our retail value-added salads was as follows:

(In millions, except percentages) 2013 2012 % Change

Volume (12-count cases) 48.6 46.7 4.1%
Average price per case including mix3 0.7%

3 Average price per case includes fuel-related and other surcharges. Fuel surcharges generally reset quarterly based on the previous quarter's 
average fuel index prices. 

SALADS AND HEALTHY SNACKS - OTHER INFORMATION

Goodwill and Trademarks. Operating income in 2012 includes a $157 million impairment charge to goodwill and a $23 
million impairment charge to the Fresh Express trademark. Goodwill and trademarks are reviewed for impairment each fourth 
quarter, or more frequently if circumstances indicate the possibility of impairment. These impairment charges are the result of 
lower operating performance of retail value-added salad business, lower retail salad volumes, lower perceived valuation 
multiples in the packaged salad industry and continuing demand for private label versus branded products. See Notes 1 and 8 to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information about goodwill and trademark impairments. 

Danone Joint Venture. In 2012, the board of directors of our equity-method investment, Danone Chiquita Fruits SAS 
("Danone JV"), approved a change in strategy and the related discontinuation of a key product. As a result, we determined that 
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the decline in estimated fair value of our equity-method investment in the Danone JV was other than temporary, and we 
recorded a $32 million loss in 2012 to fully impair our investment and related assets and to record estimates of probable cash 
obligations to the Danone JV, which is included in "Equity in (earnings) losses of investees" in the Consolidated Statements of 
Income. We had fully accrued our obligations to fund the Danone JV at December 31, 2012. The Danone JV sold its smoothie 
operations in March 2013 and the Chiquita brand is now licensed to a third-party manufacturer of smoothies in Europe. In 
connection with our final contribution to the Danone JV in October 2013, we exited the investment by selling all of our shares 
in the Danone JV to our joint venture partner, Danone. See further discussion of the Danone JV in Note 7 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

Build-To-Suit Lease for Midwest Salad Plant Consolidation. In June 2012, we entered into a 20-year lease agreement for 
a salad production and warehousing facility in the Midwest that replaced three existing facilities in the region. Though the 
construction costs were financed by the lessor, because of the specialized nature of the facility we acted as the construction 
agent and were responsible for all construction activity during the construction period. This resulted in us owning the facility 
for accounting purposes. Construction was substantially completed at December 31, 2013. Further discussion can be found 
under the caption Liquidity and Capital Resources below, and Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Sale of European Healthy Snacking Business. At the end of the second quarter 2013, we sold one of the European healthy 
snacking businesses. The business was sold for €3 million ($4 million) resulting in a gain of $1 million recognized in "Other 
income (expense), net" in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income, which was not allocated to the segment. This 
business represented approximately $12 million in annual net sales and had an insignificant effect on operating income. 
Additionally, $2 million of goodwill impairment related to this business was recognized in the third quarter of 2012.

INTEREST AND OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)

Interest expense was $61 million, $45 million and $52 million in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Changes in interest 
expense resulted primarily from debt reduction and refinancing activities occurring in February 2013 and during the second 
half of 2011. These same debt reduction and refinancing activities also resulted in "Loss on debt extinguishment" recorded in 
2013 and 2011. The latest refinancing in 2013 significantly extends our debt maturities and reduces the cash required for debt 
service over the next several years, while still providing the ability to reduce debt with excess cash flow during this period. See 
further information regarding the terms, description of the security and restrictions in Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 

Other income in 2013 primarily relates to a net gain on the sale of a European healthy snacking business, as described 
above. Other expense in 2012 primarily related to contingencies in Europe.

INCOME TAXES

Income taxes were a net benefit (expense) of $(5) million, $(105) million and $82 million in 2013, 2012 and 2011, 
respectively. The income tax expense for 2012 includes a $130 million charge to income tax expense to establish a valuation 
allowance against all of our U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets, which are primarily net operating losses. The net income 
tax benefit for 2011 includes a $87 million U.S. valuation allowance release, partially offset by a $6 million charge for a tax 
settlement in Italy as described in Notes 15 and 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

The future realization of deferred tax assets depends on the existence of sufficient taxable income in future periods. When 
considering the sufficiency of future taxable income, sources include historical taxable income, the expected timing of the 
reversal of existing temporary differences, the implementation of tax planning strategies and projected future taxable income. 
In assessing the need for a valuation allowance, both positive and negative evidence are considered in determining whether it is 
more-likely-than-not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Our three-year cumulative loss position in our North 
American businesses is considered to be significant negative evidence. The three-year cumulative loss primarily resulted from 
the restructuring and relocation activities described in Note 3, the trademark impairment described in Note 8 and the reserve for 
grower receivables described in Note 4. Our primary positive evidence that U.S. deferred tax assets will be realized related to 
forecasts of future taxable income, which shows the utilization of the net operating losses within the statutory tax carryforward 
periods; however, accounting guidance restricts the amount of reliance that can be placed on future taxable income because it is 
not objectively verifiable. As a result, we recorded a $130 million valuation allowance in the fourth quarter of 2012. Recording 
a valuation allowance does not restrict our ability to utilize the future deductions and net operating losses associated with the 
deferred tax assets assuming taxable income is recognized in future periods, and does not affect our liquidity, borrowing ratios 
or the availability of other capital resources. Additionally, a sustained period of profitability in our North American businesses 
will be required before we would change our judgment regarding the need to reverse the full amount of the valuation 
allowance. Until such time, income or loss in the U.S. will not result in income tax expense or benefit because a corresponding 
valuation allowance will be released or established for the same value. 

In 2011, as a result of sustained improvements in the performance of our North American businesses and the benefits of 
debt reduction over several years, we generated annual U.S. taxable income beginning with tax year 2009 through 2011, and 
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expected this trend to continue, even if seasonal losses may have been incurred in interim periods. In 2011, our forecast 
included increased visibility to North American banana pricing and stabilized sourcing costs.  As a result of considerations of 
the positive evidence, which outweighed the negative evidence at the time, we recognized an $87 million income tax benefit in 
2011 for the reversal of valuation allowances against 100% of the U.S. federal deferred tax assets and a portion of the state 
deferred tax assets, primarily U.S. net operating loss carryforwards, which were considered to be more likely than not to be 
realized in the future. The income tax benefit in 2011 also did not affect the amount of cash paid for taxes and did not affect our 
liquidity, borrowing ratios or the availability of other capital resources.

Our overall effective tax rate may also vary significantly from period to period due to the level and mix of income among 
domestic and foreign jurisdictions and the creation or release of valuation allowances. Many of these foreign jurisdictions have 
tax rates that are lower than the U.S. statutory rate, and we continue to maintain full valuation allowances on deferred tax assets 
in some of these foreign jurisdictions. See Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information about our 
income taxes and valuation allowances.

OTHER SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS AND EVENTS

Sale of Atlanta AG – Discontinued Operations. In 2008, we sold our subsidiary, Atlanta AG ("Atlanta"). In 2012, we 
recorded $2 million of expense based on new information about our indemnity obligations under the sale agreement, which is 
included in "Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes" in the Consolidated Statements of Income. In the first 
quarter of 2013, we settled remaining contingent consideration related to the sale in connection with extending the ripening and 
services agreement with the buyer.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We believe that our cash position, cash flow generated by operating subsidiaries and borrowing capacity under our ABL 
Facility (defined below) will provide sufficient cash reserves and liquidity to fund our working capital needs, capital 
expenditures and debt service requirements for at least twelve months. Cash and equivalents were $54 million and $51 million 
at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, and are composed of either bank deposits or amounts invested in money market 
funds. At December 31, 2013, we had no borrowings under the ABL Revolver (described below), under which $86 million was 
available after $23 million was used to support letters of credit. A subsidiary has a committed credit line of approximately €6 
million ($7 million) for bank guarantees used primarily for payments due under import licenses and duties in European 
countries as of the date of this filing. We have €6 million ($8 million) of cash equivalents in compensating balance 
arrangements related to this committed credit line.

Total debt consisted of the following:

December 31,
(In thousands) 2013 2012

7.875% Senior Secured Notes due 20211 $ 422,174 $ —
7½% Senior Notes due 2014 — 106,438
4.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 20162 164,050 153,082
ABL Term Loan 6,375 —
ABL Revolver3 — —
Credit Facility Revolver4 — 40,000
Credit Facility Term Loan — 305,250
Capital lease obligations 39,025 755

Total debt $ 631,624 $ 605,525
1 In January 2014 we redeemed $10 million of the 7.875% Notes at 103% of the principal amount, plus interest to the redemption 

date. 
2 Amount included in the table represents the carrying amount of the Convertible Notes debt component. The principal amount of the 

Convertible Notes is $200 million. See Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.
3 In January 2014, we borrowed $20 million under the ABL Revolver to fund seasonal working capital needs.
4 During 2012 we borrowed $70 million under our senior secured revolving facility ("Credit Facility Revolver") for seasonal working 

capital needs and repaid $30 million. 
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In 2011 through 2013, we engaged in a series of refinancing activities that provided financing flexibility. The 2013 
refinancing significantly extended our debt maturities and reduced the cash required for debt service over the next several 
years, while still providing the ability to reduce debt with excess cash flow during this period. Our financing activity is more 
fully described in Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

• In February 2013, we issued $425 million of 7.875% senior secured notes due February 1, 2021 ("7.875% Notes") at 
99.274% of par and entered into a 5-year secured asset-based lending facility ("ABL Facility"). The $457 million of 
net proceeds from issuance of the 7.875% Notes and the initial borrowings of the ABL Facility were used to retire the 
outstanding Credit Facility and the 7½% Senior Notes at par plus accrued interest. The ABL Facility consists of a 
revolver (the "ABL Revolver") and a $7.5 million term loan (the "ABL Term Loan") and matures at the earlier of 
February 5, 2018 or 60 days prior to the maturity of our existing 4.25% Convertible Senior Notes due August 15, 
2016, unless such notes have been satisfactorily refinanced. The ABL Facility has a maximum borrowing capacity of 
$150 million, with the ABL Revolver availability based on specified percentages of our domestic accounts receivable, 
certain inventory and certain domestic machinery and equipment. The ABL Term Loan requires annual repayments of 
approximately $2 million. See further information regarding the terms, description of the security, redemption features 
and restrictions in Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

• In June 2012, we entered into a 20-year lease agreement for a salad production and warehousing facility in the 
Midwest that replaced three existing facilities in the region. The lease agreement contains two 5-year extension 
periods. Though the construction costs were financed by the lessor, because of the specialized nature of the facility we 
acted as the construction agent and were responsible for all construction activity during the construction period. This 
resulted in us owning the facility for accounting purposes. Construction was substantially completed at December 31, 
2013, however the initial interest rate will not be set until finalization of all construction costs, after which the 
payments will increase annually based on CPI. As of December 31, 2013, an interest rate of 9.00% was used to 
estimate the capital lease liability and future minimum payments. 

• In June 2012 we entered into a Second Amendment to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated July 26, 
2011 (as amended, the "Credit Facility"). The amended Credit Facility included a $330 million senior secured term 
loan ("Credit Facility Term Loan") and a $150 million senior secured revolving facility ("Credit Facility Revolver"), 
both maturing July 26, 2016 (May 1, 2014, if we did not repay, refinance, or otherwise extend the maturity of the 7½% 
Senior Notes by such date). In connection with the amendment, we incurred $2 million of fees that were recognized 
over the remaining term of the Credit Facility. 

• In December 2011 we redeemed $50 million of our 7½% Senior Notes due 2014 at 101.250% of their par value, plus 
interest to the redemption date.

• In July 2011 we amended and restated our Credit Facility. We used the proceeds to retire both a preceding senior 
secured credit facility and to purchase $133 million of our 87/8% Senior Notes due 2015 in a July 2011 tender offer at 
103.333% of their par value plus interest to the redemption date. We used the remainder of the proceeds together with 
available cash to redeem the remaining $44 million of the 87/8% Senior Notes in August 2011 at 102.958% of their par 
value plus interest to the redemption date. In total, these refinancing efforts resulted in an aggregate $12 million of 
"Loss on debt extinguishment" in 2011 for tender premiums, call premiums and deferred financing fee write-offs, as 
well as approximately $5 million of cash expenditures for deferred financing fees for the Credit Facility. 

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations for future cash payments at December 31, 2013:

(In thousands) Total 2014 2015 -2016 2017 -2018
Later
years

Long-term debt1 $ 631,375 $ 1,500 $ 203,000 $ 1,875 $ 425,000
Capital and build-to-suit leases 39,025 771 1,801 1,797 34,656
Operating leases2 339,454 107,440 138,029 57,113 36,872
Purchase commitments3 2,822,764 974,494 1,004,367 484,391 359,512
Interest on debt and capital leases4 314,513 47,266 91,515 75,465 100,267
Pension and severance obligations5 97,599 10,764 20,303 19,690 46,842
Other 37,552 19,198 12,570 5,784 —

$4,282,282 $1,161,433 $1,471,585 $ 646,115 $1,003,149
1 The table summarizes contractual obligations for future cash payments at December 31, 2013 and includes only scheduled principal 

maturities and the full $200 million principal of and the $425 million principal of the Convertible Senior Notes and 7.875% Notes, 
respectively. 
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2 Certain operating leases of containers contain residual value guarantees under which we guarantee a certain minimum value at the 
end of the lease in the event we do not exercise our purchase option or the lessor cannot recover the guaranteed amount. The table 
does not include these amounts because the fair value of the containers at the end of the lease terms is expected to exceed the 
residual value that was guaranteed under the lease; therefore, we do not expect to make payments under the residual value 
guarantees. We estimate that the residual value guarantees are approximately $18 million at December 31, 2013.

3 Purchase commitments consist primarily of long-term contracts to purchase bananas, lettuce and other produce from third-party 
producers. The terms of these contracts set the price for the purchased fruit for one to ten years; however, many of these contracts 
are subject to price renegotiations every one to two years. Therefore, we are only committed to purchase the produce at the contract 
price until the renegotiation date. Purchase commitments included in the table are based on the current contract price and the 
estimated volume we are committed to purchase until the next renegotiation date. These purchase commitments represent normal 
and customary operating commitments in the industry.

4 Interest on debt represents expected cash payments for interest at December 31, 2013 based on amounts that would be outstanding 
if only scheduled principal repayments are included prior to the maturity of each debt instrument. Amounts in the table reflect 
interest rates of LIBOR plus 2.75% for the ABL Term Loan, and 9.00% for the built-to-suit capital lease liability, in all future 
periods. 

5 Obligations in foreign currencies are calculated using the December 31, 2013 exchange rates.

Cash provided by operations was $91 million, $33 million, and $39 million for 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. 
Operating cash flows improved in 2013 from 2012 primarily as a result of cost savings from our restructuring activities, a 
decrease in relocation and restructuring expenses, and collection of trade and other receivables. In January 2012, as a result of a 
favorable decision from a court in Salerno, Italy, we received €20 million ($28 million) related to a refund claim we had made 
with respect to certain consumption taxes paid between 1980 and 1990, and the cash received has been deferred to "Other 
liabilities" pending final result of the appeal process. See Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further 
information. This cash receipt was offset by increases in accounts receivable primarily resulting from longer collection periods 
in the Middle East and Europe and other changes in working capital, resulting in slightly improved cash flows in 2012 from 
2011.                               

Cash flow used in investing activities includes capital expenditures of $49 million, $53 million and $76 million for 2013, 
2012 and 2011, respectively. We made contributions of €14 million ($18 million) in 2013 that discharged our remaining 
financial obligations to the Danone JV. We had fully accrued our funding obligations to the Danone JV in the second half of 
2012. Capital expenditures in 2011 were higher primarily due to the 2011 installation and upgrade of equipment to produce 
value-added salads. Cash inflows provided by investing activities consists primarily of proceeds received from the sale of non-
core assets. 

Depending on fuel prices, we can have significant obligations or amounts receivable under our bunker fuel forward 
arrangements, although we would expect any liability or asset from these arrangements to be offset by the purchase price of 
fuel. At December 31, 2013 and 2012, our bunker fuel forward contracts were an asset of $1 million and $9 million, 
respectively. Depending on euro pricing, we can have significant obligations or amounts receivable under our euro-based 
currency hedging contracts, although we would expect any liability or asset from these contracts to be more than offset by an 
increase in the dollar realization of the underlying sales denominated in foreign currencies. At December 31, 2013 and 2012, 
our euro-based currency hedging contracts were a liability of $5 million and $23 million, respectively. The amount ultimately 
due or receivable will depend upon fuel prices for our bunker fuel forward arrangements or the exchange rate for our euro-
based hedging contracts at the dates of settlement. See Market Risk Management – Financial Instruments below and Notes 1, 
11 and 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information about our hedging activities. We expect operating 
cash flows will be sufficient to cover our hedging obligations, if any.

We face certain contingent liabilities which are described in Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements; in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, reserves have not been established for most of the ongoing matters, 
even when we have been required to deposit payments to preserve our right to appeal some of the Italian customs and tax cases. 
In connection with these contingent liabilities, we have been required to deposit payments in installments totaling €40 million 
($55 million) through 2018 to preserve our right to appeal the customs and tax assessments. Of these assessments, we have 
deposited €22 million ($31 million) through December 31, 2013, which is included in "Investments and other assets, net" on 
the Consolidated Balance Sheet pending resolution of the appeals process. Based on rulings described in Note 19 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements, approximately €2 million ($2 million) deposited for customs and tax assessments in Genoa 
will be refunded or applied to deposit requirements in other jurisdictions.  Once the Genoa rulings are processed, remaining 
required installments on other open matters are expected to be approximately €5 million ($6 million) 2014 through 2016, €4 
million ($5 million) in 2017 and less than €1 million ($1 million) in 2018; however, if we ultimately prevail in these cases, any 
deposits we have made are also expected to be refunded with interest. Because court rulings have varied, we have not been 
assessed in similar matters in other jurisdictions, but may be required to make additional payments based on future appeals or 
court rulings. We presently expect that we would use existing cash and borrowing resources together with operating cash flow 
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to satisfy any such liabilities. It is possible that in future periods we could have to pay damages or other amounts in excess of 
the installment plans, the exact amount of which would be at the discretion of the applicable court or regulatory body.

Also as described in Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, in connection with a court judgment against one 
of our insurance carriers, National Union, we have received $12 million through December 31, 2013 from National Union for 
defense costs in certain matters. In March 2013, the Ohio Court of Appeals ruled that National Union is not obligated to 
provide coverage for these defense costs and remanded the case to the trial court to determine whether National Union is 
entitled to repayment of the defense costs that it has already paid. The case is pending on remand. We have deferred these cash 
receipts in "Accrued liabilities" pending resolution of the appeals process. 

We have not made dividend payments since 2006. Many of our debt instruments, including the 7.875% Notes and the 
ABL Facility, which are described in Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, impose limitations on CBII's ability to 
pay dividends on its common stock. At December 31, 2013, we were in compliance with each of our debt instruments and 
expect to remain in compliance for at least twelve months from the date of this filing.

Market Risk Management – Financial Instruments

HEDGING INSTRUMENTS

Our products are distributed in nearly 70 countries. International sales are made primarily in U.S. dollars and major 
European currencies. We reduce currency exchange risk from sales originating in currencies other than the U.S. dollar by 
exchanging local currencies for dollars promptly upon receipt. We consider our exposure, current market conditions and 
hedging costs in determining when and whether to enter into new hedging instruments to hedge the dollar value of our 
estimated euro net sales up to 18 months into the future. We may use average rate put options, average rate collars (an average 
rate put option paired with an average rate call option) and average rate forward contracts to manage our exposure to euro 
exchange rates. Average rate put options require an upfront premium payment and reduce the risk of a decline in the value of 
the euro without limiting the benefit of an increase in the value of the euro. Average rate call options sold by us require an 
upfront premium payment to be received from the counterparty and limit the benefit of an increase in the value of the euro 
without limiting the risk of a decline in the value of the euro. We may use average rate call options to reduce the cost of 
currency hedging coverage. In some cases, we may simulate an average rate forward contract by entering into an average rate 
put and an average rate call at the same strike rate to lock in the future exchange rate of the notional amount ("synthetic average 
rate forward"). These instruments do not require upfront premium payments. We expect that any loss on these contracts would 
be more than offset by an increase in the dollar realization of the underlying sales denominated in foreign currencies.

At February 25, 2014, we had:

• Average rate collars for approximately 30% of our expected net sales for 2014 and approximately 20% of our expected 
net sales in the first quarter of 2015 that protect from a decline in the exchange rate below $1.31 per euro and $1.33 
per euro, respectively, and limit the benefit of an increase in the exchange rate above $1.39 per euro and $1.41 per 
euro, respectively. 

• Average rate forwards and synthetic average rate forwards that lock in the value of the euro for approximately 30% of 
our expected net sales for 2014 and approximately 20% of our expected net sales in the first quarter of 2015 at $1.35 
per euro and $1.37 per euro, respectively. 

Our shipping operations are exposed to the risk of rising fuel prices. To reduce the risk of rising fuel prices, we enter into 
bunker fuel forward contracts (swaps) that allow us to lock in fuel prices up to three years in the future. Bunker fuel forward 
contracts can offset increases in market fuel prices or can result in higher costs from declines in market fuel prices, but in either 
case reduce the volatility of changing fuel prices on our results. In 2011, we reduced our expected total bunker fuel 
consumption and changed the ports where bunker fuel is purchased through the implementation of a new shipping 
configuration. The price we pay to ship bananas and other produce in container equipment on board third parties' container 
ships includes an adjustment for fuel costs that is not subject to our hedging program. At December 31, 2013, we had deferred 
gains (losses) on bunker fuel hedges included in "Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)" of less than $(1) million 
and $1 million that are expected to offset (increase) our cost of bunker fuel in 2014 and 2015, respectively, and represent 
coverage for expected fuel purchases of approximately 75% and 50%, respectively.

We carry hedging instruments at fair value on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. The fair value of the currency hedge 
portfolio and bunker fuel forward contracts was a net liability of $4 million and  $15 million at December 31, 2013 and 2012, 
respectively. A hypothetical 10% increase in the euro currency rates would have resulted in a decline in fair value of the 
currency hedge portfolio of approximately $34 million at December 31, 2013. However, we expect that any loss on these put 
and call options would be more than offset by an increase in the dollar realization of the underlying sales denominated in 
foreign currencies. A hypothetical 10% decrease in bunker fuel rates would result in a decline in fair value of the bunker fuel 
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forward contracts of approximately $9 million at December 31, 2013. However, we expect that any decline in the fair value of 
these contracts would be offset by a decrease in the cost of underlying fuel purchases.

See Notes 1 and 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion of our hedging activities. See Note 
12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion of fair value measurements.

DEBT INSTRUMENTS

Although the Consolidated Balance Sheets do not present debt at fair value, we have a significant amount of fixed-rate 
debt whose fair value could fluctuate as a result of changes in prevailing market rates. At December 31, 2013, we had $625 
million principal balance of fixed-rate debt, which included the 7.875% Notes and the 4.25% Convertible Senior Notes. The 
$200 million principal balance of the Convertible Notes is greater than their $164 million carrying value due to the accounting 
standards for convertible notes such as ours that are described in Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The $425 
million principal balance of the 7.875% Notes is greater than their $422 million carrying value due to the related discount that 
will be amortized over the life of the 7.875% Notes. A hypothetical 0.50% increase in interest rates would have resulted in a 
decline in the fair value of our fixed-rate debt of approximately $14 million at December 31, 2013. 

The refinancing activities in 2013 significantly reduced our exposure to changes in variable interest rates to a nominal 
amount.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Other than operating leases and non-cancelable purchase commitments in the normal course of business, we do not have 
any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our significant accounting policies are summarized in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The additional 
discussion below addresses only our most significant judgments:

REVIEWING THE CARRYING VALUES OF GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Impairment reviews comparing fair value to carrying value are highly judgmental and involve the use of significant 
estimates and assumptions, which determine whether there is potential impairment and the amount of any impairment charge 
recorded. Fair value assessments involve estimates of discounted cash flows that are dependent upon discount rates and long-
term assumptions regarding future sales and margin trends, market conditions, cash flow and multiples of revenue and earnings 
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA"). Actual results may differ from these estimates. Fair value 
measurements used in the impairment reviews of goodwill and intangible assets are Level 3 measurements, as described in 
Note 12. See further information about our policy for fair value measurements below under "Fair Value Measurements" and in 
Note 12. 

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, our goodwill, a portion of our trademarks and most of our other intangible assets 
related to our salad operations, Fresh Express. Due to lower operating performance of retail value-added salad business, lower 
retail value-added salad volumes, lower perceived valuation multiples in the packaged salad industry and continuing demand 
for private label versus branded products, the 2012 analyses resulted in a $157 million ($157 million after-tax) impairment 
charge to goodwill and a $23 million ($14 million after-tax) impairment charge to our Fresh Express trademark. If future 
business results or market values differ significantly from our expectations, additional impairment could result. We also fully 
impaired goodwill related to a non-core business in 2012, resulting in $2 million of additional goodwill impairment charges.

Goodwill. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment each fourth quarter, or more frequently if circumstances indicate the 
possibility of impairment. The 2013 and 2011 reviews did not indicate impairment; however impairment charges resulted from 
the 2012 review. 

The first step of the impairment review compares the fair value of our Fresh Express reporting unit to the carrying value. 
Consistent with prior impairment reviews, we estimated the fair value of the reporting unit using a combination of: (i) a market 
approach based on multiples of revenue and EBITDA from recent comparable transactions and other market data; and (ii) an 
income approach based on expected future cash flows discounted at 14.5%, 13.0% and 9.7% in 2013, 2012 and 2011, 
respectively. The increase in the discount rate for the 2013 and 2012 analyses reflects the additional industry-specific risk 
corresponding to the lower perceived revenue and EBITDA multiples for the packaged salad industry and market conditions. 
The market approach and the income approach were weighted equally based on judgment of the comparability of the recent 
transactions and the risks inherent in estimating future cash flows. We considered recent economic and industry trends, as well 
as risk in executing our current plans from the perspective of a hypothetical buyer in estimating Fresh Express' expected future 
cash flows in the income approach. In 2012, the first step of the impairment analysis indicated impairment, which was 
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measured in the second step. In 2013 and 2011, the first step did not indicate impairment because the estimated fair value of our 
Fresh Express reporting unit was greater than its carrying value; therefore, the second step was not required. In addition, no 
events or changes in circumstances occurred in 2013, 2012 or 2011 that required impairment testing in between annual tests.

The second step measures the implied value of goodwill by subtracting the estimated fair values of the reporting unit's 
assets and liabilities, including intangible assets other than goodwill, from the estimated fair value of the Fresh Express 
reporting unit as estimated in step 1. The 2012 goodwill impairment charge was measured as the difference between the 
implied value of goodwill and the carrying value. 

Significant assumptions used to estimate the fair value of the Fresh Express reporting unit include estimates of future cash 
flows, discount rate and multiples of revenue and EBITDA. These assumptions are typically not considered individually 
because assumptions used to select one variable should also be considered when selecting other variables; however, sensitivity 
of the overall fair value assessment to each significant variable is also considered. In the 2013 and 2011 analyses, reasonably 
possible fluctuations in the discount rate, cash flows or market multiples did not indicate impairment. In 2013 and 2011, we 
also considered the operation of the business in several possible business environments; in each case we assumed that Fresh 
Express would be able to recapture increases in commodity costs affecting the industry, such as increases in transportation or 
raw product costs. In the 2012 analysis, a 1.0 percentage point increase in the selected discount rate would have resulted in $8 
million of additional impairment, and a 5% decrease in the selected multiples of revenue and EBITDA would have resulted in 
$10 million of additional impairment.

Trademarks. Trademarks are indefinite-lived intangible assets that are not amortized and are also reviewed each fourth 
quarter, or more frequently if circumstances indicate the possibility of impairment. In addition, no events or changes in 
circumstances occurred in 2013, 2012 or 2011 that required impairment testing in between annual tests. The review compares 
the estimated fair values of the trademarks to the carrying values. The 2013 and 2011 reviews did not indicate impairment 
because the estimated fair values were greater than the carrying values. As a result of the reasons noted above, the 2012 review 
resulted in an impairment charge to the Fresh Express trademark. Consistent with prior reviews, we estimated the fair values of 
the trademarks using the relief-from-royalty method. The relief-from-royalty method estimates the royalty expense that is 
avoided as a result of owning the respective trademarks. The royalty savings are measured by applying a royalty rate to 
projected branded sales to estimate cash flows attributable to the trademark then converting those cash flows (after-tax) to a 
present value using a discount rate that considers the risk associated with owning the trademarks. Royalty rates are selected 
based on recent available data for similar trademark license arrangements as well as assessments of the cash flows from the 
business activities related to the trademark.

For the Chiquita trademark, we assumed royalty rates of 2.5%, 2.5% and 3.0% and discount rates of 11.5%, 11.0% and 
11.3% in the 2013, 2012 and 2011 impairment analyses, respectively. The fair value estimate is most sensitive to the royalty 
rate but reasonably possible fluctuations in both the royalty rates and the discount rates for the Chiquita trademarks also did not 
indicate impairment. 

For the Fresh Express trademarks, we assumed royalty rates of 1.0%, 1.0% and 3.0% and discount rates of 14.5%, 13.0% 
and 11.3% in the 2013, 2012 and 2011 impairment analyses, respectively. A 0.5 percentage point decrease in the selected 
royalty rate in the 2012 analysis would have resulted in $18 million of additional impairment and a 1.0 percentage point 
increase in the selected discount rate would have resulted in an additional $3 million of impairment. Reasonably possible 
fluctuations in the selected royalty rate or the selected discount rate did not indicate impairment during the 2013 and 2011 
analyses.

Other Intangible Assets.  Our intangible assets with definite lives consist of customer relationships and patented 
technology primarily related to Fresh Express. These assets are amortized on a straight-line basis (which approximates the 
attrition method) over their estimated remaining lives. The weighted average remaining lives of our Fresh Express customer 
relationships and patented technology are 9 years and 8 years, respectively. As amortizable intangible assets, we review the 
carrying value only when impairment indicators are present, by comparing (i) estimates of undiscounted future cash flows, 
before interest charges, included in the our operating plans versus (ii) the carrying values of the related assets. Tests are 
performed over asset groups at the lowest level of identifiable cash flows. No impairment indicators existed in 2013 or 2011. 
The failure of step 1 of the goodwill impairment analysis was an impairment indicator in 2012, but the undiscounted cash flows 
associated with the other intangible assets were greater than the carrying value, and therefore, no impairment was present. 

REVIEWING THE CARRYING VALUES OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

We also review the carrying value of our property, plant and equipment when impairment indicators are present. Tests are 
performed over asset groups at the lowest level of identifiable cash flows. In 2012, we recorded $2 million of impairment 
charges in connection with our restructuring, which is recorded as "Restructuring and relocation costs" in the Consolidated 
Statements of Income. See Note 3 for additional description of the restructuring. No material impairment charges were 
recorded during 2013 or 2011. The failure of step 1 of the goodwill impairment analysis was an impairment indicator in 2012, 
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but the undiscounted cash flows associated with the property, plant and equipment were greater than the carrying value and 
therefore no impairment was present. 

ESTIMATING FAIR VALUE

Fair value standards provide a framework for measuring fair value, which prioritizes the use of observable inputs in 
measuring fair value. Fair value is the price to hypothetically sell an asset or transfer a liability in an orderly manner in the 
principal market for that asset or liability. The standards address valuation techniques used to measure fair value including the 
market approach, the income approach and the cost approach. The market approach uses prices or relevant information 
generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or liabilities. The income approach involves 
converting future cash flows to a single present value, with the fair value measurement based on current market expectations 
about those future cash flows. The cost approach is based on the amount that currently would be required to replace the service 
capacity of the asset. We do not carry nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities at fair value, so fair value measurements 
of nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities are primarily used in goodwill and other intangible asset impairment reviews 
and in the valuation of assets held for sale. See further information related to fair value measurements above under "Goodwill, 
Trademarks and Intangible Assets" and in Notes 1, 10, 11 and 14.

The level of a fair value measurement is determined by the lowest level input that is significant to the measurement. 
Level 3 measurements involve the most judgment, and our most significant Level 3 fair value measurements are those used in 
impairment reviews of goodwill, trademarks and other intangible assets, as described above. The three levels are (from highest 
to lowest):

Level 1 – observable prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities;

Level 2 – observable inputs other than quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities, which 
include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in an active market and market-corroborated inputs; and

Level 3 – unobservable inputs.

ACCOUNTING FOR PENSION AND TROPICAL SEVERANCE PLANS

Significant assumptions used in the actuarial calculation of projected benefit obligations related to our defined benefit 
pension and foreign pension and severance plans include the discount rate and the long-term rate of compensation increase. The 
weighted average discount rate assumptions used to determine the projected benefit obligations for domestic pension plans 
were 4.4% and 3.5% at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, which were based on a yield curve which uses the plans' 
expected payouts combined with a large population of high quality, fixed income investments in the U.S. that are appropriate 
for the expected timing of the plans’ payments. The weighted average discount rate assumptions used to determine the 
projected benefit obligations for the foreign pension and severance plans were 6.90% and 6.75% for  December 31, 2013 and 
2012, respectively, which represented the 10-year U.S. Treasury rate adjusted to reflect local inflation rates in these countries. 
The weighted average long-term rate of compensation increase used to determine the projected benefit obligations for domestic 
plans was not applicable in 2013 due to there not being any participants accruing benefits. This rate was 5.00% in 2012, and 
5.00% for foreign plans in both 2013 and 2012. Determination of the net periodic benefit cost also includes an assumption for 
the weighted average long-term rate of return on plan assets, which was assumed to be 7.00% and 8.00% for domestic plans in 
2013 and 2012, respectively, and 0.70% and 1.00% for foreign plans in 2013 and 2012, respectively. Actual rates of return can 
differ significantly from those assumed as a result of both the short-term volatility and longer-term changes in average market 
returns. See further information in Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

A 1% change to the discount rate, long-term rate of compensation increase, or long-term rate of return on plan assets each 
affects pension expense by less than $1 million annually.

ACCOUNTING FOR INCOME TAXES

We are subject to income taxes in both the United States and numerous foreign jurisdictions. Income tax expense or 
benefit is provided for using the asset and liability method. Deferred income taxes (assets and liabilities) are recognized at 
currently enacted tax rates for the expected future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between amounts 
reported for income tax purposes and financial reporting purposes. Deferred taxes are not provided for the undistributed 
earnings of subsidiaries operating outside the U.S. that have been permanently reinvested in foreign operations. 

Valuation of deferred tax assets. We regularly analyze our deferred tax assets to determine whether these assets are more 
likely than not to be realized based on all available evidence. Accounting guidance for income taxes requires a reduction of the 
carrying amounts of deferred tax assets by recording a valuation allowance if, based on the available evidence, it is more likely 
than not such assets will not be realized. The valuation of deferred tax assets requires judgment in assessing the likely future tax 
consequences of events that have been recognized in our financial statements or tax returns and future profitability. The future 
realization of deferred tax assets depends on the existence of sufficient sources of taxable income in future periods and includes 
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historical taxable income (taxable income in prior carryback years), the expected timing of the reversal of existing temporary 
differences, the implementation of tax planning strategies and projected future taxable income exclusive of reversing temporary 
differences and carryforwards. 

In assessing the need for a valuation allowance, we consider both positive and negative evidence in determining whether 
it is more-likely-than-not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The weight given to the positive and negative 
evidence is commensurate with the extent to which the evidence is objectively verified. As such it is difficult for positive 
evidence related to projected future taxable income exclusive of reversing temporary differences and carryforwards to 
overcome objective negative evidence related to recent financial losses. A cumulative loss in recent years is considered a 
significant piece of negative evidence. Projected future taxable income is based on expected results and assumptions as to the 
jurisdiction in which the income will be earned. The expected timing of the reversals of existing temporary differences is based 
on current tax law and our tax methods of accounting. 

We experienced a three-year cumulative loss position as of December 31, 2012 in our North American businesses 
primarily resulting from the restructuring and relocation activities described in Note 3, the trademark impairment described in 
Note 8 and the reserve for grower receivables described in Note 4. As a result of this negative indicator, all evidence to support 
the realization of the our deferred tax assets was reevaluated, including existing deferred tax liabilities, tax planning strategies 
consistent with our current business plans and forecasted future taxable income. Our primary positive evidence related to 
forecasts of future taxable income; however, accounting guidance restricts the amount of reliance that can be placed on future 
taxable income because it is not objectively verifiable. As a result, we recorded a $130 million valuation allowance in the 
fourth quarter of 2012 against all of our U.S. federal deferred tax assets, which are primarily net operating losses. A sustained 
period of profitability in our North American businesses will be required before we would change our judgment regarding the 
need to reverse the full amount of the valuation allowance. Until such time, the utilization of our existing U.S. net operating 
losses or generation of additional U.S. net operating losses will not result in income tax expense or benefit as the corresponding 
valuation allowance will be released or established for the same value and as such have a significant impact on our effective tax 
rate.

In the second quarter of 2011, as a result of sustained improvements in the performance of our North American businesses 
and the benefits of debt reduction over several years, we generated annual U.S. taxable income beginning with tax year 2009 
through 2011, and expected the trend to continue, even if seasonal losses may have been incurred in interim periods. In 2011, 
our forecast included increased visibility to North American banana pricing and stabilized sourcing costs. As a result of the 
considerations of the positive evidence, which outweighed the negative evidence at the time, we recognized an $87 million 
income tax benefit in the second quarter of 2011 for the reversal of valuation allowances against 100% of the U.S. federal 
deferred tax assets and a portion of the state deferred tax assets, primarily NOLs, which are more likely than not to be realized 
in the future. See Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information about our income taxes and 
valuation allowances.

Increases and decreases in these valuation allowances are included in "Income tax expense (benefit)" in the Consolidated 
Statements of Income.

Uncertain Tax Positions. In the ordinary course of business, there are many transactions and calculations where the 
ultimate income tax determination is uncertain. The evaluation of a tax position is a two-step process. The first step is to 
evaluate the uncertain tax position for recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is "more-
likely-than-not" that a tax position, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation, will be sustained upon examination 
based on its technical merits. If the recognition criterion is met, the second step is to measure the income tax benefit to be 
realized. Tax positions or portions of tax positions that do not meet the recognition and realization criteria are de-recognized by 
recording reserves. We establish reserves for income tax-related uncertainties based on estimates of whether, and the extent to 
which, additional taxes, penalties and interest could be due. Provisions for and changes to these reserves, as well as the related 
net interest and penalties, are included in "Income tax expense (benefit)" in the Consolidated Statements of Income. Significant 
judgment is required in evaluating tax positions and determining our provision for income taxes. We regularly review our tax 
positions, and the reserves are adjusted in light of changing facts and circumstances, such as the resolution of outstanding tax 
audits or contingencies in various jurisdictions and the expiration of statutes of limitations.

Ecuador is challenging the transfer pricing practices of major banana exporters and has assessed $15 million of income 
taxes, penalties and interest related to transfer pricing in 2008 and 2009. If Ecuador applies a similar methodology for tax years 
2010 to present, additional assessments may be made. We believe appropriate transfer pricing was used and that more likely 
than not, we will succeed upon appeal. Therefore, we do not have unrecognized tax benefits related to this matter.

ACCOUNTING FOR CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Each period, we review the status of each claim and legal proceeding and assesses the potential financial exposure. This 
is coordinated with information obtained from external and internal counsel. If the potential loss from any claim or legal 
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proceeding is probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated, we accrue a liability for the estimated loss. To the extent 
the amount of a probable loss is estimable only by reference to a range of equally likely outcomes, and no amount within the 
range appears to be a better estimate than any other amount, we accrue the low end of the range. Management makes judgments 
related to accruals based on the best information available at the time, which may be based on estimates and assumptions, 
including those that depend on external factors beyond the our control. As additional information becomes available, we 
reassess and may revise estimates for the potential liabilities related to pending claims and litigation. Legal costs are expensed 
as incurred.

ASSESSING COLLECTIBILITY OF GROWER ADVANCES AND CERTAIN TRADE RECEIVABLES

Seasonal advances may be made to certain qualified growers of other produce, which are usually collected as the other 
produce is harvested and sold. We generally require property liens and pledges of the season’s produce as collateral to support 
these advances. If sales of the season's produce do not result in full repayment of the advance, we may exercise the collateral 
provisions or renegotiate terms, including interest, to collect the remaining balance. Allowances are established when we 
determine it is probable that the grower will be unable to repay the advance based on our knowledge of the grower's financial 
condition and our historical loss experience. These estimates require significant judgment because of the inherent risks and 
uncertainties of projecting growers' cash flows, crop yields and market prices. Growers are also subject to many of the same 
risks that we face, such as weather disruptions and agricultural conditions, foreign currency exchange rates and government 
regulation. Grower advances were $3 million and $4 million at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, net of reserves of 
$33 million and $37 million ($32 million reserve for advances to a Chilean grower) at December 31, 2013 and 2012, 
respectively. We also carry payables to growers related to revenue collected from the sale of the other produce that is 
subsequently remitted to the grower, less outstanding grower advances and a margin retained by us based upon the terms of the 
contract.

Our primary markets are in North America and Europe, but we also have sales in the Middle East and other markets. The 
majority of our sales in the Middle East are in Iran under license from the U.S. government that allows sale of food products to 
non-sanctioned parties. These sales are in U.S. dollars and represent $17 million of "Trade receivables, less allowances" on the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2013. Even though the sales in Iran are permitted, the international sanctions 
against Iran affected the ability of Iranian customers to pay invoices within terms because it became difficult for them to obtain 
U.S. dollars, euros or other suitable currencies in sufficient quantity on a regular basis. Over the course of 2012, our receivable 
balance with these customers has increased making repayment more difficult, and we established payment plans with each of 
these customers to reduce their balances. Certain customers have so far been able to find acceptable methods of payment to 
comply with their payment plans. However, some customers have not, and as a result, we recorded a reserve of $9 million in 
2012, with an additional $2 million in 2013 as a result of further delinquency and other repayment risk. If these customers are 
able to find acceptable methods of payment to comply with their payment plans, the reserve may be reversed as appropriate. If 
other customers become unable to repay trade receivables, we may be required to increase our reserve.

ACCOUNTING FOR SALES INCENTIVES

We offer sales incentives and promotions to our customers and to consumers primarily in our Salads and Healthy Snacks 
segment and also in our Bananas segment in certain countries. These incentives are mainly volume-related rebates, placement 
fees (fees paid to retailers for product display), consumer coupons and promotional discounts. Consideration given to 
customers and consumers related to sales incentives is recorded as a reduction of sales. Changes in the estimated amount of 
incentives to be paid are treated as changes in estimates and are recognized in the period of change.

New Accounting Standards

See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding new accounting standards that could 
affect us.

Risks of International Operations

We operate in many countries outside the United States, including in Central and South America, Europe and the Middle 
East. Information about our operations by geographic area can be found in Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
Our global activities are subject to risks inherent in operating in those countries, including: government regulation; currency 
restrictions, fluctuations and other restraints; import and export restrictions; burdensome taxes; risks of expropriation; threats to 
employees; political instability; terrorist activities including extortion; and risks of U.S. and foreign governmental action in 
relation to us. Should such circumstances occur, we might need to curtail, cease or alter our activities in a particular region or 
country. Trade restrictions apply to certain countries, such as Iran and Syria, that require U.S. government authorization for 
sales there; notwithstanding the broad trade sanctions against these countries, under current U.S. law and licenses issued 
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thereunder, we are authorized to sell food products to specific customers in these countries. Our operations in some Central 
American countries are dependent upon leases and other agreements with the governments of these countries.

See Item 1A – Risk Factors and Item 3 – Legal Proceedings in the Annual Report on Form 10-K and Note 19 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements for a further description of legal proceedings and other risks including, in particular, (1) the 
civil litigation and investigations relating to payments made by our former Colombian subsidiary to a Colombian paramilitary 
group and (2) customs and tax proceedings in Italy.

*******

This Annual Report contains certain statements that are "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private 
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements are subject to a number of assumptions, risks and uncertainties, 
many of which are beyond the control of the company, including: the customary risks experienced by global food companies, 
such as prices for commodity and other inputs, currency exchange rate fluctuations, industry and competitive conditions (all of 
which may be more unpredictable in light of continuing uncertainty in the global economic environment), government 
regulations, food safety issues and product recalls affecting the company or the industry, labor relations, taxes, political 
instability and terrorism; challenges in implementing the relocation of its corporate headquarters and other North American 
corporate functions to Charlotte, North Carolina; challenges in implementing restructuring and leadership changes announced 
in August and October 2012 including its ability to maintain the cost savings and other benefits from the restructuring; unusual 
weather events, conditions or crop risks; continued ability to access the capital and credit markets on commercially reasonable 
terms and comply with the terms of its debt instruments; access to and cost of financing; and the outcome of pending litigation 
and governmental investigations involving the company, as well as the legal fees and other costs incurred in connection with 
such items. 

The forward-looking statements speak as of the date made and are not guarantees of future performance. Actual results or 
developments may differ materially from the expectations expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements, and we 
undertake no obligation to update any such statements.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Chiquita Brands International, Inc.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of income, 
comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity and cash flow present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Chiquita Brands International, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the results of their operations and 
their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2013 in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, 
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). 
The Company’s management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over 
financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in 
Management’s Assessment of the Company's Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express 
opinions on these financial statements and on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated 
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in 
all material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting 
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness 
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our 
audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our 
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to 
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the 
company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Charlotte, North Carolina 
March 4, 2014 
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Chiquita Brands International, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
 

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 2013 2012 2011

Net sales $3,057,482 $3,078,337 $3,139,296
Cost of sales 2,708,428 2,743,040 2,698,031
Selling, general and administrative 234,773 275,895 301,465
Depreciation 55,915 53,736 51,533
Amortization 9,366 9,418 9,394
Equity in (earnings) losses of investees (258) 33,433 6,314
Reserve for (recovery of) grower receivables, net (1,067) (664) 32,967
Restructuring and relocation costs 480 35,429 5,852
Goodwill and trademark impairment — 181,884 —

Operating income (loss) 49,845 (253,834) 33,740
Interest income 2,856 3,131 4,204
Interest expense (61,144) (45,299) (51,586)
Loss on debt extinguishment (6,275) — (11,722)
Other income (expense), net 3,522 (1,793) —

Loss from continuing operations before income taxes (11,196) (297,795) (25,364)
Income tax (expense) benefit (4,619) (105,239) 82,200

Income (loss) from continuing operations (15,815) (403,034) 56,836
Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes — (1,983) —

Net income (loss) $ (15,815) $ (405,017) $ 56,836

Continuing operations $ (0.34) $ (8.75) $ 1.25
Discontinued operations — (0.04) —

Earnings (loss) per common share – basic $ (0.34) $ (8.79) $ 1.25

Continuing operations $ (0.34) $ (8.75) $ 1.23
Discontinued operations — (0.04) —

Earnings (loss) per common share – diluted $ (0.34) $ (8.79) $ 1.23

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



Chiquita Brands International, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Net income (loss) $ (15,815) $ (405,017) $ 56,836
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax where applicable:

Unrealized foreign currency translation gains (losses) (349) (194) 241

Change in fair value of available-for-sale investment 157 1,944 (224)
Realized gains of available-for-sale investment reclassified into Other income
(expense), net (561) (722) —

Net other comprehensive income (loss) related to available-for-sale
investment

(404) 1,222 (224)

Unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives for the period (11,111) (16,928) 38,903
Derivative (gains) losses reclassified into Net sales 29,858 (1,240) (7,805)
Derivative gains reclassified into Cost of sales (7,839) (16,053) (37,019)

Net other comprehensive income (loss) related to derivatives 10,908 (34,221) (5,921)

Actuarial gains (losses) for the period, net of $247, $283 and $0, respectively,
of income tax expense 3,230 189 (3,846)
Pension cost amortization 1,357 789 1,000

Net other comprehensive income (loss) related to defined benefit pension
and severance plans 4,587 978 (2,846)

14,742 (32,215) (8,750)
Comprehensive income (loss) $ (1,073) $ (437,232) $ 48,086

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Chiquita Brands International, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

(In thousands, except share amounts) 2013 2012

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and equivalents $ 54,017 $ 51,026
Trade receivables, less allowances of $19,602 and $19,028, respectively 252,068 285,151
Other receivables, net 56,273 65,109
Inventories 210,564 220,041
Prepaid expenses 49,733 40,814
Other current assets 6,540 18,335

Total current assets 629,195 680,476
Property, plant and equipment, net 390,773 395,299
Investments and other assets, net 108,077 81,528
Trademarks 426,085 426,085
Goodwill 18,095 18,095
Other intangible assets, net 86,913 96,279

Total assets $1,659,138 $1,697,762
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Current portion of long-term debt and capital lease obligations $ 2,271 $ 65,008
Accounts payable 248,273 274,624
Accrued liabilities 158,034 140,700

Total current liabilities 408,578 480,332
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations, net of current portion 629,353 540,517
Accrued pension and other employee benefits 77,066 75,144
Deferred gain – sale of shipping fleet 6,290 20,204
Deferred tax liabilities 103,679 111,628
Other liabilities 59,734 99,535

Total liabilities 1,284,700 1,327,360
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders' equity:

Common stock, $.01 par value (46,829,913 and 46,317,433 shares outstanding, respectively) 468 463
Capital surplus 839,664 834,560
Accumulated deficit (439,911) (424,096)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (25,783) (40,525)

Total shareholders' equity 374,438 370,402
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $1,659,138 $1,697,762

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Chiquita Brands International, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

(In thousands)
Common

Shares
Common

Stock
Capital
Surplus

 (Accumulated
Deficit)

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Total
Shareholders'

Equity

December 31, 2010 45,298 $ 453 $ 815,010 $ (75,915) $ 440 $ 739,988
Comprehensive income (loss) — — — 56,836 (8,750) 48,086
Stock-based compensation 480 5 13,711 — — 13,716
Shares withheld for taxes — — (1,720) — — (1,720)

December 31, 2011 45,778 $ 458 $ 827,001 $ (19,079) $ (8,310) $ 800,070
Comprehensive income (loss) — — — (405,017) (32,215) (437,232)
Stock-based compensation 539 5 8,772 — — 8,777
Shares withheld for taxes — — (1,213) — — (1,213)

December 31, 2012 46,317 $ 463 $ 834,560 $ (424,096) $ (40,525) $ 370,402
Comprehensive income (loss) — — — (15,815) 14,742 (1,073)
Stock-based compensation 513 5 7,518 — — 7,523
Shares withheld for taxes — — (2,414) — — (2,414)

December 31, 2013 46,830 $ 468 $ 839,664 $ (439,911) $ (25,783) $ 374,438

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.



Chiquita Brands International, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW
 

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011

CASH (USED) PROVIDED BY:
OPERATIONS

Net income (loss) $ (15,815) $ (405,017) $ 56,836
Loss from discontinued operations — 1,983 —
Depreciation and amortization 65,281 63,154 60,927
Goodwill and trademark impairment — 181,884 —
Equity in (earnings) losses of investees (258) 33,433 6,314
Loss on debt extinguishment 6,275 — 11,722
Deferred income taxes (8,908) 92,547 (100,836)
Reserve for trade receivables 4,966 14,041 2,877
Reserve for grower receivables 61 933 32,967
Amortization of discount on Convertible Notes 10,968 9,715 8,606
Amortization of gain on shipping fleet sale (13,914) (14,349) (14,131)
Stock-based compensation 5,897 8,193 10,042
Restructuring related asset impairments — 4,883 —
Changes in current assets and liabilities:

Trade receivables 31,303 (37,098) (11,022)
Other receivables 10,454 (2,175) 33,306
Inventories 3,770 15,302 (26,546)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (11,130) (537) (9,981)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 14,781 7,889 (18,617)
Other liabilities (913) 31,325 2,995

Other (11,339) 26,471 (6,501)
Operating cash flow 91,479 32,577 38,958

INVESTING
Capital expenditures (49,054) (53,440) (75,535)
Contribution to equity method investment (18,422) — (4,845)
Net proceeds from sale of:

Equity method investments 3,396 3,142 3,307
Other long-term assets 9,777 4,993 3,512

Other, net 3,541 (2,334) 5,590
Investing cash flow (50,762) (47,639) (67,971)

FINANCING
Issuances of long-term debt 429,415 — 330,067
Repayments of long-term debt and capital lease obligations (413,190) (16,768) (400,333)
Borrowings under the ABL Revolver 36,590 — —
Repayments of the ABL Revolver (36,590) — —
Borrowings under the Credit Facility Revolver — 70,000 —
Repayments of the Credit Facility Revolver (40,000) (30,000) —
Payments for debt modification and issuance costs (13,951) (2,405) (5,026)
Payments of debt extinguishment costs — — (6,915)

Financing cash flow (37,726) 20,827 (82,207)
Increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents 2,991 5,765 (111,220)

Cash and equivalents, beginning of period 51,026 45,261 156,481
Cash and equivalents, end of period $ 54,017 $ 51,026 $ 45,261

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Chiquita Brands International, Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

CONSOLIDATION

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Chiquita Brands International, Inc. ("CBII"), controlled 
majority-owned subsidiaries and any entities that are not majority-owned but require consolidation as a variable interest entity 
(collectively, "Chiquita" or the company). Intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States ("U.S. GAAP"), which require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts and 
disclosures reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Significant estimates are inherent in the 
preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Significant estimates are made in determining allowance 
for doubtful accounts for grower and trade receivables, sales incentives, reviews of carrying values of long-lived assets, fair 
value assessments, goodwill and intangible asset valuations, pension and severance plans, income taxes and contingencies. 
Actual results could differ from these estimates.

CASH AND EQUIVALENTS

Cash and equivalents include cash and highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less at the time of 
purchase. At December 31, 2013, the company had €6 million ($8 million) of cash equivalents in a compensating balance 
arrangement relating to an uncommitted credit line for bank guarantees used primarily for duties in European Union countries.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables less allowances reflect the net realizable value of the receivables and approximate fair value. The 
company generally does not require collateral or other security to support trade receivables subject to credit risk. To reduce 
credit risk, the company performs credit investigations prior to establishing customer credit limits and reviews customer credit 
profiles on an ongoing basis. Allowances against the trade receivables are established based on the company's knowledge of 
customers' financial condition, historical loss experience and account payment status compared to invoice payment terms. 
Allowances are recorded and charged to expense when an account is deemed to be uncollectible. Recoveries of trade 
receivables previously reserved in the allowance are credited to income.

FINANCE RECEIVABLES

The company includes finance receivables in the Consolidated Balance Sheets net of allowances, with current portions 
included in "Other receivables, net" and long-term portions included in "Investments and other assets, net." The largest 
components of finance receivables are seasonal grower advances and seller financing from prior sales of certain subsidiaries. 
Seasonal grower advances made to qualified growers of other produce are non-interest bearing, usually short-term in nature and 
are generally collected as the produce is harvested and sold. The company generally requires property liens and pledges of the 
season's produce as collateral to support the advances. If sales of the season's produce do not result in full repayment of the 
advance, the company may exercise the collateral provisions or renegotiate terms, including interest, to collect the remaining 
balance. Terms of seller financing are typically based on the earnings power of the business that was sold.

Allowances are established when the company determines it is probable that the grower will be unable to repay the 
advance based on the company's knowledge of the grower's financial condition and the company's historical loss experience. 
Allowances are measured for each individual finance receivable using quantitative and qualitative factors, considering the 
value of any collateral securing the seller financing or grower advance. Interest receivable on overdue or renegotiated seller 
financing or grower advances is placed into nonaccrual status when collectibility becomes uncertain. Collectibility is assessed 
at the end of each reporting period and write-offs are recorded only when collection efforts have been abandoned. Recoveries 
of other receivables previously reserved in the allowance are credited to income.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost for banana growing crops and banana inventories is 
determined on the "last-in, first-out" (LIFO) basis. Cost for other inventory categories, including other fresh produce and value-
added salads, is determined on the "first-in, first-out" (FIFO) or average cost basis. Finished goods inventories represent costs 
associated with boxed bananas and other fresh produce not yet sold. Growing crop inventories primarily represent the costs 
associated with growing banana plants on company-owned farms or growing lettuce on third-party farms where the company 
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bears substantially all of the growing risk. Materials and supplies primarily represent growing and packaging supplies 
maintained on company-owned farms or in production plants and warehouses. Inventory costs are comprised of the purchase 
and transportation cost plus production labor and overhead.

INVESTMENTS

Investments representing non-controlling interests are accounted for by the equity method when the company has the 
ability to exercise significant influence over the investees' operations. Investments that the company does not have the ability to 
significantly influence are valued at cost. Publicly traded investments that the company does not have the ability to 
significantly influence are accounted for as available-for-sale securities at fair value. Unrealized holding gains or losses on 
available-for-sale securities are excluded from operating results and are recognized in shareholders' equity (accumulated other 
comprehensive income) until realized. The company assesses any declines in the fair value of individual investments to 
determine whether such declines are other-than-temporary and whether the investments are impaired.  

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, and except for land, are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated remaining useful lives not to exceed the term of any applicable lease. The company generally uses 5 to 30 years for 
cultivations, 10 to 40 years for buildings and improvements, and 3 to 15 years for machinery and equipment. Cultivations 
represent the costs to plant and care for banana plants until such time that the root system can support commercial quantities of 
fruit, as well as the costs to build levees, drainage canals and other farm infrastructure to support the banana plants. When 
assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the costs and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts. The 
difference between the net book value of the asset and the proceeds from disposition is recognized as a gain or loss. Routine 
maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred, while costs of betterments and renewals are capitalized. The 
company reviews the carrying value of its property, plant and equipment when impairment indicators are noted. In 2012, the 
company recorded $2 million of impairment charges in connection with its restructuring, which is recorded as "Restructuring 
and relocation costs" in the Consolidated Statements of Income. See Note 3 for additional description of the company's 
restructuring. The failure of step 1 of the goodwill impairment analysis (discussed below) was an impairment indicator in 2012, 
but the undiscounted cash flows associated with related property, plant and equipment were greater than the carrying value and 
therefore no impairment was present.  There were no material impairment charges recorded in 2013 or 2011. 

GOODWILL, TRADEMARKS AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Impairment reviews comparing fair value to carrying value are highly judgmental and involve the use of significant 
estimates and assumptions, which determine whether there is potential impairment and the amount of any impairment charge 
recorded. Fair value assessments involve estimates of discounted cash flows that are dependent upon discount rates and long-
term assumptions regarding future sales and margin trends, market conditions and cash flow. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates. Fair value measurements used in the impairment reviews of goodwill and intangible assets are Level 3 
measurements, as described in Note 12. See further information about the company's policy for fair value measurements below 
under "Fair Value Measurements" and in Note 12.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012 the company's goodwill, a portion of the trademarks and most of the other intangible 
assets related to the company's salad operations, Fresh Express. Due to lower operating performance of retail value-added salad 
business, lower retail value-added salad volumes, lower perceived valuation multiples in the packaged salad industry and 
continuing demand for private label versus branded products, the 2012 analyses resulted in a $157 million ($157 million after-
tax) impairment charge to goodwill and a $23 million ($14 million after-tax) impairment charge to the Fresh Express 
trademark. The company also fully impaired goodwill related to a non-core business in 2012, resulting in $2 million of 
additional goodwill impairment charges.

Goodwill. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment each fourth quarter, or more frequently if circumstances indicate the 
possibility of impairment. The 2013 and 2011 reviews did not indicate impairment; however impairment charges resulted from 
the 2012 review.

The first step of the impairment review compares the estimated fair value of the Fresh Express reporting unit to the 
carrying value. Consistent with prior impairment reviews, the company estimated the fair value of the reporting unit using a 
combination of: (i) a market approach based on multiples of revenue and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 
amortization ("EBITDA") from recent comparable transactions and other market data; and (ii) an income approach based on 
expected future cash flows discounted at 14.5%, 13.0% and 9.7% in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The increase in the 
discount rate for the 2013 and 2012 analyses reflects the additional industry-specific risk corresponding to the lower perceived 
revenue and EBITDA multiples for the packaged salad industry. The market approach and the income approach were weighted 
equally based on judgment of the comparability of the recent transactions and the risks inherent in estimating future cash flows. 
Management considered recent economic and industry trends, as well as risk in executing its current plans in estimating Fresh 



Express' expected future cash flows in the income approach. In 2012, the first step of the impairment analysis indicated 
impairment, which was measured in the second step. In 2013 and 2011, the first step did not indicate impairment because the 
estimated fair value of the Fresh Express reporting unit was greater than its carrying value; therefore, the second step was not 
required. In addition, no events or changes in circumstances occurred in 2013, 2012 or 2011 that required impairment testing in 
between annual tests.

The second step measures the implied value of goodwill by subtracting the estimated fair values of the reporting unit's 
assets and liabilities, including intangible assets other than goodwill, from the estimated fair value of the Fresh Express 
reporting unit as estimated in step 1. The 2012 goodwill impairment charge was measured as the difference between the 
implied value of goodwill and the carrying value. 

Significant assumptions used to estimate the fair value of the Fresh Express reporting unit include estimates of future cash 
flows, discount rate and multiples of revenue and EBITDA. These assumptions are typically not considered individually 
because assumptions used to select one variable should also be considered when selecting other variables; however, sensitivity 
of the overall fair value assessment to each significant variable is also considered. In the 2013 and 2011 analyses, reasonably 
possible fluctuations in the discount rate, cash flows or market multiples did not indicate impairment. In 2013 and 2011, 
management also considered the operation of the business in several possible business environments; in each case management 
assumed that Fresh Express would be able to recapture increases in commodity costs affecting the industry, such as increases in 
transportation or raw product costs. In the 2012 analysis, a 1.0 percentage point increase in the selected discount rate would 
have resulted in $8 million of additional impairment, and a 5% decrease in the selected multiples of revenue and EBITDA 
would have resulted in $10 million of additional impairment.

Trademarks. Trademarks are indefinite-lived intangible assets that are not amortized and are also reviewed each fourth 
quarter, or more frequently if circumstances indicate the possibility of impairment. In addition, no events or changes in 
circumstances occurred in 2013, 2012 or 2011 that required impairment testing in between annual tests. The review compares 
the estimated fair values of the trademarks to the carrying values. The 2013 and 2011 reviews did not indicate impairment 
because the estimated fair values were greater than the carrying values. As noted above, the 2012 review resulted in an 
impairment charge to the Fresh Express trademark. Consistent with prior reviews, the company estimates the fair values of the 
trademarks using the relief-from-royalty method. The relief-from-royalty method estimates the royalty expense that is avoided 
as a result of owning the respective trademarks. The royalty savings are measured by applying a royalty rate to projected 
branded sales to estimate cash flows attributable to the trademark, then converting those cash flows (after-tax) to a present 
value using a discount rate that considers the risk associated with owning the trademarks. Royalty rates are selected based on 
recent available data for similar trademark license arrangements as well as assessments of the cash flows from the business 
activities related to the trademark.

For the Chiquita trademark, the company assumed royalty rates of 2.5%, 2.5% and 3.0% and discount rates of 11.5%, 
11.0% and 11.3% in the 2013, 2012 and 2011 impairment analyses, respectively. The fair value estimate is most sensitive to the 
royalty rate but reasonably possible fluctuations in both the royalty rates and the discount rates for the Chiquita trademarks also 
did not indicate impairment. 

For the Fresh Express trademarks, the company assumed royalty rates of 1.0%, 1.0% and 3.0% and discount rates of 
14.5%, 13.0% and 11.3% in the 2013, 2012 and 2011 impairment analyses, respectively.  A 0.5 percentage point decrease in the 
selected royalty rate in the 2012 analysis would have resulted in $18 million of additional impairment and a 1.0 percentage 
point increase in the selected discount rate would have resulted in an additional $3 million of impairment. At the time of the 
2013 and 2011 analyses, reasonably possible fluctuations in the selected royalty rate or the selected discount rate did not 
indicate impairment.

Other Intangible Assets. The company's intangible assets with definite lives consist of customer relationships and 
patented technology primarily related to Fresh Express. These assets are amortized on a straight-line basis (which approximates 
the attrition method) over their estimated remaining lives. The weighted average remaining lives of the Fresh Express customer 
relationships and patented technology are 9 years and 8 years, respectively. As amortizable intangible assets, the company 
reviews the carrying value only when impairment indicators are present, by comparing (i) estimates of undiscounted future 
cash flows, before interest charges, included in the company's operating plans versus (ii) the carrying values of the related 
assets. Tests are performed over asset groups at the lowest level of identifiable cash flows. No impairment indicators existed in 
2013 or 2011. The failure of step 1 of the goodwill impairment analysis was an impairment indicator in 2012, but the 
undiscounted cash flows associated with the other intangible assets were greater than the carrying value, and therefore, no 
impairment was present.
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REVENUE RECOGNITION

The company records revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or services have 
been rendered, the price to the customer is fixed or determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured. This generally occurs 
when the product is delivered to, and title to the product passes to, the customer.

SALES INCENTIVES

The company, primarily in its Salads and Healthy Snacks segment and also in its Bananas segment in certain countries, 
offers sales incentives to its customers and to consumers. These incentives primarily consist of volume-related rebates, 
placement fees (fees paid to retailers for product display), consumer coupons and promotional discounts. Consideration given 
to customers and consumers related to sales incentives is recorded as a reduction of "Net sales" in the Consolidated Statements 
of Income. Changes in the estimated amount of incentives to be paid are treated as changes in estimates and are recognized in 
the period of change.

ADVERTISING AND PROMOTION EXPENSE

Advertising and promotion expense is included in "Selling, general and administrative" and was $28 million, $27 million 
and $56 million for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Television advertising costs related to 
production are expensed the first time an ad airs in each market and the cost of advertising time is expensed over the 
advertising period. Other types of advertising and promotion are expensed over the advertising or promotion period.

SHIPPING AND HANDLING FEES AND COSTS

Shipping and handling fees billed to customers are included in "Net sales" and shipping and handling costs are recorded 
in "Cost of sales" in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

VALUE ADDED TAXES

Value added taxes ("VAT") that are collected from customers and remitted to taxing authorities in applicable jurisdictions 
are excluded from sales and cost of sales. Receivables result from filing for refunds of VAT paid to various governments and 
liabilities result from collections that have not yet been remitted to taxing authorities. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the 
company had $32 million and $39 million, respectively, of VAT receivables classified in "Other receivables, net,"; $1 million 
and $2 million, respectively, classified in "Investments and other assets, net"; and $8 million and $7 million, respectively, of 
VAT liabilities classified in "Accounts payable."

LEASES

Leases are evaluated at inception or upon any subsequent material modification for treatment as either capital or 
operating, depending on the terms of each lease. For operating leases that contain built-in pre-determined rent escalations, rent 
holidays or rent concessions, rent expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The company's share-based awards include restricted stock units ("RSU"), performance restricted stock units ("PRSU's"), 
a Long-Term Incentive Program ("LTIP") and stock options.  RSU awards generally vest over four years, and prior to vesting, 
shares are not issued and grantees are not eligible to vote or receive dividends on the restricted stock units. RSU awards are 
equity-classified and the fair value of these awards is determined at the grant date and expensed over the period from the grant 
date to the date the employee is no longer required to provide service to earn the award, which could be immediately in the case 
of retirement-eligible employees. PRSU awards vest upon satisfying Chiquita stock price performance metrics as established 
by the board of directors and meeting the service requirements. These metrics establish six stock price levels that must be 
maintained for at least 20 consecutive days, and occur within three years of the grant date. Upon satisfying the market price 
condition for 20 consecutive days, a predetermined percentage of the total shares will vest. PRSU awards are equity-classified 
and the fair value of these awards is determined at the grant date and expensed over the period from the grant date to the date 
the employee is no longer required to provide service to earn the award.

Certain executive level employees participate in the LTIP, where awards are intended to be performance-based 
compensation as defined in Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code. The LTIP allows for awards to be issued at the end of 
each three-year performance period. Prior to the 2011-2013 performance period, one-half of each LTIP award was based on the 
company's achievement of cumulative earnings per share targets ("EPS awards"), and the other half was based on the 
company's achievement of total shareholder return relative to peer companies ("TSR awards"). For the 2011-2013 and 
2012-2014 performance periods, 20% is a TSR award, 40% is an EPS award and 40% is based on the company's achievement 
of a free cash flow target ("FCF award"). For the 2013-2015 performance period, 50% is a TSR award and 50% is based on the 
company's achievement of a free cash flow target ("FCF award"). The value of TSR awards is based on a Monte Carlo 
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simulation at the measurement date. The value of EPS and FCF awards is based on the share price at the measurement date and 
an estimate of the expected number of shares to be issued at the end of the performance period.  

In October 2012, under a plan separate from the company's shareholder-approved equity compensation plan, 1,440,062 of 
stock options were granted to the company's new chief executive officer as a hiring inducement in accordance with New York 
Stock Exchange rules. One-half of the stock options become exercisable on each of the first two anniversaries of the chief 
executive officer's start date. The fair value of these awards was determined at the grant date and is being expensed over the 
period from the grant date to the date the chief executive officer is no longer required to provide service to earn the award. See 
Note 16 for additional description of the company's stock-based compensation.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Each period, the company reviews the status of each claim and legal proceeding and assesses the potential financial 
exposure. This is coordinated with information obtained from external and internal counsel. If the potential loss from any claim 
or legal proceeding is probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated, the company accrues a liability for the estimated 
loss. To the extent the amount of a probable loss is estimable only by reference to a range of equally likely outcomes, and no 
amount within the range appears to be a better estimate than any other amount, the company accrues the low end of the range. 
Management makes judgments related to accruals based on the best information available at the time, which may be based on 
estimates and assumptions, including those that depend on external factors beyond the company's control. As additional 
information becomes available, the company reassesses and may revise estimates for the potential liabilities related to pending 
claims and litigation. Legal costs are expensed as incurred.

INCOME TAXES

The company is subject to income taxes in both the United States and numerous foreign jurisdictions. Income tax expense 
or benefit is provided for using the asset and liability method. Deferred income taxes are recognized at currently enacted tax 
rates for the expected future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between amounts reported for income tax 
purposes and financial reporting purposes. Deferred taxes are not provided for the undistributed earnings of subsidiaries 
operating outside the U.S. that have been permanently reinvested in foreign operations. 

The company regularly reviews all deferred tax assets on a tax filer and jurisdictional basis to estimate whether these 
assets are more likely than not to be realized based on all available evidence. This evidence includes historical taxable income, 
projected future taxable income, the expected timing of the reversal of existing temporary differences and the implementation 
of tax planning strategies and projected future taxable income. The weight given to the positive and negative evidence is 
commensurate with the extent to which the evidence is objectively verified. The expected timing of the reversals of existing 
temporary differences is based on current tax law and the company's tax methods of accounting. Projected future taxable 
income is based on expected results and assumptions as to the jurisdiction in which the income will be earned. The expected 
timing of the reversals of existing temporary differences is based on current tax law and the company's tax methods of 
accounting. Unless deferred tax assets are more likely than not to be realized, a valuation allowance is established to reduce the 
carrying value of the deferred tax asset until such time that realization becomes more likely than not. Increases and decreases in 
these valuation allowances are included in "Income tax expense (benefit)" in the Consolidated Statements of Income. 

In the ordinary course of business, there are many transactions and calculations where the ultimate income tax 
determination is uncertain. The evaluation of a tax position is a two-step process. The first step is to evaluate the uncertain tax 
position for recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is "more-likely-than-not" that a tax 
position, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation, will be sustained upon examination based on its technical 
merits. If the recognition criterion is met, the second step is to measure the income tax benefit to be realized. Tax positions or 
portions of tax positions that do not meet the recognition and realization criteria are de-recognized by recording reserves. The 
company establishes reserves for income tax-related uncertainties based on estimates of whether, and the extent to which, 
additional taxes, penalties and interest could be due. Provisions for and changes to these reserves, as well as the related net 
interest and penalties, are included in "Income tax expense (benefit)" in the Consolidated Statements of Income. Significant 
judgment is required in evaluating tax positions and determining the company's provision for income taxes. The company 
regularly reviews its tax positions, and the reserves are adjusted in light of changing facts and circumstances, such as the 
resolution of outstanding tax audits or contingencies in various jurisdictions and the expiration of statutes of limitations.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share are calculated on the basis of the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
during the year. Diluted earnings per share is calculated on the basis of the sum of the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding during the year and the dilutive effect of the assumed conversion to common stock of the 4.25% convertible 
senior notes and the exercise of options or issuance of other stock awards using the treasury stock method. The assumed 
conversion to common stock of securities that would, on an individual basis, have an anti-dilutive effect on diluted earnings per 
share is not included in the diluted earnings per share computation.
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CURRENCY TRANSLATION ADJUSTMENT

The company primarily uses the U.S. dollar as its functional currency, and monetary assets denominated in foreign 
currencies are remeasured at the balance sheet date with related transaction gains and losses recognized currently in earnings. 
Certain smaller subsidiaries have functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar and recognize currency-related fluctuations in 
asset and liability values as a component of "Other comprehensive income (loss)." 

HEDGING

The company is exposed to currency exchange risk, most significantly from the value of the euro and its effect on the 
amount of euro net sales from the conversion of euro-denominated sales into U.S. dollars. The company is also exposed to 
price risk on purchases of bunker fuel used in its ocean shipping operations. The company may reduce these risks by 
purchasing derivatives, such as options and forward contracts. When purchasing derivatives, the company identifies a 
"forecasted hedged transaction," which is a specific future transaction (e.g., the purchase of fuel or exchange of currency in a 
specific future period), and designates the risk associated with the forecasted hedged transaction that the derivative will 
mitigate. The fair value of all derivatives is recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Gains and losses from changes in 
fair value of derivatives are recognized in net income in the current period if a derivative does not qualify for, or is not 
designated for, hedge accounting.

Most of the company's derivatives qualify for hedge accounting as cash flow hedges. The company formally documents 
all relationships between derivatives and the forecasted hedged transactions, including the company's risk management 
objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. To the extent that a derivative is effective in offsetting the 
designated risk exposure of the forecasted hedged transaction, gains and losses are deferred in Accumulated other 
comprehensive income ("AOCI") in the Consolidated Balance Sheets until the respective forecasted hedged transaction occurs, 
at which point any gain or loss is recognized in net income. Gains or losses on effective hedges that have been terminated prior 
to maturity are also deferred in AOCI until the forecasted hedged transactions occur. For any ineffective portion of the hedge, 
gains or losses are reflected in net income in the current period. Ineffectiveness is caused by an imperfect correlation of the 
change in fair value of the derivative and the risk that is hedged.

The earnings effect of derivatives is recorded in "Net sales" for currency hedges and in "Cost of sales" for fuel hedges. 
The company does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. See Note 11 for additional 
description of the company's hedging activities.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The company carries financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value, as further described in Note 12, but did not 
elect to carry nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities at fair value. Fair value measurements of nonfinancial assets and 
nonfinancial liabilities are primarily used in goodwill and other intangible asset impairment reviews and in the valuation of 
assets held for sale. Fair value standards provide a framework for measuring fair value, which prioritizes the use of observable 
inputs in measuring fair value. Fair value is the price to hypothetically sell an asset or transfer a liability in an orderly manner 
in the principal market for that asset or liability. The standards address valuation techniques used to measure fair value 
including the market approach, the income approach and the cost approach. The market approach uses prices or relevant 
information generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or liabilities. The income approach 
involves converting future cash flows to a single present value, with the fair value measurement based on current market 
expectations about those future cash flows. The cost approach is based on the amount that currently would be required to 
replace the service capacity of the asset. See further information related to fair value measurements above under "Goodwill, 
Trademarks and Intangible Assets" and in Notes 12 and 14.

PENSION AND TROPICAL SEVERANCE PLANS

The company records the underfunded status of the defined benefit postretirement plans and tropical severance plans as a 
liability on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, recognizes changes in the funded status in AOCI in the year in which the changes 
occur, and measures the plan assets and obligations that determine the funded status as of the end of the fiscal year. Significant 
assumptions used in the actuarial calculation of the liabilities and expense related to the company's defined benefit and foreign 
pension and severance plans include the discount rate, rate of compensation increase and the long-term rate of return on plan 
assets. For domestic plans, the company uses a discount rate based on a yield curve which uses the plans' expected payouts 
combined with a large population of high quality, fixed income investments in the U.S. that are appropriate for the expected 
timing of the plans' payments. For foreign plans, the company uses a discount rate based on the 10-year U.S. Treasury rate 
adjusted to reflect local inflation rates in those countries.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS



In August 2008, the company sold its subsidiary, Atlanta AG. In 2012, the company recorded a loss from discontinued 
operations of $2 million related to new information about indemnification obligations for tax liabilities existing prior to the 
sale.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued guidance on Income Taxes for “Presentation of 
an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward 
Exists.” This guidance requires that financial statements reflect a deferred tax asset for a net operating loss carryforward, a 
similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward as reduced by any unrecognized tax benefit, or a portion of an unrecognized tax 
benefit. The updated guidance is effective for the company's interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2013, 
which will be effective beginning fiscal year 2014. The company does not expect the adoption of this guidance to have a 
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Note 2 — Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted earnings per common share ("EPS") are calculated as follows:

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 2013 2012 2011

Income (loss) from continuing operations $ (15,815) $ (403,034) $ 56,836
Loss from discontinued operations — (1,983) —
Net income (loss) $ (15,815) $ (405,017) $ 56,836

Weighted average common shares outstanding (used to calculate basic EPS) 46,577 46,059 45,541
Dilutive effect of stock options and other stock awards — — 745
Weighted average common shares outstanding (used to calculate diluted EPS) 46,577 46,059 46,286

Continuing operations $ (0.34) $ (8.75) $ 1.25
Discontinued operations — (0.04) —

Earnings (loss) per common share – basic $ (0.34) $ (8.79) $ 1.25

Continuing operations $ (0.34) $ (8.75) $ 1.23
Discontinued operations — (0.04) —

Earnings (loss) per common share – diluted $ (0.34) $ (8.79) $ 1.23

If the company had generated net income for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, an additional 0.9 million and 
0.5 million shares, respectively, would have been added to basic weighted average common shares outstanding to calculate 
diluted EPS. 

The assumed conversions to common stock of stock options, other stock awards and 4.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 
2016 ("Convertible Notes") are excluded from weighted average common shares outstanding used to calculated diluted EPS in 
periods when these items, on an individual basis, have an anti-dilutive effect on diluted EPS. In 2013, 2012 and 2011, the effect 
of the conversion of the Convertible Notes would have been anti-dilutive because the average trading price of the common 
stock was below the initial conversion price of $22.45 per share. In addition, certain stock options and other stock awards 
totaling 0.9 million, 1.9 million and 1.5 million in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively, were outstanding but not included in the 
computation of diluted EPS because they were anti-dilutive.

Note 3 — Restructuring and Relocation

RESTRUCTURING

In August 2012, the company announced a restructuring plan to transform into a branded commodity operator. The 
restructuring plan was designed to reduce costs and improve the company's competitive position by focusing its resources on 
the banana and salad businesses, reducing investment in non-core products, reducing overhead and manufacturing cost and 
limiting consumer marketing activities. In connection with this restructuring plan, the company eliminated approximately 300 
positions worldwide. During 2012, $18 million of restructuring costs were recognized including $11 million of severance and 
$5 million of impairments primarily related to fixed assets and certain promotional and packaging materials in "Restructuring 
and relocation costs" in the Consolidated Statements of Income. Restructuring costs also included $2 million of goodwill 
impairment related to the European healthy snacking business which was ultimately sold (see further discussion below), and 

34  Chiquita Brands International, Inc.  –  2013 Annual Report  



Chiquita Brands International, Inc.  –  2013 Annual Report  35

was recorded in "Goodwill and trademark impairment" in the Consolidated Statements of Income. The restructuring was 
substantially complete at December 31, 2012, although cash payments related to the restructuring plan are expected to continue 
through September 2014, primarily related to severance payments to the former chief executive officer.

A reconciliation of the accrual for the restructuring activities included in "Accrued liabilities" in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheet at December 31, 2013 is as follows: 

(In thousands) Severance

December 31, 2011 $ —
Severance expense 10,591
Amounts paid (3,591)

December 31, 2012 $ 7,000
Severance expense (33)
Amounts paid (5,117)

December 31, 2013 $ 1,850

Consistent with the company's new strategy of reducing investments in non-core products, the company sold one of the 
European healthy snacking businesses in the second quarter of 2013. The business was sold for €3 million ($4 million) 
resulting in a gain of $1 million recognized in "Other income (expense), net" in the Consolidated Statements of Income. This 
business represented approximately $12 million in net sales and an insignificant contribution to operating income on an annual 
basis. 

HEADQUARTERS RELOCATION

In 2011, the company committed to relocate its corporate headquarters from Cincinnati, Ohio to Charlotte, North 
Carolina, affecting approximately 300 positions. Concurrent with the headquarters relocation, the company further consolidated 
approximately 100 additional positions previously spread across the U.S. to improve execution and accelerate decision-making. 
The relocation was substantially completed in 2012, and the company incurred a total of $26 million of expense and $5 million 
of net capital expenditures related to the relocation through 2013, of which a significant portion is expected to be recaptured 
through state, local and other incentives through 2022. The company does not expect the restructuring activities described 
above to affect the realization of the relocation incentives.

A reconciliation of the accrual for the relocation that is included in "Accrued liabilities" in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheet at December 31, 2013 is as follows:

(In thousands)

One-Time
Termination

Costs

Relocation,
Recruiting

and
Other Costs

Total Exit
Costs

Other
Relocation

Costs Total

December 31, 2010 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —
Amounts expensed 5,303 265 5,568 284 5,852
Amounts paid — (21) (21) (176) (197)

December 31, 2011 $ 5,303 $ 244 $ 5,547 $ 108 $ 5,655
Amounts expensed 2,527 13,129 15,656 4,048 19,704
Amounts paid (5,799) (12,295) (18,094) (4,238) (22,332)

December 31, 2012 $ 2,031 $ 1,078 $ 3,109 $ (82) $ 3,027
Amounts expensed (49) 480 431 82 513
Amounts paid (1,982) (1,558) (3,540) — (3,540)

December 31, 2013 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —

OTHER SEVERANCE

In 2011, the company realigned its value-added salads overhead cost structure and embedded its global innovation and 
marketing functions into its business units to better focus on speed, execution and scalability, and to deliver future operating 
cost savings, particularly in the Salads and Healthy Snacks segment. These actions resulted in $3 million of severance costs 
during 2011, which were recorded in "Cost of sales" and "Selling, general and administrative" in the Consolidated Statements 
of Income.
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Note 4 – Trade and Finance Receivables

TRADE RECEIVABLES

The company's primary markets are in North America and Europe, but it also has sales in the Middle East and other 
markets. The majority of the company's sales in the Middle East are in Iran under license from the U.S. government that allows 
sale of food products to non-sanctioned parties. Sales to Iranian customers are in U.S. dollars and represent $17 million and $20 
million of "Trade receivables, less allowances" on the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2013 and 2012, 
respectively. Even though the sales in Iran are permitted, the international sanctions against Iran affected the ability of certain 
Iranian customers to pay invoices within terms because it became difficult for them to obtain U.S. dollars, euros or other 
suitable currencies in sufficient quantity on a regular basis. Over the course of 2012, the company's receivable balance with 
these customers increased making repayment more difficult, and the company established payment plans with each of these 
customers to reduce their balances. Certain customers have so far been able to find acceptable methods of payment to comply 
with their payment plans. However, some customers have not, and as a result the company recorded a reserve of $9 million in 
2012, with an additional $2 million in 2013 as a result of further delinquency and other repayment risk. The company sources 
bananas from the Philippines for sale in the Middle East under a committed-volume, long-term purchase contract with a former 
joint venture partner through 2016. To mitigate risk, the company has reduced the amount of volume being sent to the Middle 
East and has developed customers in other Middle Eastern markets, such as Iraq and Saudi Arabia. However, Iran remains an 
important market for the company's Philippine-sourced bananas. 

FINANCE RECEIVABLES

Finance receivables were as follows:

 December 31,

 2013 2012

(In thousands)
Grower

Receivables
Seller

Financing
Grower

Receivables
Seller

Financing

Gross receivable $ 35,761 $ 27,127 $ 41,008 $ 30,523
Reserve (32,877) — (36,854) —

Net receivable $ 2,884 $ 27,127 $ 4,154 $ 30,523

Current portion, net $ 2,884 $ 3,990 $ 4,154 $ 3,691
Long-term portion, net — 23,137 — 26,832

Net receivable $ 2,884 $ 27,127 $ 4,154 $ 30,523

Activity in the finance receivable reserve is as follows:

(In thousands) 2013 2012

Reserve at beginning of year $ 36,854 $ 37,519
Charged to costs and expenses 61 933
Recoveries (1,128) (1,597)
Write-offs (2,910) —
Foreign exchange and other — (1)

Reserve at end of year $ 32,877 $ 36,854

Seasonal advances may be made to certain qualified growers of other produce, which are normally collected as the 
produce is harvested and sold. The company generally requires asset liens and pledges of the season's produce as collateral to 
support these advances. If sales of the season's produce do not result in full repayment of the advance, the company may 
exercise the collateral provisions or renegotiate the terms, including terms of interest, to collect the remaining balance. 

The gross grower receivable balance includes $29 million and $30 million (all of which were classified as long-term) 
related to a Chilean grower of grapes and other produce as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. In 2011, the company 
recorded a reserve of $32 million for advances made to this Chilean grower. Late in 2011, the Chilean grower was declared 
bankrupt; the company continues to aggressively negotiate recovery with the bankruptcy trustee and other creditors of the 
grower and has recovered approximately $1 million and $2 million in 2013 and 2012, respectively.
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The company provided seller financing in the 2009 sale of the former joint venture that sourced bananas and pineapples 
from the Philippines for sale in the Middle East and Asia. The financing for the sale of this joint venture is a note receivable in 
equal installments through 2019. Payments are current on this note receivable. At both December 31, 2013 and 2012, the 
current portion of the note receivable is included in "Other receivables, net" and the long-term portion is included in 
"Investments and other assets, net" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The company also provided seller financing in the 
2004 sale of its former Colombian subsidiary in the form of a note receivable, which was fully repaid in July 2012. The terms 
of the seller financing were based on the earnings power of the businesses sold.  

Note 5 — Inventories

Inventories consist of the following:

 December 31,

(In thousands) 2013 2012

Finished goods $ 69,450 $ 74,246
Growing crops 74,985 79,046
Raw materials, supplies and other 66,129 66,749

$ 210,564 $ 220,041

The carrying value of inventories valued by the LIFO method was approximately $105 million and $99 million at 
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. At current costs, these inventories would have been approximately $43 million and 
$44 million higher than the LIFO values at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. There were no LIFO liquidations in 
2013 and 2012. 

Note 6 — Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consist of the following:

 December 31,

(In thousands) 2013 2012

Land $ 39,560 $ 40,810
Buildings and improvements 210,388 183,068
Machinery, equipment and other 433,658 416,814
Containers 22,096 13,404
Cultivations 71,491 63,956

777,193 718,052
Accumulated depreciation (422,637) (381,833)

354,556 336,219
Construction in progress 36,217 59,080

$ 390,773 $ 395,299

Note 7 — Equity Method Investments

The company's primary equity method investment was Danone Chiquita Fruits SAS ("Danone JV"), which was formed in 
May 2010. In the third quarter of 2012, the board of directors of the Danone JV approved a change in strategy and the related 
discontinuation of a key product. As a result, the company determined that the decline in estimated fair value of its equity-
method investment was other than temporary during 2012 and recorded a $32 million loss included in "Equity in (earnings) 
losses of investees" in the Consolidated Statements of Income to fully impair its equity-method investment and related assets 
and to record estimates of probable cash obligations to the Danone JV. As of December 31, 2012, the company had fully 
accrued its obligations to fund the Danone JV and discharged its remaining financial obligations to the equity method 
investment through total contributions of €14 million ($18 million) in 2013. The company made no contributions to the Danone 
JV during 2012 and contributed €3 million ($5 million) during 2011. In March 2013, the Danone JV sold its smoothie 
operations, and the Chiquita brand is now licensed to a third-party manufacturer of smoothies in Europe. In connection with the 
final contribution to the Danone JV in October 2013, the company exited the investment by selling all of its shares in the 
Danone JV to its joint venture partner, Danone. After the sale of the company's interest in the Danone JV, the remaining equity 
method investees are not significant. The company did not record any "Equity in (earnings) losses" from the Danone JV in 
2013 because it had fully impaired its investment and accrued funding obligations in 2012.
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The company's share of the earnings (losses) from all equity method investments was less than $1 million,  $(33) million 
and $(6) million in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively, and its aggregate investment in remaining affiliates totaled $1 million at 
both December 31, 2013 and 2012. The company's undistributed earnings from its equity method investments at December 31, 
2013, 2012 and 2011 were not significant. 

Aggregated and summarized financial information for the company's equity method investments is presented below. 
Assets and liabilities at December 31, 2013 relate only to equity method investees that are not significant because the 
company's ownership in the Danone JV had been disposed prior to this date.

 Years ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Revenue $ 24,322 $ 33,713 $ 43,287
Gross profit 6,568 10,597 11,530
Net income (loss) 11,514 (39,014) (12,824)
 December 31,  

(In thousands) 2013 2012  

Current assets $ 4,636 $ 6,568
Total assets 12,940 29,254
Current liabilities 5,668 51,968
Total liabilities 7,166 53,490

There were no sales by the company to equity method investees and $14 million, $13 million and $14 million of 
purchases by the company from equity method investees for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Note 8 — Goodwill, Trademarks and Intangible Assets

GOODWILL

The company's goodwill is primarily related to its salad operations, Fresh Express, and is included in the Salads and 
Healthy Snacks reportable segment (see Note 18). Further discussion of goodwill impairments is included in Note 1. Activity 
related to goodwill is as follows:

(In thousands)
Gross

Goodwill
Accumulated
Impairment

Net Carrying
Value

Balance at December 31, 2011 $ 551,879 $ (375,295) $ 176,584
  Additions from business acquisitions 395 — 395
  Impairment charges — (158,884) (158,884)

Balance at December 31, 2012 $ 552,274 $ (534,179) $ 18,095
 Business disposal (1,779) 1,779 —

Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 550,495 $ (532,400) $ 18,095

TRADEMARKS 

The company's trademarks for Chiquita and Fresh Express are not amortizable (indefinite-lived). Further information on 
trademark impairments is included in Note 1. Activity related to trademarks is as follows:

Chiquita Trademarks Fresh Express Trademarks

(In thousands)
Gross

Trademarks
Accumulated
Impairment

Gross
Trademarks

Accumulated
Impairment

Net
Trademarks

Balance at December 31, 2011 $ 387,585 $ — $ 61,500 $ — $ 449,085
Impairment charges — — — (23,000) (23,000)

Balance at December 31, 2012 $ 387,585 $ — $ 61,500 $ (23,000) $ 426,085
Impairment charges — — — — —

Balance at December 31, 2013 $ 387,585 $ — $ 61,500 $ (23,000) $ 426,085



OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The company's other intangible assets are also primarily related to Fresh Express and are amortizable (definite-lived). 
Other intangible assets consist of the following:

 December 31,

(In thousands) 2013 2012

Amortized intangible assets:
Customer relationships $ 110,000 $ 110,000
Patented technology 55,123 55,123

165,123 165,123
Accumulated amortization:

Customer relationships (50,647) (44,539)
Patented technology (27,563) (24,305)

(78,210) (68,844)
Other intangible assets, net $ 86,913 $ 96,279

Amortization expense of other intangible assets totaled approximately $9 million in 2013, 2012 and 2011. The estimated 
amortization expense associated with other intangible assets is approximately $9 million in each of the next five years. See 
Note 1 for discussion of impairment reviews.

Note 9 — Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consist of the following:

 December 31,

(In thousands) 2013 2012

Accounts payable:
Trade $ 216,941 $ 243,745
Other 31,332 30,879

$ 248,273 $ 274,624
Accrued liabilities:

Payroll and employee benefit costs $ 48,267 $ 48,148
Other 109,767 92,552

$ 158,034 $ 140,700
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Note 10 — Debt including Capital Lease Obligations

The carrying values of the company's debt and capital lease obligations represent amortized cost and are summarized 
below with estimated fair values:

 December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

 Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated

(In thousands) Value Fair Value1 Value Fair Value1

7.875% Senior Secured Notes due 2021 $ 422,174 $ 459,000 $ — $ —
7½% Senior Notes due 2014 — — 106,438 106,000
4.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2016 164,050 194,000 153,082 174,000
ABL Term Loan 6,375 6,000 — —
Credit Facility Revolver — — 40,000 38,000
Credit Facility Term Loan — — 305,250 296,000
Capital lease obligations2 39,025 39,000 755 700
Less current portion (2,271) (65,008)

Total long-term debt and capital lease obligations $ 629,353 $ 540,517
1 The fair value of the senior notes is based on observable inputs, which include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in an 

active market and market-corroborated inputs (Level 2). All other debt may be traded on the secondary loan market, and the fair 
value is based on either the last available trading price, if recent, or trading prices of comparable debt (Level 3). See also Note 12 
for discussion of fair value.

2 Capital lease obligations at December 31, 2013 include the borrowings for the salad production and warehousing facility in the 
Midwest. See further description of the build-to-suit lease below.

Debt maturities are as follows:

(In thousands)
Long-Term

Debt
Capital
Lease

Obligations Total

2014 $ 1,500 $ 771 $ 2,271
2015 1,500 971 2,471
2016 201,500 830 202,330
2017 1,500 882 2,382
2018 375 915 1,290
Later years 425,000 34,656 459,656

Total cash payments for interest were $47 million, $36 million and $51 million in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

RETIRING OF CREDIT FACILITY AND 7.5% SENIOR NOTES 

In February 2013, the company received $457 million of net proceeds from issuance of the 7.875% Notes and the initial 
borrowings of the ABL Facility (defined below). The proceeds were used to retire the preceding senior secured credit facility 
("Credit Facility") on February 5, 2013 and to deposit in escrow funds sufficient to retire the 7.5% Senior Notes due 2014 
("7.5% Senior Notes") at par plus accrued interest through the March 7, 2013 settlement date. Related expenses of $6 million 
were included in "Loss on debt extinguishment" on the Consolidated Statements of Income and the Consolidated Statements of 
Cash Flow. The loss included the write-off of deferred financing fees relating to the Credit Facility and the 7.5% Senior Notes, 
which were $5 million and $1 million, respectively.

7.875% SENIOR SECURED NOTES

In February 2013, CBII and its main operating subsidiary, Chiquita Brands L.L.C. ("CBL"), completed the offering of 
$425 million of 7.875% senior secured notes due February 1, 2021 ("7.875% Notes"). The notes were issued at 99.274% of par, 
resulting in a recorded discount that will be amortized over the life of the 7.875% Notes to reflect the effective interest rate of 
8.0%. The 7.875% Notes were registered with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission through an exchange 
offer on January 6, 2014, which was completed on February 4, 2014. 

The 7.875% Notes are guaranteed on a senior secured basis by all of CBII's and CBL's existing direct and indirect 
domestic subsidiaries, other than de minimis subsidiaries, and by certain future direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries. The 
7.875% Notes and the guarantees are secured, subject to certain exceptions and permitted liens, on a first-priority basis by liens 
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on CBII's, CBL's and the guarantors' existing and after acquired material domestic real estate, certain intellectual property and 
100% of the stock of substantially all of CBII's and CBL's domestic subsidiaries and up to 65% of the stock of certain foreign 
subsidiaries, with the lien on subsidiary stock limited to less than 20% of the principal amount of the 7.875% Notes. The 
7.875% Notes and the guarantees are secured, on a second-priority basis, by liens on the assets that secure CBII's and CBL's 
obligations under the ABL Facility described below on a first-priority basis, including present and future receivables, inventory, 
equipment and substantially all of CBII's, CBL's and the guarantors' other domestic assets that do not secure the 7.875% Notes 
on a first-priority basis.

The 7.875% Notes bear interest of 7.875% per year (payable semi-annually in arrears on February 1 and August 1 of each 
year). On or before February 1, 2016, CBII and CBL may redeem on one or more occasions up to 35% of the aggregate 
principal amounts with cash proceeds from certain equity sales at a redemption price of 107.875% of the principal amount plus 
accrued interest, provided that at least 65% of the original aggregate principal amount of the 7.875% Notes remains outstanding 
after each such redemption. Also, on or before February 5, 2016, CBII and CBL may redeem a portion of the 7.875% Notes at a 
redemption price of 103% of the principal amount plus accrued interest, provided that no more than $42.5 million aggregate 
principal amount may be redeemed each year.  On January 31, 2014, the company redeemed $10 million of the 7.875% Notes 
at 103% of the principal amount (plus interest to the redemption date), incurring less than $1 million of expense in 2014 for call 
premiums and deferred financing fee write-offs. CBII and CBL may also redeem the 7.875% Notes as follows:

If redeemed during the 12-month period commencing February 1,
Redemption

Price

2016 105.906%
2017 103.938%
2018 101.969%
2019 and thereafter 100.000%

Upon a change of control of CBII, CBII and CBL will be required to make an offer to purchase the notes at 101% of their 
principal amount, plus accrued interest.

The 7.875% Notes contain customary covenants that will, among other things and subject to a number of qualifications 
and exceptions, limit the ability of CBII and its subsidiaries to incur additional indebtedness and issue preferred stock, sell 
assets, make investments or other restricted payments, pay dividends or make distributions in respect of the capital stock of 
CBII and its subsidiaries, create certain liens, merge or consolidate, issue or sell preferred stock of subsidiaries, place limits on 
dividends and other payment restrictions affecting certain subsidiaries, enter into transactions with certain stockholders or 
affiliates and guarantee debt. If the 7.875% Notes are, in the future, rated investment grade by Standard & Poor's Ratings 
Group and Moody's Investors Services, Inc., certain of these covenants will be suspended and will not apply to the 7.875% 
Notes, so long as the 7.875% Notes continue to be rated investment grade by both rating agencies.

The 7.875% Notes include customary events of default, including: failure to pay principal or interest when due; 
acceleration of other debt agreements representing more than $30 million of indebtedness of CBII and CBL and certain 
subsidiaries; failure to pay non-appealable judgments in excess of $30 million against CBII or CBL and certain subsidiaries; 
and certain bankruptcy events. 

4.25% CONVERTIBLE SENIOR NOTES

The company's $200 million of Convertible Notes:
• are convertible at an initial conversion rate of 44.5524 shares of common stock per $1,000 in principal amount, 

equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $22.45 per share of common stock. The conversion 
rate is subject to adjustment based on certain dilutive events, including stock splits, stock dividends and other 
distributions (including cash dividends) in respect of the common stock. Holders of the Convertible Notes may 
tender their notes for conversion between May 15 and August 14, 2016, in multiples of $1,000 in principal 
amount, without limitation. Prior to May 15, 2016, holders of the Convertible Notes may tender the notes for 
conversion only under certain circumstances, in accordance with their terms.

• may be settled, upon conversion, in shares, in cash or in any combination thereof at the company's option; the 
company's current intent and policy is to settle with a cash amount equal to the principal portion together with 
shares of the company's common stock to the extent that the obligation exceeds such principal portion.

• are callable for redemption beginning February 19, 2014, under certain circumstances relating to the company's 
common stock trading price.

• are accounted for in two components: (i) a debt component included in "Long-term debt, net of current portion" 
recorded at the issuance date, representing the estimated fair value of a similar debt instrument without the 
debt-for-equity conversion feature; and (ii) an equity component included in "Capital surplus" representing the 
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issuance date estimated fair value of the conversion feature. This separation results in the debt being carried at a 
discount, which is accreted to the principal amount of the debt component using the effective interest rate 
method over the expected life of the Convertible Notes (through the maturity date).

To estimate the fair value of the debt component upon issuance, the company discounted the principal balance to result in 
an effective interest rate of 12.50%, the rate of similar instruments without the debt-for-equity conversion feature at the 
issuance date; this effective interest rate remains unchanged through the fourth quarter of 2013. The fair value of the equity 
component was estimated as the difference between the full principal amount and the estimated fair value of the debt 
component, net of an allocation of issuance costs and income tax effects. These were Level 3 fair value measurements 
(described in Note 12) and will be reconsidered in the event that any of the Convertible Notes are converted before their 
maturity.

The carrying amounts of the debt and equity components of the Convertible Notes are as follows:

 December 31,

(In thousands) 2013 2012

Principal amount of debt component1 $ 200,000 $ 200,000
Unamortized discount (35,950) (46,918)

Net carrying amount of debt component $ 164,050 $ 153,082

Equity component $ 84,904 $ 84,904
Issuance costs and income taxes (3,210) (3,210)

Equity component, net of issuance costs and income taxes $ 81,694 $ 81,694
1 As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Convertible Notes' “if-converted” value did not exceed their principal amount because the 

company's common stock price was below the conversion price of the Convertible Notes.

The interest expense related to the Convertible Notes was as follows:

 December 31,

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011

4.25% coupon interest $ 8,500 $ 8,500 $ 8,500
Amortization of deferred financing fees 469 469 469
Amortization of discount on the debt component 10,968 9,715 8,606

$ 19,937 $ 18,684 $ 17,575

ASSET-BASED LENDING FACILITY

CBII and CBL also entered into a 5-year secured asset-based lending facility ("ABL Facility") concurrently with the 
closing of the 7.875% Notes offering on February 5, 2013. The ABL Facility consists of a revolver (the "ABL Revolver") and a 
$7.5 million term loan (the "ABL Term Loan"). The ABL Facility matures at the earlier of February 5, 2018 or 60 days prior to 
the maturity of the 4.25% Convertible Senior Notes due August 15, 2016, unless such notes have been satisfactorily refinanced. 
The ABL Term Loan requires annual repayments of approximately $2 million.

The ABL Facility has a maximum borrowing capacity of $150 million, with the ABL Revolver subject to a borrowing 
base calculation based on specified percentages of domestic receivables, certain inventory and certain domestic machinery and 
equipment with the potential for additional advances against foreign receivables.

At December 31, 2013, the borrowing capacity of the ABL was $110 million, including $19 million in the Fixed Asset 
Sub-Line. At December 31, 2013, the ABL Revolver was primarily used to support $23 million letters of credit, leaving an 
available balance of $86 million.

Loans under the ABL Facility bear interest at: 

• A rate equal to LIBOR plus a margin of from 1.75% to 2.25%, or Base Rate plus a margin of from 0.25% to 0.75%, 
determined based on levels of borrowing availability reset each fiscal quarter.
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• In the case of the Fixed Asset Sub-Line, a rate equal to LIBOR plus a margin from 2.25% to 2.75%, or Base Rate plus 
a margin of from 0.75% to 1.25%, determined based on levels of borrowing availability reset each fiscal quarter; and

• In the case of the ABL Term Loan, a rate equal to LIBOR plus a margin from 2.75% to 3.25%, or Base Rate plus a 
margin of from 1.25% to 1.75%, determined based on levels of borrowing availability reset each fiscal quarter.

At December 31, 2013, the weighted average interest rate for the ABL Facility was LIBOR plus 2.75%, or 2.92%.

Obligations under the ABL Facility are secured by a first-priority security interest in present and future domestic 
receivables, inventory, equipment and substantially all other domestic assets that are not under the first-priority security interest 
of the 7.875% Notes, all subject to certain exceptions and permitted liens and by a second-priority interest in the existing and 
after acquired material domestic real estate, certain intellectual property and a pledge of 100% of the stock of substantially all 
of the CBII, CBL and guarantors' domestic subsidiaries and up to 65% of the stock of certain foreign subsidiaries held by CBII, 
CBL and the guarantors, and proceeds relating thereto. Under the ABL Facility, CBL and non-de minimis domestic subsidiaries 
are borrowers. The ABL Facility is guaranteed on a full and unconditional basis by CBII and limited domestic subsidiaries of 
CBII, with the potential for additional guarantees from foreign subsidiaries of CBII. In addition, certain foreign subsidiaries of 
CBII may become borrowers under the ABL Facility, and certain foreign subsidiaries may guarantee those foreign borrowings. 

The ABL Facility contains a fixed charge coverage ratio covenant that only becomes applicable when excess availability 
(as defined under such facility) is less than $20 million. The ABL Facility also contains a covenant requiring CBII and its 
subsidiaries to maintain substantially all its cash in accounts that are subject to the control of the collateral agent under the ABL 
Facility which only becomes applicable when (a) an event of default under the facility occurs and is continuing or (b) excess 
availability (as defined under such facility) is less than 12.5% of the maximum stated revolver amount thereunder. 

The ABL facility also contains other customary affirmative and negative covenants, including limitations on CBII and its 
subsidiaries' ability to incur indebtedness, create or permit the existence of liens over their assets, engage in certain mergers, 
asset sales and liquidations, prepay certain indebtedness, pay dividends and other "restricted payments," and engage in 
transactions with their affiliates, in each case subject to customary exceptions. 

At December 31, 2013, the company was in compliance with the ABL and its other debt agreements and expects to 
remain in compliance for at least the next twelve months.

CREDIT FACILITY 

The Credit Facility, which was retired in February 2013 as discussed above, consisted of a $330 million senior secured 
term loan (the "Credit Facility Term Loan") and a $150 million senior secured revolving credit facility (the "Credit Facility 
Revolver"), both maturing July 26, 2016 (May 1, 2014, if the company did not repay, refinance or otherwise extend the 
maturity of the 7.5% Senior Notes by such date). The interest rate for both the Credit Facility Term Loan and Credit Facility 
Revolver was 5.00% at December 31, 2012. The Credit Facility Term Loan required quarterly principal repayments of $4 
million through June 30, 2013 and quarterly principal repayments of $8 million beginning September 30, 2013 through March 
31, 2016, with any remaining principal balance due at June 30, 2016, subject to the early maturity clause described above. At 
December 31, 2012, there were $40 million of borrowings under the Credit Facility Revolver, in addition to $22 million used to 
support letters of credit, leaving an available balance of $88 million.

BUILD-TO-SUIT LEASE FOR MIDWEST SALAD PLANT CONSOLIDATION

In June 2012, the company entered into a 20-year lease agreement for a salad production and warehousing facility in the 
Midwest that will replace three existing facilities in the region. The lease agreement contains two 5-year extension periods. 
Though the construction costs were financed by the lessor, because of the specialized nature of the facility the company acted 
as the construction agent and was responsible for all construction activity during the construction period. This resulted in the 
company owning the facility for accounting purposes. Construction was substantially completed at December 31, 2013, 
however, the initial interest rate will not be set until finalization of all construction costs, after which the payments will increase 
annually based on the Consumer Price Index ("CPI"). As of December 31, 2013, an interest rate of 9.00% was used to estimate 
the capital lease liability and future minimum payments.
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Estimated future minimum lease payments required under capital lease obligations, primarily related to the Midwest salad 
production and warehousing facility described above, at December 31, 2013 are as follows, assuming no CPI increases:

(In thousands)

2014 $ 4,290
2015 4,427
2016 4,227
2017 4,195
2018 4,145
Later years 65,168

Total minimum payments 86,452
Less: interest 47,427

Capital lease obligation 39,025
Less: current portion 771

Capital lease obligation, net of current portion $ 38,254
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Note 11 — Hedging

Derivative instruments are carried at fair value in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. For derivative instruments that are 
designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gains or losses is deferred as a component of 
"Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)" ("AOCI") and reclassified into net income in the same period during which 
the hedged transaction affects net income. Gains and losses on derivatives representing hedge ineffectiveness are recognized in 
net income currently. See further information regarding fair value measurements of derivatives in Note 12.

To manage its exposure to exchange rates on the conversion of euro-based revenue into U.S. dollars, the company uses 
average rate euro put options, average rate collars (a purchased average rate euro put option paired with a sold average rate euro 
call option) and average rate euro forward contracts. In some cases, the company may enter into an average rate euro put and an 
average rate euro call at the same strike rate to effectively lock in the exchange rate of the notional amount similar to an 
average rate euro forward. Average rate euro put options require an upfront premium payment and reduce the risk of a decline 
in the value of the euro without limiting the benefit of an increase in the value of the euro. Average rate euro call options sold 
by the company require an upfront premium payment to be received from the counterparty and limit the benefit of an increase 
in the value of the euro without limiting the risk of a decline in the value of the euro. Average rate forward contracts lock in the 
value of the euro and do not require an upfront premium. These instruments are designated as cash flow hedges. At 
December 31, 2013, the amount of unrealized net losses on the company's currency hedging portfolio that would be reclassified 
to net income, if realized, in the next twelve months is $6 million; these net losses were deferred in "Accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss)."

In connection with the February 2013 debt refinancing further discussed in Note 10, certain of the company's hedging 
counterparties that were members of the previous Credit Facility were no longer participants in the ABL Facility. Upon 
consummation of the ABL Facility on February 5, 2013, the company transferred all outstanding hedge positions with former 
Credit Facility members to lenders under the ABL Facility. The transferred positions included approximately €71 million 
notional amount of euro call and put options that matured during the first three quarters of 2013. The change in counterparty is 
a change in a critical term resulting in termination of hedge accounting at the transfer date. Due to technical accounting 
requirements, these specific option contracts did not qualify to be re-designated as cash flow hedges at the transfer date. 
Therefore, the decline in fair value of these options through the transfer date was deferred in AOCI until the hedged transaction 
occurred because the related hedged cash flows remained probable of occurrence. However, unrealized changes in fair value 
after the transfer date were recognized currently in "Net sales."

Loss of hedge accounting did not affect the put and call options' purpose of reducing the volatility inherent in exchanging 
euro-based revenue into U.S. dollars or change the ultimate earnings or cash flow recognized upon settlement of each position. 
However, loss of hedge accounting resulted in unintended volatility of quarterly earnings as the company recorded unrealized 
losses in the amount of $2 million throughout the first three quarters of 2013 as the fair market value adjustments after the 
transfer date were recognized in "Net sales." Ultimately, for the year ended December 31, 2013, the effect on earnings was the 
same as if the company had maintained hedge accounting. 

Most of the company's foreign operations use the U.S. dollar as their functional currency. As a result, balance sheet 
translation adjustments due to currency fluctuations are recognized currently in "Cost of sales." To reduce the resulting 
volatility, the company also enters into 30-day euro forward contracts each month to economically hedge the net monetary 
assets exposed to euro exchange rates. These 30-day euro forward contracts are not designated as hedging instruments, and 
gains and losses on these forward contracts are recognized currently in "Cost of sales" as follows:

  Year ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Gains (losses) on 30-day euro forward contracts $ (4,367) $ (2,812) $ 4,267
Gains (losses) from fluctuations in the value of the net monetary assets
exposed to euro exchange rates 2,783 (2,187) (13,115)

The company also enters into bunker fuel forward contracts for its shipping operations, which permit it to lock in fuel 
purchase prices for up to three years and thereby minimize the volatility that changes in fuel prices could have on its operating 
results. These bunker fuel forward contracts are designated as cash flow hedging instruments. In the third quarter of 2013, the 
company determined that the specific future bunker fuel purchases that were hedged using Singapore 180 fuel derivatives were 
no longer probable of occurrence based on modifications to the company's shipping configuration. As a result of this change, 
accounting standards required the company to discontinue hedge accounting and to recognize unrealized net losses in "Cost of 
sales" on its Singapore 180 bunker fuel forward contracts. Unrealized losses recognized as result of discontinuing hedge 
accounting were not significant. In October 2013, the company sold all Singapore 180 fuel derivative outstanding positions at 
an insignificant loss. 
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 At December 31, 2013, the amount of unrealized net losses on the company's bunker fuel hedging portfolio that would 
be reclassified to net income, if realized, in the next twelve months is less than $1 million; these net losses were deferred in 
"Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)."

In 2011, the company reduced its expected total bunker fuel consumption and changed the ports where bunker fuel is 
purchased through the implementation of a new shipping configuration. These changes resulted in recognition of $12 million of 
unrealized gains on bunker fuel contracts in "Cost of sales" in the Consolidated Statements of Income in 2011 originally 
intended to hedge bunker fuel purchases in future periods. These unrealized gains, previously deferred in "Accumulated other 
comprehensive income (loss)," were recognized because the forecasted hedged bunker fuel purchases, as documented by the 
company, became probable not to occur. Cash flow hedging relationships of many of the affected bunker fuel forward contracts 
were reapplied to other bunker fuel purchases, however, accounting standards require these to be based on the market prices at 
the date the new hedging relationships were established, even though there is no change in the hedging instrument. Bunker fuel 
forward contracts that were in excess of expected core fuel demand were sold and gains of $2 million were realized. In 
December 2011, the company sold certain bunker fuel forward contracts representing 74,655 metric tons with maturity dates 
varying from January 2012 to December 2013; because the forecasted hedged transactions were still probable of occurring, the 
effective portion of gains or losses were deferred in "Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)" until each maturity 
date.

At December 31, 2013, the company's hedge portfolio was comprised of the following outstanding positions:

 
Notional
Amount

Contract                                                                                                                                                         
Average

Rate/Price
Settlement

Period

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:
Currency derivatives:

Purchased euro put options €133 million $1.32/€ 2014
Sold euro call options €133 million $1.39/€ 2014
Average rate forward contracts €94 million $1.34/€ 2014
Purchased euro put options €50 million $1.35/€ 20152

Sold euro call options €50 million $1.39/€ 20152

3.5% Rotterdam Barge fuel derivatives:
Bunker fuel forward contracts1 90,504 mt $581/mt 2014
Bunker fuel forward contracts 59,800 mt $556/mt 20152

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:
30-day euro forward contracts €52 million $1.38/€ January 2014

1 As described in the paragraph above, new cash flow hedge relationships were established for certain bunker fuel forward contracts 
in 2011. These changes result in hedge rates for accounting purposes that are different from those in the hedge contract terms.

2 Settlement periods for bunker fuel forward contracts and currency derivatives are through September 2015 and March 2015, 
respectively.
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Activity related to the company's derivative assets and liabilities designated as hedging instruments is as follows:

(In thousands)

Currency
Hedge

Portfolio

Bunker Fuel
Forward
Contracts

Balance at December 31, 2011 $ 5,232 $ 14,754
Realized (gains) losses included in net income (651) (16,053)
Purchases (sales), net2 850 —
Changes in fair value (28,646) 9,871

Balance at December 31, 2012 $ (23,215) $ 8,572
Realized (gains) losses included in net income 22,476 (7,470)
Transfers1 7,638 193
Purchases (sales), net2 1,167 —
Changes in fair value (13,080) (307)

Balance at December 31, 2013 $ (5,014) $ 988
1 Represents the fair value at the transfer date of positions where hedge accounting was terminated. See discussions above.
2 Purchases (sales) represent the cash premiums paid upon the purchase of euro put options or received upon the sale of euro call 

options. Bunker fuel and currency forward contracts require no up-front cash payment and have an initial fair value of zero; 
settlements on the forward contracts (swaps) occur upon their maturity.

Deferred net gains (losses) in "Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)" at December 31, 2013 are expected to 
be reclassified into income as follows in thousands:

Expected
Period of

Recognition

Currency
Hedge

Portfolio

Bunker
Fuel

Forward
Contracts Total

2014 $ (5,708) $ (111) $ (5,819)
2015 (473) 638 165

$ (6,181) $ 527 $ (5,654)

The following table summarizes the effect of the company's derivatives designated as cash flow hedging instruments on 
OCI and earnings:

 Year Ended December 31, 2013 Year Ended December 31, 2012

(In thousands)

Currency
Hedge

Portfolio

Bunker
Fuel

Forward
Contracts Total

Currency
Hedge

Portfolio

Bunker
Fuel

Forward
Contracts Total

Gain (loss) recognized in OCI on
derivative (effective portion) $ (12,559) $ 1,448 $ (11,111) $ (27,467) $ 10,539 $ (16,928)
Gain (loss) reclassified from AOCI into 
income (effective portion)1 (29,858) 7,470 (22,388) 1,240 16,053 17,293
Gain (loss) recognized in income on 
derivative (ineffective portion)1 — (1,562) (1,562) — (668) (668)

1 Both the gain (loss) reclassified from accumulated OCI into income (effective portion) and the gain (loss) recognized in income on 
derivative (ineffective portion), if any, are included in "Net sales" for the currency hedge portfolio and "Cost of sales" for bunker 
fuel forward contracts.

Note 12 — Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is the price to hypothetically sell an asset or transfer a liability in an orderly manner in the principal market for 
that asset or liability. Accounting standards prioritize the use of observable inputs in measuring fair value. The level of a fair 
value measurement is determined entirely by the lowest level input that is significant to the measurement. The three levels are 
(from highest to lowest):

Level 1 – observable prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities;
Level 2 – observable inputs other than quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities, which 
include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in an active market and market-corroborated inputs; and
Level 3 – unobservable inputs.
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The following table summarizes financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value, including derivative instruments on a 
gross basis, and the location of these instruments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2013 and 2012:

  Assets (Liabilities) Fair Value Measurements Using

(In thousands)  at Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

December 31, 2013
Derivatives recorded in "Investments & other assets, net":

Currency hedge portfolio Gross amounts offset in the balance sheets $ (220) — $ (220) —
Bunker fuel forward contracts Gross amounts of recognized assets 953 — 953 —
Bunker fuel forward contracts Gross amounts offset in the balance sheets (100) — (100) —

Net amount recorded in investments & other assets, net 633 — 633 —
Derivatives recorded in "Accrued liabilities":

Currency hedge portfolio Gross amounts offset in the balance sheets 1,250 — 1,250 —
Currency hedge portfolio Gross amounts of recognized liabilities (5,947) — (5,947) —
Bunker fuel forward contracts Gross amounts offset in the balance sheets 778 — 778 —
Bunker fuel forward contracts Gross amounts of recognized liabilities (643) — (643) —
30-day euro forward contracts Gross amounts offset in the balance sheets 245 — 245 —

Net amount recorded in accrued liabilities (4,317) — (4,317) —
Derivatives recorded in "Other liabilities":

Currency hedge portfolio Gross amounts offset in the balance sheets 833 — 833 —
Currency hedge portfolio Gross amounts of recognized liabilities (930) — (930) —

Net amount recorded in other liabilities (97) — (97) —
December 31, 2013 $ (3,781) $ — $ (3,781) $ —

December 31, 2012
Derivatives recorded in "Other current assets":

Currency hedge portfolio Gross amounts of recognized assets $ 192 $ — $ 192 $ —
Currency hedge portfolio Gross amounts offset in the balance sheets (2,550) — (2,550) $ —
Bunker fuel forward contracts Gross amounts of recognized assets 4,001 — 4,001 —
30-day euro forward contracts Gross amounts of recognized assets 4 — 4 —
30-day euro forward contracts Gross amounts offset in the balance sheets (11) — (11) —

Net amount recorded in other current assets 1,636 — 1,636 —
Derivatives recorded in "Investments & other assets, net":

Bunker fuel forward contracts Gross amounts of recognized assets 1,889 — 1,889 —
Bunker fuel forward contracts Gross amounts offset in the balance sheets (1,059) — (1,059) —

Net amount recorded in investments & other assets, net 830 — 830 —
Derivatives recorded in "Accrued liabilities":

Currency hedge portfolio Gross amounts offset in the balance sheets 1,992 — 1,992 —
Currency hedge portfolio Gross amounts of recognized liabilities (22,849) — (22,849) —
Bunker fuel forward contracts Gross amounts offset in the balance sheets 3,741 — 3,741 —
30-day euro forward contracts Gross amounts offset in the balance sheets 1 — 1 —
30-day euro forward contracts Gross amounts of recognized liabilities (24) — (24) —

Net amount recorded in accrued liabilities (17,139) — (17,139) —
Available-for-sale investment recorded in "Other current assets":

Available-for-sale investment 1,668 1,668 — —
December 31, 2012 $ (13,005) $ 1,668 $ (14,673) $ —



Except as described in Note 11, currency hedge portfolio and bunker fuel forward contracts are designated as hedging 
instruments. 30-day euro forward contracts are not designated as hedging instruments. To the extent derivatives in an asset 
position and derivatives in a liability position are with the same counterparty, they are netted in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets because the company enters into master netting arrangements with each of its hedging partners. 

The company values fuel hedging positions by applying an observable discount rate to the current forward prices of 
identical hedge positions. The company values currency hedging positions by utilizing observable or market-corroborated 
inputs such as exchange rates, volatility and forward yield curves. The company trades only with counterparties that meet 
certain liquidity and creditworthiness standards and does not anticipate non-performance by any of these counterparties. The 
company does not require collateral from its counterparties, nor is it obligated to provide collateral when contracts are in a 
liability position. However, consideration of non-performance risk is required when valuing derivative instruments, and the 
company includes an adjustment for non-performance risk in the recognized measure of derivative instruments to reflect the 
full credit default spread ("CDS") applied to a net exposure by counterparty. When there is a net asset position, the company 
uses the counterparty's CDS; when there is a net liability position, the company uses its own estimated CDS. CDS is generally 
not a significant input in measuring fair value and was not significant for any of the company's derivative instruments in any 
period presented. See further discussion and tabular disclosure of hedging activity in Note 11.

Financial instruments not carried at fair value consist of the company's debt. See further fair value discussion and tabular 
disclosure in Note 10.

Fair value measurements of benefit plan assets included in net benefit plan liabilities are based on quoted market prices in 
active markets (Level 1) or quoted prices in inactive markets (Level 2). The carrying amounts of cash and equivalents, accounts 
receivable, other receivables including current and non-current finance receivables and accounts payable approximate fair 
value. Level 3 fair value measurements are used in the impairment reviews of goodwill and intangible assets, which take place 
annually during the fourth quarter, or as circumstances indicate the possibility of impairment. Level 3 fair value measurements 
are also used in measuring impairments related to long-lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
their carrying amounts may not be recoverable.

Note 13 — Operating Leases

Total rental expense consists of the following:

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Gross rentals:
Ships and containers $ 182,998 $ 198,137 $ 175,905
Other 36,682 42,252 40,879

219,680 240,389 216,784
Sublease rentals (4,463) (21,961) (5,416)

$ 215,217 $ 218,428 $ 211,368

The company leases eleven cargo ships (eight refrigerated and three containerized) through mid-2014 under a sale-
leaseback, with options for up to an additional five years. The company also has five additional cargo ships (three refrigerated 
and two containerized) under lease without extension options, with three of these scheduled to expire in late 2014 and two in 
late 2016. No purchase options exist on ships under operating leases. A deferred gain on the 2007 sale-leaseback of eleven 
refrigerated cargo ships is being recognized as a reduction of "Cost of sales" over the base term of the leases, through 2014. In 
2011, the company implemented a new shipping configuration involving shipment of part of its core volume in container 
equipment on board the ships of certain third-party container shipping operators. As a result of this change, five chartered cargo 
ships were subleased until the end of 2012, and eight ship charters were not renewed for 2013. In 2011, the company 
accelerated $4 million of ship charter expense, net of expected sublease income, due to this reconfiguration for two ships that 
were taken out of the company's shipping rotation. In the first quarter of 2012, the other three ships were taken out of the 
shipping rotation, and the company accelerated $6 million of losses on these ship sublease arrangements, net of $2 million of 
related sale-leaseback gain amortization during the sublease period. 

The company also leases more than 14,000 containers and approximately 3,000 to 4,000 generator sets and chassis used 
for inland transportation of these containers. These leases range from 5-8 years and are used for both ocean and ground 
transportation of bananas, other produce and other cargo. Certain of these lease arrangements include financial covenants that 
reference the ABL Facility described in Note 10. At December 31, 2013, the company was in compliance with these financial 
covenants and expects to remain in compliance for at least twelve months from the balance sheet date. 

 A portion of the company's operating leases of containers contain residual value guarantees under which the company 
guarantees a certain minimum value of the containers at the end of the lease. If the company does not exercise its purchase 
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option at the end of the lease, and the lessor cannot sell the containers for at least the guaranteed amount, the company will 
have to pay the difference to the lessor. The company estimates that the residual value guarantees are approximately $18 
million, $16 million and $21 million at December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The company also estimates that the 
fair value of these residual value guarantees are nominal because the fair value of the containers at the end of the lease term is 
expected to exceed the residual value that was guaranteed under the lease. Therefore, the company does not expect to make 
payments under the residual value guarantees and has not recorded a liability in the consolidated financial statements.

Portions of the minimum rental payments for ships constitute reimbursement for ship operating costs paid by the lessor. 
In addition, the company incurs a significant amount of short-term rental expense related to leases of ships and farm land for 
growing lettuce, which are not included in the future minimum rental payments table below.

Future minimum rental payments required under operating leases having initial or remaining non-cancelable lease terms 
in excess of one year at December 31, 2013 are as follows:

(In thousands)
Ships and

Containers Other Total

2014 $ 82,541 $ 24,899 $ 107,440
2015 53,660 19,611 73,271
2016 47,522 17,236 64,758
2017 20,918 15,506 36,424
2018 7,657 13,032 20,689
Later years 2,418 34,454 36,872

Note 14 — Pension and Severance Benefits

The company and its subsidiaries have several defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans covering domestic 
and foreign employees and have severance plans covering Central American employees. Pension plans covering eligible 
salaried and hourly employees and Central American severance plans for all employees call for benefits to be based upon years 
of service and compensation rates. The company uses a December 31 measurement date for all of its plans.
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Pension and severance expense consists of the following:

 Domestic Plans

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Defined benefit and severance plans:
Service cost $ 465 $ 363 $ 447
Interest on projected benefit obligation 892 1,086 1,237
Expected return on plan assets (1,294) (1,477) (1,685)
Recognized actuarial loss 495 374 239

558 346 238
Defined contribution plans 4,803 8,544 8,718

Total pension and severance expense $ 5,361 $ 8,890 $ 8,956

 Foreign Plans

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Defined benefit and severance plans:
Service cost $ 6,992 $ 6,783 $ 6,291
Interest on projected benefit obligation 4,293 3,903 4,044
Expected return on plan assets (33) (32) (34)
Recognized actuarial loss 734 570 647
Amortization of prior service cost 128 128 128

12,114 11,352 11,076
Net settlement gain — — (134)

12,114 11,352 10,942
Defined contribution plans 461 466 428

Total pension and severance expense $ 12,575 $ 11,818 $ 11,370

The company's foreign pension and severance benefit obligations relate primarily to Central American benefits which, in 
accordance with local government regulations, are generally not funded until benefits are paid. Domestic pension plans are 
funded in accordance with the requirements of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act.

In 2011, net settlement gains, as shown above, resulted from severance payments made to employees terminated in 
Panama. There were no net settlement gains in 2012 or 2013.
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Financial information with respect to the company's domestic and foreign defined benefit pension and severance plans is 
as follows:

 

Domestic Plans
Year Ended

December 31,

Foreign Plans
Year Ended

December 31,

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2013 2012

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 19,468 $ 18,505 $ 5,176 $ 5,073
Actual return on plan assets 3,938 2,244 26 47
Employer contributions 839 1,274 6,538 8,372
Benefits paid (2,872) (2,555) (6,228) (8,275)
Foreign exchange — — 47 (41)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 21,373 $ 19,468 $ 5,559 $ 5,176

Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 27,333 $ 26,774 $ 60,685 $ 59,228
Service and interest cost 1,357 1,449 11,290 10,686
Actuarial loss (gain) (2,779) 1,665 1,856 (942)
Benefits paid (2,872) (2,555) (6,228) (8,275)
Foreign exchange — — 208 (12)

Projected benefit obligation at end of year $ 23,039 $ 27,333 $ 67,811 $ 60,685

Plan assets less than projected benefit obligation $ (1,666) $ (7,865) $ (62,252) $ (55,509)

The short-term portion of the foreign plans' unfunded status was approximately $6 million and $5 million as of 
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. There is no short-term portion of the domestic plans' unfunded status at both 
December 31, 2013 and 2012. The foreign plans' accumulated benefit obligation was $51 million and $45 million as of 
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The domestic plans' accumulated benefit obligation was $23 million and $27 
million as of  December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The following weighted-average assumptions were used to determine the projected benefit obligations for the company's 
domestic pension plans and foreign pension and severance plans:

 
Domestic Plans
December 31,

Foreign Plans
December 31,

 2013 2012 2013 2012

Discount rate 4.40% 3.50% 6.90% 6.75%
Rate of compensation increase n/a 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%

The company's long-term rate of return on plan assets is based on the strategic asset allocation and future expected 
returns on plan assets. The following weighted-average assumptions were used to determine the net periodic benefit cost for the 
company's domestic pension plans and foreign pension and severance plans:

 
Domestic Plans
December 31,

Foreign Plans
December 31,

 2013 2012 2013 2012

Discount rate 3.50% 4.25% 6.80% 6.75%
Rate of compensation increase 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%
Long-term rate of return on plan assets 7.00% 8.00% 0.70% 1.00%

Included in "Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)" in the Consolidated Balance Sheets are the following 
amounts that have not yet been recognized in net periodic pension cost:

 December 31,

(In thousands) 2013 2012

Unrecognized actuarial losses $ 18,438 $ 23,156
Unrecognized prior service costs 692 820

The total prior service cost and net actuarial loss included in "Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)" and 
expected to be included in net periodic pension cost during the next twelve months is $1 million.
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The weighted-average asset allocations of the company's domestic pension plans and foreign pension and severance plans 
by asset category are as follows:

 
Domestic Plans
December 31,

Foreign Plans
December 31,

 2013 2012 2013 2012

Asset category:
Equity securities 79% 75% 7% 4%
Fixed income securities 20% 23% 52% 54%
Cash and equivalents 1% 2% 41% 42%

The primary investment objective for the domestic plans is preservation of capital with a reasonable amount of long-term 
growth and income without undue exposure to risk. This is provided by a balanced strategy using fixed income securities, 
equities and cash equivalents. The target allocation of the overall fund is 75% equities and 25% fixed income securities. The 
cash position is maintained at a level sufficient to provide for the liquidity needs of the fund. For the funds covering the foreign 
plans, the asset allocations are primarily mandated by the applicable governments, with an investment objective of minimal risk 
exposure.

Mutual funds, domestic common stock, corporate debt securities and mortgage-backed pass-through securities held in the 
plans are publicly traded and are valued using the net asset value, or closing price of the investment at the measurement date. 
There have been no changes in the methodologies used at December 31, 2013 and 2012. The methods described above may 
produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable value or reflective of future fair values. 
Furthermore, while the company believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, 
the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a 
different fair value measurement at the reporting date.
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The fair values of assets of the company's pension plans were as follows:

  Fair Value Measurements Using

(In thousands) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

December 31, 2013
Domestic pension plans:

Money market accounts $ 297 $ 297 $ — $ —
Mutual funds:

Domestic equity 5,183 5,183 — —
International equity 3,177 3,177 — —
Domestic fixed income 1,489 1,489 — —

Domestic closed end 3,754 3,754 — —
Large-cap common stock 4,712 4,712 — —
Fixed income securities:

Corporate bonds 1,427 — 1,427 —
Mortgage/asset-backed securities 1,023 — 1,023 —
Other 311 — 311 —

Total assets of domestic pension plans 21,373 18,612 2,761 —
Foreign pension and severance plans:

Cash and equivalents 2,282 2,282 — —
Equity 383 383 — —
Fixed income securities 2,894 — 2,894 —

Total assets of foreign pension and severance plans 5,559 2,665 2,894 —
Total assets of pension and severance plans $ 26,932 $ 21,277 $ 5,655 $ —

December 31, 2012
Domestic pension plans:

Money market accounts $ 393 $ 393 $ — $ —
Mutual funds:

Domestic 7,207 7,207 — —
International 2,280 2,280 — —

Large-cap common stock 5,045 5,045 — —
Fixed income securities:

Corporate bonds 2,442 — 2,442 —
Mortgage/asset-backed securities 1,795 — 1,795 —
Other 306 28 278 —

Total assets of domestic pension plans 19,468 14,953 4,515 —
Foreign pension and severance plans:

Cash and equivalents 2,158 2,158 — —
Equity 199 199 — —
Fixed income securities 2,819 — 2,819 —

Total assets of foreign pension and severance plans 5,176 2,357 2,819 —
Total assets of pension and severance plans $ 24,644 $ 17,310 $ 7,334 $ —

The company expects to contribute approximately $1 million, including discretionary contributions, to its domestic 
defined benefit pension plans and expects to contribute approximately $9 million to its foreign pension and severance plans in 
2014.
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Expected benefit payments for the company's domestic defined benefit pension plans and foreign pension and severance 
plans are as follows:

(In thousands)
Domestic

Plans
Foreign
Plans

2014 $ 2,032 $ 9,248
2015 2,008 8,601
2016 1,964 8,693
2017 1,915 8,380
2018 1,864 8,387
2019-2023 8,369 40,146

The company is also a participant in several multiemployer defined benefit plans based in the United Kingdom and the 
United States. Expense is recognized as the company is notified of funding requirements. Expense recognized related to these 
multiemployer plans in 2013, 2012 and 2011 was not significant. The company does not expect future contribution 
requirements to be material.

Note 15 — Income Taxes

"Income tax (expense) benefit" in the Consolidated Statements of Income consists of the following:

December 31,

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Current:
U.S. Federal $ — $ — $ —
U.S. State and local (920) (1,353) (1,564)
International (12,607) (13,569) (11,036)

Total current tax (expense) benefit $ (13,527) $ (14,922) $ (12,600)
Deferred:

U.S. Federal $ — $ (82,098) $ 90,148
U.S. State and local 1,258 (6,456) 7,261
International 7,650 (1,763) (2,609)

Total deferred tax (expense) benefit $ 8,908 $ (90,317) $ 94,800
Total (expense) benefit for income taxes $ (4,619) $ (105,239) $ 82,200

Cash payments for income taxes were $7 million, $8 million and $17 million in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. 
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The components of deferred income taxes included on the Consolidated Balance Sheets are as follows:

 December 31,

(In thousands) 2013 2012

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 264,794 $ 231,326
Other tax carryforwards 4,658 3,065
Employee benefits 30,759 30,040
Accrued expenses 30,937 25,201
Depreciation and amortization 21,517 20,193
Other 16,374 5,067

Total deferred tax assets 369,039 314,892
Valuation allowance (298,704) (246,425)

Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance $ 70,335 $ 68,467
Deferred tax liabilities:

Depreciation and amortization (5,895) (4,097)
Growing crops (18,482) (18,331)
Trademarks (124,402) (127,533)
Discount on Convertible Notes (13,803) (18,285)
Other (1,555) (2,606)

Total deferred tax liabilities (164,137) (170,852)
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (93,802) $ (102,385)

Deferred taxes are included in the following captions in the Consolidated Balance Sheets:

December 31,

(In thousands) 2013 2012

Other current assets $ 6,659 $ 7,406
Investments and other assets, net 3,218 1,837
Deferred income — —
Deferred tax liabilities (103,679) (111,628)

Net deferred tax liability $ (93,802) $ (102,385)

U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards ("NOLs") were $395 million and $352 million as of December 31, 2013 and 
2012, respectively. The U.S. NOLs existing at December 31, 2013 will expire between 2024 and 2034. Foreign NOLs were 
$620 million and $672 million at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. U.S. state NOLs were $373 million and $326 
million as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The U.S. state NOLs will expire between 2014 and 2034. Foreign 
NOLs existing at December 31, 2013 of $457 million will expire between 2014 and 2029. The remaining $163 million of 
foreign NOLs existing at December 31, 2013 have an indefinite carryforward period.

A valuation allowance has been established against most of the company’s U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets, 
which are primarily NOLs. The assessment of the realization of the deferred tax assets was based primarily on the 3-year 
cumulative loss position incurred as of December 31, 2012.  As a result of the negative indicator, all evidence to support the 
realization of the deferred tax assets was reevaluated, including existing deferred tax liabilities, tax planning strategies 
consistent with current business plans and forecasted future taxable income. The primary positive evidence related to forecasts 
of future taxable income; however, accounting guidance restricts the amount of reliance that can be placed on future taxable 
income because it is not objectively verifiable.  A sustained period of profitability in the company's North American businesses 
will be required before the full amount of the valuation allowance would be reversed. Until such time, the utilization of existing 
U.S. net operating losses or generation of additional U.S. net operating losses will not result in income tax expense or benefit as 
the corresponding valuation allowance will be released or established for the same value and as such have a significant impact 
on the company's effective tax rate.

The company's overall effective tax rate may also vary significantly from period to period due to the level and mix of 
income among domestic and foreign jurisdictions and the creation or release of valuation allowance. Many of these foreign 
jurisdictions have tax rates that are lower than the U.S. statutory rate, and the company continues to maintain full valuation 
allowances on deferred tax assets in some of these foreign jurisdictions. Other items that do not otherwise affect the company's 
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earnings can also affect the overall effective tax rate, such as the effect of changing exchange rates on intercompany balances 
that can change the mix of income among domestic and foreign jurisdictions. The 2012 income tax expense also includes $4 
million of out of period adjustment expense. The company does not believe the error was material to any prior or current year 
financial statements. Income before taxes attributable to foreign operations was $86 million, $38 million and $11 million in 
2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. 

Undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries, which were approximately $1.7 billion at December 31, 2013, have been 
permanently reinvested in foreign operations. Accordingly, no provision for U.S. federal and state income taxes has been 
recorded on these earnings.

"Income tax (expense) benefit" differs from income taxes computed at the U.S. federal statutory rate for the following 
reasons:

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Income tax (expense) benefit computed at U.S. federal statutory rate $ 3,918 $ 104,228 $ 8,882
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 219 (5,076) (856)
Impact of foreign operations 10,329 (15,100) (9,750)
Change in tax rates 1 31,462 — —
Change in valuation allowance (52,279) (133,135) 85,375
Goodwill — (52,500) —
Tax contingencies 182 (2,230) (1,167)
Other 1,550 (1,426) (284)

Income tax (expense) benefit $ (4,619) $ (105,239) $ 82,200
1 The change in tax rates relates primarily to Switzerland, which is offset by a corresponding change in the valuation allowance.

At December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, the company had unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $4 million, $6 
million and $4 million, respectively, which could affect the company’s effective tax rate, if recognized. Interest and penalties 
included in “Income tax (expense) benefit” were less than $1 million, less than  $1 million and $2 million in 2013, 2012 and 
2011, respectively, and the cumulative interest and penalties included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2013 
and 2012 were $2 million and $1 million, respectively.

A summary of the activity for the company’s unrecognized tax benefits follows:

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Balance as of beginning of the year $ 5,925 $ 6,308 $ 10,295
Additions of tax positions of prior years 56 3,815 4,955
Settlements — — (5,843)
Reductions due to lapse of the statute of limitations (1,899) (4,196) (3,054)
Foreign currency exchange change (1) (2) (45)

Balance as of end of the year $ 4,081 $ 5,925 $ 6,308
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During the next twelve months, it is reasonably possible that unrecognized tax benefits impacting the effective tax rate 
could be recognized as a result of the expiration of statutes of limitation in the amount of less than $1 million plus accrued 
interest and penalties. 

Additionally, Ecuador is challenging the transfer pricing practices of major banana exporters and has assessed $15 
million of income taxes, penalties and interest related to transfer pricing in 2008 and 2009. The company believes appropriate 
transfer pricing was used and that more likely than not, it will succeed upon appeal. Therefore, the company does not have 
unrecognized tax benefits related to this matter.

The following tax years remain subject to examinations by major tax jurisdictions:

 Tax Years

Tax Jurisdiction:
United States 2010 – current
Germany 2007 – current
Italy 2008 – current
Netherlands 2006 – current
Switzerland 2009 – current
Ecuador 2008 – current

Note 16 — Stock-Based Compensation

The company may issue up to an aggregate of 10.5 million shares of common stock as stock awards (including restricted 
stock units), stock options, performance awards and stock appreciation rights ("SARs") under its stock incentive plan; at 
December 31, 2013, 1.5 million shares were available for future grants. Stock awards and stock options issued to the company's 
chief executive officer are under a separate plan as described in Note 1. Stock options provide for the purchase of shares of 
common stock at fair market value at the date of grant. The company issues new shares when grants of restricted stock units 
vest or when options are exercised under the stock plans. Stock compensation expense totaled $9 million, $8 million and $10 
million for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS INCLUDING PERFORMANCE-BASED RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

The company's share-based awards primarily consist of restricted stock units ("RSU's"), which generally vest over four 
years. The fair value of the awards at the grant date is expensed over the period from the grant date to the date the employee is 
no longer required to provide service to earn the award. Prior to vesting, grantees are not eligible to vote or receive dividends 
on the restricted stock units. 

In the second quarter of 2013, the company granted certain executives performance-based restricted stock units 
("PRSU's"), which include both performance and service conditions. PRSU awards vest upon satisfying Chiquita stock price 
performance metrics as established by the board of directors and meeting the service requirements. Prior to vesting, grantees 
are not eligible to vote or receive dividends on the performance-based restricted stock units. The estimated weighted average 
fair value per unit granted on May 28, 2013 and June 10, 2013 was $9.06 and $9.44, respectively, using a Monte-Carlo 
valuation technique based on market prices and the following assumptions at the dates of grant: weighted average risk-free 
interest rate of 2.2%, dividend yield of 0% and volatility factor for the company's common stock of 49%. The fair value of the 
awards is expensed over the period from the grant date to the date the employee is no longer required to provide service to earn 
the award.
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A summary of the activity and related information for the company's RSU's and PRSU's is follows:

 RSU's PRSU's

(In thousands, except per share amounts) Units

Weighted
average
grant

date price Units

Weighted
average
grant

date price

Unvested units at January 1, 2013 1,351 $ 10.80 — n/a
Units granted 198 7.47 266 9.13
Units vested (621) 11.40 — —
Units forfeited (131) 8.86 (20) 9.06

Unvested units at December 31, 2013 797 $ 9.83 246 $ 9.13

Restricted stock and performance-based restricted stock units compensation expense totaled $6 million, $8 million and $8 
million for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. At December 31, 2013, there was $6 million of 
total unrecognized pre-tax compensation cost related to unvested restricted stock and performance-based restricted stock units. 
This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately two years. The weighted average grant 
date price in 2012 and 2011 was $9.38 and $10.23, respectively. 

LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PROGRAM

The company has established a Long-Term Incentive Program ("LTIP") for certain executive level employees. Awards are 
intended to be performance-based compensation as defined in Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code. As discussed in 
Note 1, LTIP awards cover three year performance cycles and are measured partly on performance criteria (cumulative earnings 
per share and/or cumulative free cash flow generation) and partly on market criteria (total shareholder return relative to a peer 
group of companies). The LTIP allows a portion of the awards to be paid in cash in an amount substantially equal to the 
estimated tax liability triggered by such awards and are therefore liability-classified awards. The awards for the 2009-2011 
performance period were originally accounted for as equity-classified awards, but were modified in 2010 resulting in liability 
classification. Both liability-classified and equity-classified awards recognize the fair value of the award ratably over the 
performance period; however, equity-classified awards only measure the fair value at the grant date, whereas liability-classified 
awards measure the fair value at each reporting date, with changes in the fair value of the award cumulatively adjusted through 
compensation expense each period. For modified awards, expense was recognized at the higher of the two classifications. 

For the 2013-2015 and 2012-2014 periods, up to 0.3 million and 0.2 million shares, respectively, could be awarded 
depending on the company’s achievement of the metrics. The company awarded approximately 0.1 million shares and 
approximately $1 million in cash payments for the 2009-2011 plan in March 2012. No shares and no cash payments for the 
both the 2010-2012 and 2011-2013 plans were awarded. LTIP compensation expense (income) totaled $2 million, $(1) million 
and $2 million for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. 

STOCK OPTIONS

The table below includes hiring inducement stock option grants for 1,440,062 shares made to the company's new chief 
executive officer in October 2012 and the expiration of 325,000 shares made to the company’s former chief executive officer in 
January 2004, both in accordance with New York Stock Exchange rules. In addition, no options were outstanding at 
December 31, 2013 under the stock incentive plan, which excludes options granted to the current and former chief executive 
officers. When issued, these options generally vested over four years and are exercisable for a period not in excess of ten years. 
Options granted to the company's new chief executive officer in October 2012 vest half in each of October 2013 and 2014, 
respectively, and are exercisable through October 2017.
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A summary of the activity and related information for the company's stock options follows:

 2013

(In thousands, except
per share amounts) Shares

Weighted
average
exercise

price

Under option at January 1, 2013 1,827 $ 10.68
Options granted — —
Options exercised — —
Options forfeited or expired (387) 21.85
Under option at December 31, 2013 1,440 $ 7.68
Options exercisable at December 31, 2013 720 $ 7.68

Stock option compensation expense totaled $2 million and less than $1 million for the years ended December 31, 2013 
and 2012; there was no stock option compensation expense during 2011. At December 31, 2013, there was $1 million of total 
unrecognized pre-tax compensation cost related to unvested stock options. This cost is expected to be recognized over a 
weighted-average period of approximately one year. Options outstanding as of December 31, 2013 had a weighted average 
remaining contractual life of four years. Options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2013 had a weighted average 
remaining life of four years and aggregate intrinsic value of $3 million.

The estimated weighted average fair value per option share granted was $2.68 for 2012 using a Black-Scholes option 
pricing model based on market prices and the following assumptions at the date of option grant: weighted average risk-free 
interest rate of 3.4%, dividend yield of 0%, volatility factor for the company's common stock of 50% and a weighted average 
expected life of three years for options not forfeited. There were no stock options granted during 2013 or 2011.

Note 17 — Shareholders' Equity and Reclassifications from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

The company's Certificate of Incorporation authorizes 20 million shares of preferred stock and 150 million shares of 
common stock. At December 31, 2013, shares of common stock were reserved for the following purposes:

Issuance upon conversion of the Convertible Notes (see Note 10) 11.8 million
Issuance upon exercise of stock options and other stock awards (see Note 16) 4.1 million

Gains and losses deferred in "Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)" ("AOCI") are reclassified and recognized 
in the Consolidated Statements of Income when they are realized. The items in the table below do not have an income tax effect 
because they are either permanent differences in the income tax calculation or they relate to jurisdictions where the company 
has established full valuation allowances against its deferred tax assets. Amounts of (income) expense reclassified from AOCI 
are as follows (in thousands):

AOCI Component
Line Items Affected by

Reclassifications from AOCI in the
Consolidated Statements of

Income

(Income) / expense reclassified from AOCI
for the year ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Available-for-sale investment Other income (expense), net $ (561) $ (722) $ —
Currency hedge portfolio derivatives Net sales 29,858 (1,240) (7,805)
Bunker fuel forward contracts Cost of sales (7,839) (16,053) (37,019)
Prior service cost and recognized
actuarial loss amortization related to
pensions* 1,357 789 1,000

* These accumulated other comprehensive income components are included in the computation of net periodic pension cost. See Note 
14 for further details.
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The changes in the components of accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax, for the year ended December 31, 
2013 and 2012 were as follows: 

(In thousands)

Net
cumulative
currency

translation
gains (losses)

Net
unrealized
losses on

qualifying
cash flow

hedges

Unrealized
gains on

available-for-
sale

investment

Net 
unrecognized 
losses related 

to pension 
and severance 

plans (1) Total

Balance at December 31, 2011 $ 74 $ 17,659 $ (818) $ (25,225) $ (8,310)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before
reclassifications (194) (16,928) 1,944 189 (14,989)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated
other comprehensive income — (17,293) (722) 789 (17,226)
Net current-period other comprehensive
income (194) (34,221) 1,222 978 (32,215)

Balance at December 31, 2012 $ (120) $ (16,562) $ 404 $ (24,247) $ (40,525)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before
reclassifications (349) (11,111) 157 3,230 (8,073)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated
other comprehensive income — 22,019 (561) 1,357 22,815
Net current-period other comprehensive
income (349) 10,908 (404) 4,587 14,742

Balance at December 31, 2013 $ (469) $ (5,654) $ — $ (19,660) $ (25,783)

(1) Net of deferred tax liability of $530 thousand, and $283 thousand as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. There was no tax 
impact as of December 31, 2011.

In 2006, the board of directors suspended the payment of dividends. Any future payments of dividends would require 
approval of the board of directors. See Note 10 for further description of limitations on the company's ability to pay dividends 
under the 7.875% Notes and ABL Facility issued in 2013.

Note 18 — Segment Information

The company reports the following three business segments:

• Bananas: Includes the sourcing (purchase and production), transportation, marketing and distribution of bananas.

• Salads and Healthy Snacks: Includes ready-to-eat, packaged salads, referred to in the industry as "value-added 
salads" and other value-added products, such as healthy snacking items, fresh vegetable and fruit ingredients used 
in food service; processed fruit ingredients; and the company's former equity-method investment in the Danone 
JV, which sold Chiquita-branded fruit smoothies in Europe (see Note 7).

• Other Produce: Includes the sourcing, marketing and distribution of whole fresh produce other than bananas. As 
part of the 2012 restructuring plan, the company exited its North American deciduous business at the end of the 
California grape season in December 2012. Beginning in 2013, the primary product of the Other Produce segment 
is pineapples.

Certain corporate expenses are not allocated to the reportable segments and are included in "Corporate costs." Inter-
segment transactions are eliminated.
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Financial information for each segment follows:

(In thousands) Bananas2

Salads and
Healthy
Snacks3

Other
Produce4

Corporate
Costs5 Consolidated

2013
Net sales $ 1,969,560 $ 967,161 $ 120,761 $ — $ 3,057,482
Operating income (loss) 111,569 (7,657) (2,326) (51,741) 49,845
Depreciation and amortization 22,543 38,412 257 4,069 65,281
Equity in earnings of investees 258 — — — 258
Total assets 1,081,531 466,174 27,885 83,548 1,659,138
Expenditures for long-lived assets 26,587 18,757 37 3,673 49,054
2012
Net sales $ 1,985,472 $ 952,882 $ 139,983 $ — 3,078,337
Operating income 77,454 (218,292) (18,120) (94,876) (253,834)
Depreciation and amortization1 23,889 35,867 421 2,977 63,154
Equity in (losses) earnings of investees 344 (33,777) — — (33,433)
Total assets 1,082,685 494,348 33,418 87,311 1,697,762
Expenditures for long-lived assets 23,351 23,070 131 6,888 53,440
2011
Net sales $ 2,022,969 $ 953,464 $ 162,863 $ — 3,139,296
Operating income (loss) 127,175 7,035 (36,757) (63,713) 33,740
Depreciation and amortization1 21,073 36,835 480 2,539 60,927
Equity in (losses) earnings of investees 350 (6,664) — — (6,314)
Total assets 1,122,537 714,129 38,160 63,133 1,937,959
Expenditures for long-lived assets 36,124 33,421 225 5,765 75,535

1 Depreciation and amortization allocations between segments for 2012 and 2011 have been revised. Consolidated totals and 
operating income by segment for both periods did not change. 

2 Bananas operating income includes the acceleration of losses on ship arrangements of $4 million net of sublease income in the 
fourth quarter of 2011 and $6 million net of $2 million of related sale-leaseback gain amortization as described in Note 13.

3 Salads and Healthy Snacks operating income includes charges for $1 million in both 2013 and 2012 primarily related to inventory 
write-offs to exit healthy snacking products that were not sufficiently profitable.  Segment operating income also includes $1 
million of severance expenses in 2013 related to a discontinued product, charges for $1 million to restructure the European healthy 
snacking sales force in 2012, expenses of $1 million related to the closure of a research and development facility in 2012 and $180 
million ($171 million, net of tax) of goodwill and trademark impairments in 2012 as described in Note 1. Segment operating 
income and equity in (losses) earnings of investees include $32 million in 2012 to fully impair the company's equity-method 
investment and related assets and to record estimates of probable cash obligations to the Danone JV as described in Note 7.

4 Other Produce "Cost of sales" includes $1 million related to legal expenses in 2013 and $2 million primarily related to inventory 
write-offs to exit low-margin other produce in 2012. Segment operating income also includes charges for $1 million related to a 
lease accrual in 2012 and a reserve of $32 million for advances made to a Chilean grower in 2011 as described in Note 4.

5 Corporate costs includes "Restructuring and relocation costs" further detailed in Note 3 and $1 million for other relocation and 
hiring expenses in 2013.
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Financial information by geographic area is as follows:

(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011

Net sales:
United States $ 1,858,418 $ 1,773,210 $ 1,793,580

Italy 213,838 213,386 229,138
Germany 172,898 191,673 199,084
Other Core Europe 485,742 549,131 597,343

Total Core Europe1 872,478 954,190 1,025,565
Other international 326,586 350,937 320,151

Foreign net sales 1,199,064 1,305,127 1,345,716
Total net sales $ 3,057,482 $ 3,078,337 $ 3,139,296

1 Core Europe includes the 28 member states of the European Union, Switzerland, Norway and Iceland.

Property, plant and equipment by geographic area:

 December 31,

(In thousands) 2013 2012

Property, plant and equipment, net:
United States $ 221,604 $ 226,587
Central and South America 146,245 142,573
Other international 22,924 26,139

Total property, plant and equipment, net $ 390,773 $ 395,299

The company’s products are sold throughout the world and its principal production and processing operations are 
conducted in the United States and Central America. The company’s earnings are heavily dependent upon products grown and 
purchased in Central and South America. These activities are a significant factor in the economies of the countries where the 
company produces bananas and related products, and are subject to the risks that are inherent in operating in such foreign 
countries, including: government regulation; currency restrictions, fluctuations and other restraints; import and export 
restrictions; burdensome taxes; risks of expropriation; threats to employees; political instability; terrorist activities including 
extortion; and risks of U.S. and foreign governmental action in relation to us. Should such circumstances occur, we might need 
to curtail, cease or alter our activities in a particular region or country. Trade restrictions apply to certain countries, such as Iran 
and Syria, that require U.S. government authorization for sales there; notwithstanding the broad trade sanctions against these 
countries, under current U.S. law and licenses issued thereunder, we are authorized to sell food products to specific customers 
in these countries. Our operations in some Central American countries are dependent upon leases and other agreements with the 
governments of these countries. 

Note 19 — Contingencies   

The company had accruals of $4 million related to contingencies and legal proceedings in Europe at each of 
December 31, 2013 and 2012. While other contingent liabilities described below may be material to the financial statements, 
the company has determined that losses in these matters are not probable and has not accrued any other amounts. Regardless of 
their outcomes, the company has paid, and will likely continue to incur, significant legal and other fees to defend itself in these 
proceedings, which may significantly affect the company's financial statements.

COLOMBIA-RELATED MATTERS
Tort Lawsuits. Between June 2007 and March 2011, nine civil tort lawsuits were filed against the company by Colombian 

nationals in U.S. federal courts. These lawsuits assert claims under various state and federal laws, including the Alien Tort 
Statute (the "ATS lawsuits"). The over 6,000 plaintiffs in the ATS lawsuits claim to be persons injured, or family members or 
legal heirs of individuals allegedly killed or injured, by armed groups that received payments from the company's former 
Colombian subsidiary. The company had voluntarily disclosed these payments to the U.S. Department of Justice as having been 
made by the subsidiary to protect its employees from risks to their safety if the payments were not made. This self-disclosure 
led to the company's 2007 plea to one count of Engaging in Transactions with a Specially-Designated Global Terrorist Group 
without having first obtained a license from the U.S. Department of Treasury's Office of Foreign Assets Control. The plaintiffs 
claim that, as a result of such payments, the company should be held legally responsible for the alleged injuries. Eight of the 
ATS lawsuits seek unspecified compensatory and punitive damages, as well as attorneys' fees and costs, with one seeking treble 
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damages and disgorgement of profits without explanation. The other ATS lawsuit contains a specific demand of $10 million in 
compensatory damages and $10 million in punitive damages for each of the several hundred alleged victims in that suit. The 
company also has received requests to participate in mediation in Colombia concerning similar claims, which could be 
followed by litigation in Colombia. All of the ATS lawsuits have been centralized in the U.S. District Court for the Southern 
District of Florida for consolidated or coordinated pretrial proceedings ("MDL Proceeding"). The company believes the 
plaintiffs' claims are without merit and is defending itself vigorously.

Between June 2011 and March 2012, the court dismissed certain of the plaintiffs' claims, but allowed the plaintiffs to move 
forward with some ATS claims and claims asserted under Colombian law. The company believes it has strong defenses to the 
remaining claims. In March 2012, the court granted the company's motion for interlocutory appeal of legal questions raised by 
the court's refusal to dismiss certain ATS claims, and, in September 2012, the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh 
Circuit granted permission to pursue the interlocutory appeal. The parties have briefed this appeal, and a decision is pending. 
On August 29, 2013, the MDL court dismissed as moot the company's November 4, 2011 motion to dismiss all of the ATS 
lawsuits on forum non conveniens grounds in light of the plaintiffs' subsequent filing of amended complaints. The company's 
motion was dismissed without prejudice to refile after the Eleventh Circuit rules on the company's interlocutory appeal. 

In addition to the ATS lawsuits, between March 2008 and March 2011, four tort lawsuits were filed against the company by 
American citizens who allege that they were kidnapped and held hostage by an armed group in Colombia, or that they are the 
survivors or the estate of a survivor of American nationals kidnapped and/or killed by the same group in Colombia. The 
plaintiffs in these cases make claims under the Antiterrorism Act and state tort laws (the "ATA lawsuits") and contend that the 
company is liable because its former Colombian subsidiary allegedly provided material support to the armed group. The ATA 
lawsuits, which also have been centralized in the MDL Proceeding, seek unspecified compensatory damages, treble damages, 
attorneys' fees and costs and punitive damages. The company believes the plaintiffs' claims are without merit and is defending 
itself vigorously.

In February 2010, the company's motion to dismiss one of the ATA lawsuits was granted in part and denied in part and in 
March 2012, the company's motions to dismiss the other ATA lawsuits were denied. In November 2012, one of the ATA 
lawsuits was dismissed after the parties reached a confidential settlement agreement. In July 2013, the company filed a motion 
for reconsideration of the court's order denying its motions to dismiss the ATA lawsuits and that motion is pending. The 
company believes it has strong defenses to the remaining claims in the ATA lawsuits.

Insurance Recovery. The company has provided notice of the ATS and ATA lawsuits to the insurers that issued primary 
and excess general liability insurance policies during the relevant years. The insurers have either reserved the right to deny 
coverage or denied coverage for these lawsuits. In 2008, the company commenced litigation in state court in Ohio against three 
of its primary insurers seeking coverage for defense costs incurred in connection with the ATA and ATS lawsuits; a fourth 
primary insurer was later joined to that lawsuit. The company entered into settlement agreements under which three of its 
primary insurers agreed to pay, in total, approximately 40 percent of the company's defense costs in the ATA and ATS lawsuits. 
In late 2012, one of these settling insurers paid the full amount of a settlement in an ATA lawsuit. In June 2013, the company 
received notice that the two other settling insurers, which had been paying approximately 1 percent of the company's defense 
costs, had been placed in liquidation. The fourth primary insurer, National Union, did not settle. In March 2013, the Ohio Court 
of Appeals held that National Union is not obligated to provide coverage for defense costs in the ATS and ATA lawsuits. The 
Ohio Supreme Court declined to accept the case for review.

As of December 31, 2013, National Union had paid the company $12 million as reimbursement for defense costs. This 
sum is being deferred in "Accrued Liabilities" on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet because National Union asserts 
that it is entitled to obtain reimbursement of this amount from the company based on the outcome of its appeal in the coverage 
case. In its ruling in March 2013, the Ohio Court of Appeals remanded the case to the trial court to determine whether National 
Union is entitled to repayment of the defense costs that it has already paid. The case is pending on remand.

In August 2013, one of the settling primary insurers, Federal, filed a lawsuit in state court in Ohio seeking a declaratory 
judgment that, based on the Ohio Court of Appeals’ March 2013 decision regarding National Union’s defense obligations, 
Federal has no obligation to provide coverage for any settlements or judgments that may be incurred by the company in the 
ATS and ATA lawsuits. In February 2014, a group of insurers that are affiliated with Travelers and that issued umbrella and 
excess policies to the company filed a lawsuit in state court in Ohio seeking a declaratory judgment that they have no obligation 
to provide coverage for defense costs or settlements or judgments that may be incurred by the company in the ATS and ATA 
lawsuits. The company believes that Federal’s lawsuit  and Travelers' lawsuit are premature and will defend itself vigorously.



Neither the Ohio Court of Appeals’ ruling nor Federal’s lawsuit impacts Federal’s obligation to reimburse 40 percent of 
the company’s defense costs pursuant to the terms of its settlement agreement with Chiquita. There can be no assurance that the 
insurers will provide any additional coverage for these claims.

Colombia Investigation. The Colombian Attorney General's Office has been conducting an investigation into payments 
made by companies in the banana industry to paramilitary groups in Colombia. Included within the scope of the investigation 
are the payments that were the subject of the company's 2007 plea in the United States. In March 2012, the prosecutor in charge 
of the investigation issued a decision which concluded that the company's former Colombian subsidiary had made payments in 
response to extortion demands and that the payments were not illegal under Colombian law. Based on these findings, the 
prosecutor closed the investigation. As provided for under Colombian law, the prosecutor's decision was reviewed by senior 
officials in the Colombian Attorney General's office pursuant to a legal standard specifying that any evidence in the record 
suggesting that a crime may have occurred is sufficient to justify the reopening of the investigation. Applying this standard, in 
December 2012, the Colombian Attorney General's Office determined that the investigation should continue and not be closed. 
The Attorney General's office did not make any finding that persons connected with the company's former Colombian 
subsidiary committed wrongdoing of any kind, only that the matter warrants further investigation. The company believes that it 
has at all times complied with Colombian law.

ITALIAN CUSTOMS AND TAX CASES
1998-2000 Cases. In October 2004, the company's Italian subsidiary, Chiquita Italia, received the first of several notices 

from various customs authorities in Italy stating that it is potentially liable for additional duties and taxes on the import of bananas 
by Socoba S.r.l. ("Socoba") from 1998 to 2000 for sale to Chiquita Italia. The customs authorities claimed that (i) the amounts are 
due because these bananas were imported with licenses (purportedly issued by Spain) that were subsequently determined to have 
been forged and (ii) Chiquita Italia should be jointly liable with Socoba because (a) Socoba was controlled by a former general 
manager of Chiquita Italia and (b) the import transactions benefited Chiquita Italia, which arranged for Socoba to purchase the 
bananas from another subsidiary of the company and, after customs clearance, sell them to Chiquita Italia. Chiquita Italia contested 
these claims, principally on the basis of its good faith belief at the time the import licenses were obtained and used that they were 
valid.

Separate civil customs proceedings were ultimately brought against Chiquita Italia in four Italian jurisdictions, Genoa, Trento, 
Aosta and Alessandria. In Genoa, Chiquita Italia won at the trial level, lost on appeal, and appealed to the Court of Cassation, the 
highest level of appeal in Italy, which issued a decision in favor of Chiquita Italia in September 2013. In Trento, Chiquita Italia 
lost at the trial level, lost at the initial appeal level in a decision published in February 2012 and  appealed to the Court of Cassation 
which issued a decision during the fourth quarter of 2013 in favor of Chiquita Italia as to approximately €5.5 million of the €6.4 
million total claim including interest, with the remaining amount ruled payable by Chiquita Italia from the deposits already made 
in these matters. In both Aosta and Alessandria, Chiquita Italia lost at the trial level, appealed and decisions are pending. Socoba 
brought a claim in Rome trial court (and Chiquita Italia intervened voluntarily) on the issue of whether the forged Spanish licenses 
used by Socoba should be regarded as genuine in view of the apparent inability to distinguish between genuine and forged licenses. 
In an October 2010 decision, the Rome trial court rejected Socoba's claim that the licenses should be considered genuine on the 
basis that Socoba had not sufficiently demonstrated how similar the forged licenses were to genuine Spanish licenses. Socoba has 
appealed this decision. In an unrelated case addressing similar forged Spanish licenses used in Belgium, the EU Commission 
advised the customs authorities the same types of licenses challenged in Italy appeared valid on their face and should be treated 
as genuine. Chiquita Italia brought this finding to the attention of the customs authorities in Genoa and Alessandria. The Alessandria 
customs authorities to date have not applied this decision.
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Under Italian law, the amounts claimed in the Trento, Alessandria Aosta and Genoa cases became due and payable 
notwithstanding any pending appeals. Deposits made in these cases are deferred in "Other current assets" and "Investments and 
other assets, net" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets pending resolution of the appeals process. If Chiquita Italia ultimately 
prevails , all amounts deposited will be reimbursed with interest or applied to other outstanding tax deposit obligations. A summary 
of claims and deposits paid as of December 31, 2013 is as follows:

Claim
(In millions)

Interest and 
Penalties 
Claimed

(In millions)
Total Claim
(In millions)

Deposits Paid 
Pending Appeal

(In millions)

Trento
(Resolved)

€3.3 €3.1 €6.4 €6.4 Following the decisions in
Trento, Chiquita Italia is
entitled to claim
reimbursement of
approximately €5.5 million of
the deposited amounts plus
interest (or to apply to deposit
requirements in other matters).

Alessandria €0.3 €0.2 €0.5 €0.5 Deposits paid in 36 equal
monthly installments ended
March 2012.

Aosta €1.2 €1.2 €2.4 €1.0 Monthly deposit payments of
€34 thousand began in
November 2012. In December
2013 €589k was compensated
from the Tax assessment 2004
payments.

Genoa
(Resolved)

€7.4 €1.0 €8.4 €1.6 Following the decision in
Genoa in favor of Chiquita
Italia, Chiquita Italia is entitled
to claim reimbursement of
deposited amounts plus
interest.  The paid amounts
will be utilized to offset
pending payment plans (or to
apply to deposit requirements
in other matters).

2004-2005 Cases. In 2008, Chiquita Italia was required to provide documents and information to the Italian fiscal police in 
connection with a criminal investigation into imports of bananas by Chiquita Italia during 2004 and 2005, and the payment of 
customs duties on these imports. The focus of the investigation was an importation process whereby the company sold some of 
its bananas to holders of import licenses who imported the bananas and resold them to Chiquita Italia (indirect import challenge), 
a practice the company believes was legitimate under both Italian and EU law and which was widely accepted by authorities across 
the EU and by the EC. In June 2012, the Italian courts acquitted Chiquita Italia parties of all charges relating to 2004, and in 
December 2013 relating to 2005. There are no further criminal charges pending. 
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Tax authorities issued assessment notices for 2004 and 2005, which were appealed to the first level Rome tax court; in June 
2011, the court rejected the appeal for 2004. Chiquita Italia appealed this decision and, in October 2012, the appeals court ruled 
in favor of Chiquita Italia with respect to 2004. A significant portion of the 2005 income tax assessment has been withdrawn by 
the tax authorities and an appeal for the remaining portion is pending. Separately, customs authorities have also issued assessments 
for these cases. Chiquita Italia's appeals of these customs assessments were rejected by the first level Rome tax court and the 
regional court. Chiquita Italia has appealed these decisions to the Court of Cassation, the highest level of appeal in Italy. In each 
case, Chiquita Italia has received payment notifications from the tax and customs authorities, but the 2004 tax assessment has been 
annulled based on the October 2012 appeals court ruling and the company is claiming reimbursement of payments made. Deposits 
made under these cases are deferred in "Other current assets" and "Investments and other assets, net" on the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets pending resolution of the appeals process. If Chiquita Italia ultimately prevails in its appeals, all amounts deposited will 
be reimbursed with interest. A summary of assessments and deposits paid is as follows:

Assessment
(In millions)

Interest and 
Penalties 
Assessed

(In millions)

Total 
Assessment
(In millions)

Deposits Paid 
Pending Appeal

(In millions)

Income Tax
Assessment
for
2004/2005

€12.0 €19.1 €31.1 €0.9 Monthly deposit payments of
€113 thousand began in March
2012. The appeals court ruled
in favor of Chiquita Italia in
October 2012 for the 2004
assessments and a significant
portion of the 2005
assessments have been
withdrawn. The company has
requested relief from these
payments and reimbursement.

Customs Tax
Assessment
for
2004/2005

€18.2 €10.2 €28.4 €11.8 Monthly deposit payments of 
€350 thousand began in 
September 2011 and will 
continue through September 
2017, unless a successful 
appeals process is completed 
sooner.

The fiscal police investigation also challenged the involvement of an entity of the company incorporated in Bermuda in the 
sale of bananas directly to Chiquita Italia (direct import challenge), as a result of which the tax authorities claimed additional taxes 
of €13 million ($17 million) for 2004 and €19 million ($26 million) for 2005, plus interest and penalties. In order to avoid a long 
and costly tax dispute, in April 2011, Chiquita Italia reached an agreement in principle with the Italian tax authorities to settle the 
dispute and recorded expense for the settlements at that time. Under the settlement, the tax authorities agreed that the Bermuda 
corporation's involvement in the importation of bananas was appropriate and Chiquita Italia agreed to an adjustment to the 
intercompany price paid by Chiquita Italia for the imported bananas it purchased from this company, resulting in a higher income 
tax liability for those years. Chiquita Italia paid a settlement of €3 million ($4 million) of additional income tax for 2004 and 2005, 
including interest and penalties, which was significantly below the amounts originally claimed. The portion of the settlement for 
2005 is still subject to approval by the Rome tax court which is expected in due course. As part of the settlement, Chiquita Italia 
also agreed to an adjustment to its intercompany purchases of bananas for the years 2006 through 2009, resulting in payments in 
June and July 2011 of €2 million ($3 million) of additional tax and interest to fully settle those years. The indirect import challenge 
described above is not part of the settlement.

Chiquita Italia continues to believe that it acted properly and that all the transactions for which it has received assessment 
notices were legitimate and reported appropriately, and, aside from those issues already settled, continues to vigorously defend 
the transactions at issue.

CONSUMPTION TAX REFUNDS

The company has and has had several open cases seeking the refund of certain consumption taxes paid between 1980 and 
1990 in various Italian jurisdictions. As gain contingencies, these refunds and any related interest are recognized when realized 
and all gain contingencies have been removed. In January 2012, the company received €20 million ($28 million) related to a 
favorable decision from a court in Salerno, Italy. The claim is not considered resolved or realized, as the decision has been appealed 
to a higher court. Consequently, the receipt of cash has been deferred in "Other liabilities" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 
Decisions in one jurisdiction have no binding effect on pending claims in other jurisdictions and all unresolved claims may take 
years to resolve. If the Company were to lose on appeal, it may be required to repay the consumption tax refunds received. 
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Note 20 — Supplemental Consolidating Financial Information

In connection with the issuance of the 7.875% Notes, certain of Chiquita’s domestic subsidiaries (the "Guarantor 
Subsidiaries"), fully, unconditionally, jointly, and severally guaranteed the payment obligations under the notes. The following 
supplemental financial information sets forth, on a consolidating basis, the balance sheets, statements of income, statements of 
comprehensive income and statements of cash flows for Chiquita Brands International, Inc. ("CBII" or the "Parent Company"), 
for Chiquita Brands L.L.C. ("CBLLC" or the "Co-Issuer"), for the Guarantor Subsidiaries and for Chiquita’s other subsidiaries 
(the "Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries").

The supplemental condensed consolidating financial information has been prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations 
for condensed financial information and does not include disclosures included in annual financial statements. Investments in 
consolidated subsidiaries have been presented under the equity method of accounting. The principal eliminating entries 
eliminate investments in subsidiaries, intercompany balances and intercompany revenues and expenses. The condensed 
financial information may not necessarily be indicative of the results of operations or financial position had the guarantor or 
non-guarantor subsidiaries operated as independent entities.

Chiquita Brands International, Inc.

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Income

Year Ended December 31, 2013

(in thousands)

CBII CBLLC Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating Company

(Co-issuer) (Co-issuer) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Net sales $ — $ 789,846 $ 1,231,560 $ 1,981,726 $ (945,650) $ 3,057,482

Cost of sales — 774,653 1,102,136 1,777,275 (945,636) 2,708,428

Selling, general and administrative 36,970 15,726 90,747 91,330 — 234,773

Depreciation — 5,604 27,958 22,353 — 55,915

Amortization — — 9,342 24 — 9,366
Equity in losses (earnings) of
investees and subsidiaries (48,128) (97,089) (24) (258) 145,241 (258)
Reserve for (recovery of) grower
receivables, net — — (1,067) — — (1,067)

Restructuring and relocation costs (15) 353 145 (3) — 480
Gain on deconsolidation of European
smoothie business — — — — — —

Goodwill and trademark impairment — — — — — —

Operating income (loss) 11,173 90,599 2,323 91,005 (145,255) 49,845

Interest income — 17 171 2,668 — 2,856

Interest expense (22,563) (36,913) (1,630) (38) — (61,144)

Loss on debt extinguishment (843) (5,432) — — — (6,275)

Other income (expense), net 1,037 (143) 180 2,434 14 3,522
Income (loss) from continuing
operations before income taxes (11,196) 48,128 1,044 96,069 (145,241) (11,196)

Income tax (expense) benefit (4,619) 19,461 (1,240) (7,619) (10,602) (4,619)
Income (loss) from continuing
operations (15,815) 67,589 (196) 88,450 (155,843) (15,815)

Loss from discontinued operations,
net of income taxes — — — — — —

Net income (loss) $ (15,815) $ 67,589 $ (196) $ 88,450 $ (155,843) $ (15,815)



Chiquita Brands International, Inc.

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Income

Year Ended December 31, 2013

(in thousands)

CBII CBLLC Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating Company

(Co-issuer) (Co-issuer) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Net income (loss) $ (15,815) $ 67,589 $ (196) $ 88,450 $ (155,843) $ (15,815)
Other comprehensive income (loss),
net of tax where applicable:

Unrealized foreign currency
translation gains (losses) — — — (349) — (349)

Change in fair value of available-
for-sale investment 157 — — — — 157
Realized gains of available-for-sale
investment reclassified into Other
income (expense), net (561) — — — — (561)

Net other comprehensive income
(loss) related to available-for-sale
investment (404) — — — — (404)

Unrealized losses on derivatives for
the period — — — (11,111) — (11,111)
Derivative (gains) losses reclassified
into Net sales — — — 29,858 — 29,858
Derivative gains reclassified into
Cost of sales — — — (7,839) — (7,839)

Net other comprehensive income
(loss) related to derivatives — — — 10,908 — 10,908

Actuarial gains (losses) for the
period, net of tax — 5,697 — (2,467) — 3,230

Pension cost amortization — 496 — 861 — 1,357
Net other comprehensive income
(loss) related to defined benefit
pension and severance plans — 6,193 — (1,606) — 4,587

Other comprehensive income (loss)
of investments in subsidiaries 15,146 8,953 — — (24,099) —

Comprehensive income (loss) $ (1,073) $ 82,735 $ (196) $ 97,403 $ (179,942) $ (1,073)
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Chiquita Brands International, Inc.

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Income

Year Ended December 31, 2012

(in thousands)

CBII CBLLC Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating Company

(Co-issuer) (Co-issuer) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Net sales $ — $ 707,939 $ 1,248,854 $ 1,987,888 $ (866,344) $ 3,078,337

Cost of sales 521 657,836 1,109,273 1,842,302 (866,892) 2,743,040

Selling, general and administrative 41,335 26,146 97,006 111,408 — 275,895

Depreciation — 3,998 28,678 21,060 — 53,736

Amortization — — 9,394 24 — 9,418
Equity in losses (earnings) of
investees and subsidiaries 220,010 215,479 (929) 33,433 (434,560) 33,433
Reserve for (recovery of) grower
receivables, net — — (869) 205 — (664)

Restructuring and relocation costs 11,065 6,391 13,182 4,791 — 35,429
Gain on deconsolidation of European
smoothie business — — — — — —

Goodwill and trademark impairment — — 180,105 1,779 — 181,884

Operating income (loss) (272,931) (201,911) (186,986) (27,114) 435,108 (253,834)

Interest income — 24 198 2,909 — 3,131

Interest expense (27,167) (17,813) (80) (239) — (45,299)

Loss on debt extinguishment — — — — — —

Other income (expense), net 320 (310) 1,028 (2,283) (548) (1,793)
Income (loss) from continuing
operations before income taxes (299,778) (220,010) (185,840) (26,727) 434,560 (297,795)

Income tax (expense) benefit (105,239) (3,604) 17,855 (17,553) 3,302 (105,239)
Income (loss) from continuing
operations (405,017) (223,614) (167,985) (44,280) 437,862 (403,034)

Loss from discontinued operations,
net of income taxes — — — (1,983) — (1,983)

Net income (loss) $ (405,017) $ (223,614) $ (167,985) $ (46,263) $ 437,862 $ (405,017)
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Chiquita Brands International, Inc.

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Income

Year Ended December 31, 2012

(in thousands)

CBII CBLLC Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating Company

(Co-issuer) (Co-issuer) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Net income (loss) $ (405,017) $ (223,614) $ (167,985) $ (46,263) $ 437,862 $ (405,017)
Other comprehensive income (loss),
net of tax where applicable:

Unrealized foreign currency
translation gains (losses) — — — (194) — (194)

Change in fair value of available-
for-sale investment 1,944 — — — — 1,944
Realized gains of available-for-sale
investment reclassified into Other
income (expense), net (722) — — — — (722)

Net other comprehensive income
(loss) related to available-for-sale
investment 1,222 — — — — 1,222

Unrealized gains (losses) on
derivatives for the period — — — (16,928) — (16,928)
Derivative (gains) losses reclassified
into Net Sales — — — (1,240) — (1,240)
Derivative gains reclassified into
Cost of sales — — — (16,053) — (16,053)

Unrealized gains (losses) on
derivatives — — — (34,221) — (34,221)

Actuarial gains (losses) for the
period, net of tax — (898) — 1,087 — 189

Pension cost amortization — 374 — 415 — 789
Net other comprehensive income
(loss) related to defined benefit
pension and severance plans — (524) — 1,502 — 978

Other comprehensive income (loss)
of investments in subsidiaries (33,437) (32,913) — — 66,350 —

Comprehensive income (loss) $ (437,232) $ (257,051) $ (167,985) $ (79,176) $ 504,212 $ (437,232)
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Chiquita Brands International, Inc.

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Income

Year Ended December 31, 2011

(in thousands)

CBII CBLLC Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating Company

(Co-issuer) (Co-issuer) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Net sales $ — $ 729,175 $ 1,262,295 $ 1,971,918 $ (824,092) $ 3,139,296

Cost of sales — 615,927 1,100,168 1,806,276 (824,340) 2,698,031

Selling, general and administrative 44,815 22,070 114,899 119,681 — 301,465

Depreciation — 4,150 28,959 18,424 — 51,533

Amortization — — 9,394 — — 9,394
Equity in losses (earnings) of
investees and subsidiaries 63,937 1,145 295 6,314 (65,377) 6,314
Reserve for (recovery of) grower
receivables, net — — 32,762 205 — 32,967

Restructuring and relocation costs 2,714 913 1,963 262 — 5,852
Gain on deconsolidation of European
smoothie business — — — — — —

Goodwill and trademark impairment — — — — — —

Operating income (loss) (111,466) 84,970 (26,145) 20,756 65,625 33,740

Interest income — 123 317 3,764 — 4,204

Interest expense (39,702) (11,209) (79) (596) — (51,586)

Loss on debt extinguishment (9,025) (2,697) — — — (11,722)

Other income (expense), net 134,829 (135,124) 672 (80) (297) —
Income (loss) from continuing
operations before income taxes (25,364) (63,937) (25,235) 23,844 65,328 (25,364)

Income tax (expense) benefit 82,200 (41,041) (3,317) (15,443) 59,801 82,200
Income (loss) from continuing
operations 56,836 (104,978) (28,552) 8,401 125,129 56,836

Loss from discontinued operations,
net of income taxes — — — — — —

Net income (loss) $ 56,836 $ (104,978) $ (28,552) $ 8,401 $ 125,129 $ 56,836
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Chiquita Brands International, Inc.

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Income

Year Ended December 31, 2011

(in thousands)

CBII CBLLC Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating Company

(Co-issuer) (Co-issuer) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Net income (loss) $ 56,836 $ (104,978) $ (28,552) $ 8,401 $ 125,129 $ 56,836
Other comprehensive income (loss),
net of tax where applicable:

Unrealized foreign currency
translation gains (losses) — — — 241 — 241

Change in fair value of available-
for-sale investment (224) — — — — (224)
Realized gains of available-for-sale
investment reclassified into Other
income (expense), net — — — — — —

Net other comprehensive income
(loss) related to available-for-sale
investment (224) — — — — (224)

Unrealized gains (losses) on
derivatives for the period — — — 38,903 — 38,903
Derivative (gains) losses reclassified
into Net Sales — — — (7,805) — (7,805)
Derivative gains reclassified into
Cost of sales — — — (37,019) — (37,019)

Unrealized gains (losses) on
derivatives — — — (5,921) — (5,921)

Actuarial gains (losses) for the
period, net of tax — (3,777) — (69) — (3,846)

Pension cost amortization — 224 — 776 — 1,000
Net other comprehensive income
(loss) related to defined benefit
pension and severance plans — (3,553) — 707 — (2,846)

Other comprehensive income (loss)
of investments in subsidiaries (8,526) (4,973) — — 13,499 —

Comprehensive income (loss) $ 48,086 $ (113,504) $ (28,552) $ 3,428 $ 138,628 $ 48,086
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Chiquita Brands International, Inc.

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

December 31, 2013
(in thousands)

CBII CBLLC Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating Company

(Co-Issuer) (Co-issuer) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and equivalents $ — $ 15,851 $ — $ 38,166 $ — $ 54,017

Trade receivables, less allowances — 49,325 51,189 151,554 — 252,068

Other receivables, net 1,061 402 5,140 49,670 — 56,273

Inventories — 15,567 34,831 160,166 — 210,564

Prepaid expenses 1,024 3,661 11,040 34,008 — 49,733

Due from affiliates 68,194 2,060,284 1,270,479 490,208 (3,889,165) —

Other current assets — 2,751 12,753 — (8,964) 6,540

          Total current assets 70,279 2,147,841 1,385,432 923,772 (3,898,129) 629,195

Property, plant and equipment, net — 20,258 201,346 169,169 — 390,773

Investments and other assets, net 15,445 19,548 3,644 75,218 (5,778) 108,077

Trademarks — 208,085 38,500 179,500 — 426,085

Goodwill — — 18,095 — — 18,095

Other intangible assets, net — — 86,853 60 — 86,913
Investments in and accounts with
subsidiaries 1,402,089 1,073,711 3,186 — (2,478,986) —

          Total assets $ 1,487,813 $ 3,469,443 $ 1,737,056 $ 1,347,719 $ (6,382,893) $ 1,659,138

LIABILITIES AND
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt
and capital lease obligations $ — $ 1,500 $ 726 $ 45 $ — $ 2,271

Accounts payable 1,126 8,150 89,352 149,645 — 248,273

Accrued liabilities 27,547 36,384 57,984 45,083 (8,964) 158,034

Due to affiliates 903,865 1,517,129 1,122,258 345,913 (3,889,165) —
Total current liabilities 932,538 1,563,163 1,270,320 540,686 (3,898,129) 408,578

Long-term debt and capital lease
obligations, net of current portion 164,050 427,049 38,147 107 — 629,353
Accrued pension and other employee
benefits 15,223 2,818 — 59,025 — 77,066

Deferred gain - sale of shipping fleet — — — 6,290 — 6,290

Deferred tax liabilities 115 66,142 42,539 661 (5,778) 103,679

Other liabilities 1,449 8,182 8,885 41,218 — 59,734

Total liabilities 1,113,375 2,067,354 1,359,891 647,987 (3,903,907) 1,284,700

Commitments and contingencies — — — — — —

Total shareholders' equity 374,438 1,402,089 377,165 699,732 (2,478,986) 374,438
Total liabilities and shareholders'
equity $ 1,487,813 $ 3,469,443 $ 1,737,056 $ 1,347,719 $ (6,382,893) $ 1,659,138
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Chiquita Brands International, Inc.

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

December 31, 2012
(in thousands)

CBII CBLLC Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating Company

(Co-Issuer) (Co-issuer) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and equivalents $ 2,601 $ 12,704 $ — $ 35,721 $ — $ 51,026

Trade receivables, less allowances — 43,847 56,551 184,753 — 285,151

Other receivables, net 359 1,275 6,033 57,442 — 65,109

Inventories — 10,033 40,313 169,695 — 220,041

Prepaid expenses 628 3,922 8,982 27,282 — 40,814

Due from affiliates 93,502 1,683,425 1,011,067 368,329 (3,156,323) —

Other current assets — 1,636 17,257 9,365 (9,923) 18,335

          Total current assets 97,090 1,756,842 1,140,203 852,587 (3,166,246) 680,476

Property, plant and equipment, net — 24,885 201,702 168,712 — 395,299

Investments and other assets, net 18,919 20,542 4,484 50,716 (13,133) 81,528

Trademarks — 208,085 38,500 179,500 — 426,085

Goodwill — — 18,095 — — 18,095

Other intangible assets, net — — 96,195 84 — 96,279
Investments in and accounts with
subsidiaries 1,316,926 976,368 3,162 — (2,296,456) —

          Total assets $ 1,432,935 $ 2,986,722 $ 1,502,341 $ 1,251,599 $ (5,475,835) $ 1,697,762

LIABILITIES AND
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt
and capital lease obligations $ — $ 64,749 $ 206 $ 53 $ — $ 65,008

Accounts payable 1,809 9,620 80,466 182,729 — 274,624

Accrued liabilities 13,554 41,114 55,382 40,573 (9,923) 140,700

Due to affiliates 762,957 1,178,596 906,288 308,482 (3,156,323) —

Total current liabilities 778,320 1,294,079 1,042,342 531,837 (3,166,246) 480,332
Long-term debt and capital lease
obligations, net of current portion 259,520 280,500 488 9 — 540,517
Accrued pension and other employee
benefits 13,317 8,149 — 53,678 — 75,144

Deferred gain - sale of shipping fleet — — — 20,204 — 20,204

Deferred tax liabilities 115 79,488 39,302 5,856 (13,133) 111,628

Other liabilities 11,261 7,580 43,680 37,014 — 99,535

Total liabilities 1,062,533 1,669,796 1,125,812 648,598 (3,179,379) 1,327,360

Commitments and contingencies — — — — — —

Total shareholders' equity 370,402 1,316,926 376,529 603,001 (2,296,456) 370,402
Total liabilities and shareholders'
equity $ 1,432,935 $ 2,986,722 $ 1,502,341 $ 1,251,599 $ (5,475,835) $ 1,697,762



76  Chiquita Brands International, Inc.  –  2013 Annual Report  

Chiquita Brands International, Inc.
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31, 2013
(in thousands)

CBII CBLLC Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating Company
(Co-Issuer) (Co-Issuer) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Cash provided (used) by:
Operating cash flow $ (4,420) $ 49,260 $ 3,698 $ 42,941 $ — $ 91,479

Capital expenditures — (3,673) (19,167) (26,214) — (49,054)
Contribution to equity method
investment — — — (18,422) — (18,422)
Net proceeds from sale of:

Equity method investments — — — 3,396 — 3,396
Other long-term assets 1,819 — 7,645 313 — 9,777

Investing activity with subsidiaries — — 8,027 — (8,027) —
Other, net — — — 3,541 — 3,541

Investing cash flow 1,819 (3,673) (3,495) (37,386) (8,027) (50,762)

Issuances of long-term debt — 429,415 — — — 429,415
Repayments of long-term debt and
capital lease obligations — (412,901) (203) (86) — (413,190)
Borrowings under the ABL
Revolver — 36,590 — — — 36,590
Repayments of the ABL Revolver — (36,590) — — — (36,590)
Repayments of the Credit Facility
Revolver — (40,000) — — — (40,000)
Payments for debt modification and
issuance costs — (13,951) — — — (13,951)
Financing activity with subsidiaries — (5,003) — (3,024) 8,027 —

Financing cash flow — (42,440) (203) (3,110) 8,027 (37,726)
Increase (decrease) in cash and
equivalents (2,601) 3,147 — 2,445 — 2,991

Cash and equivalents, beginning of
period 2,601 12,704 — 35,721 — 51,026
Cash and equivalents, end of period $ — $ 15,851 $ — $ 38,166 $ — $ 54,017
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Chiquita Brands International, Inc.
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31, 2012
(in thousands)

CBII CBLLC Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating Company
(Co-Issuer) (Co-Issuer) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Cash provided (used) by:
Operating cash flow $ — $ (12,756) $ 25,134 $ 20,199 $ — $ 32,577

Capital expenditures — (6,888) (19,728) (26,824) — (53,440)
Net proceeds from sale of:

Equity method investments — — — 3,142 — 3,142
Other long-term assets 2,601 — 1,341 1,051 — 4,993

Investing activity with subsidiaries — — (6,710) — 6,710 —
Other, net — — — (2,334) — (2,334)

Investing cash flow 2,601 (6,888) (25,097) (24,965) 6,710 (47,639)

Repayments of long-term debt and
capital lease obligations — (16,500) (37) (231) — (16,768)
Borrowings under the Credit
Facility Revolver — 70,000 — — — 70,000
Repayments of the Credit Facility
Revolver — (30,000) — — — (30,000)
Payments for debt modification and
issuance costs — (2,405) — — — (2,405)
Financing activity with subsidiaries — 2,481 — 4,229 (6,710) —

Financing cash flow — 23,576 (37) 3,998 (6,710) 20,827
Increase (decrease) in cash and
equivalents 2,601 3,932 — (768) — 5,765

Cash and equivalents, beginning of
period — 8,772 — 36,489 — 45,261
Cash and equivalents, end of period $ 2,601 $ 12,704 $ — $ 35,721 $ — $ 51,026
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Chiquita Brands International, Inc.
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flow

Year Ended December 31, 2011
(in thousands)

CBII CBLLC Guarantor Non-Guarantor Consolidating Company
(Co-Issuer) (Co-Issuer) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Cash provided (used) by:
Operating cash flow $ — $ 1,212 $ 27,371 $ 10,375 $ — $ 38,958

Capital expenditures — (5,765) (30,332) (39,438) — (75,535)
Contribution to equity method
investment — — — (4,845) — (4,845)
Net proceeds from sale of:

Equity method investments — — — 3,307 — 3,307
Other long-term assets — — 155 3,357 — 3,512

Investing activity with subsidiaries — (3,501) (154) — 3,655 —
Other, net — 16 (533) 6,107 — 5,590

Investing cash flow — (9,250) (30,864) (31,512) 3,655 (67,971)

Issuances of long-term debt — 330,000 — 67 — 330,067
Repayments of long-term debt and
capital lease obligations — (400,265) (8) (60) — (400,333)
Payments for debt modification and
issuance costs — (5,026) — — — (5,026)
Payments of debt extinguishment
costs — (6,915) — — — (6,915)
Financing activity with subsidiaries — — 3,501 154 (3,655) —

Financing cash flow — (82,206) 3,493 161 (3,655) (82,207)
Increase (decrease) in cash and
equivalents — (90,244) — (20,976) — (111,220)

Cash and equivalents, beginning of
period — 99,016 — 57,465 — 156,481
Cash and equivalents, end of period $ — $ 8,772 $ — $ 36,489 $ — $ 45,261
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Note 21 — Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following quarterly financial data are unaudited, but in the opinion of management include all necessary adjustments, 
of a normal and recurring nature, for a fair statement of the interim results. The company’s results are subject to significant 
seasonal variations and interim results are not indicative of the results of operations for the full fiscal year. The company’s 
results during the third and fourth quarters are generally weaker than in the first half of the year due to increased availability of 
competing fruits and resulting lower banana prices, as well as seasonally lower consumption of salads in the fourth quarter.

Per share results include the effect, if dilutive, of the assumed conversion of the Convertible Notes, options and other 
stock awards into common stock during the period presented. The effects of assumed conversions are determined independently 
for each respective quarter and year and may not be dilutive during every period due to variations in net income (loss) and 
average stock price. Therefore, the sum of quarterly per share results will not necessarily equal the per share results for the full 
year. For the quarters ended December 31, 2013 and September 30, 2013, the shares used to calculate diluted EPS would have 
been 47.7 million and 47.9 million, respectively, if the company had generated net income. For the quarters ended December 
31, 2012, September 30, 2012 and March 31, 2012, the shares used to calculate diluted EPS would have been 47.0 million, 46.6 
million and 46.5 million , respectively, if the company had generated net income.

The company recorded out of period adjustments for income tax benefit (expense) in the second and fourth quarters of 
2013 of $3 million and $(2) million, respectively, and $(3) million and $(2) million in the first and fourth quarters of 2012, 
respectively. Adjustments in 2013 relate to 2012, 2011 and prior periods while the adjustments in 2012 relate primarily to 2011. 
In the fourth quarter of 2012, the company also recorded an out of period for $3 million of sales rebates that were primarily 
related to the second quarter of 2012. These collective corrections had an insignificant effect on all affected annual and 
quarterly periods and line items based on a quantitative and qualitative evaluation.

2013
(In thousands, except per share amounts) March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31

Net sales $ 774,252 $ 812,171 $ 723,062 $ 747,997
Cost of sales 679,151 693,346 645,170 690,761
Gross profit 95,101 118,825 77,892 57,236
Operating income (loss) 25,138 40,576 1,153 (17,022)
Net income (loss) 2,377 31,100 (17,814) (31,478)

Net income (loss) per common share — basic
Continuing Operations 0.05 0.67 (0.38) (0.67)
Discontinued Operations — — — —

0.05 0.67 (0.38) (0.67)

Net income (loss) per common share — diluted
Continuing Operations 0.05 0.66 (0.38) (0.67)
Discontinued Operations — — — —

0.05 0.66 (0.38) (0.67)

Common stock market price:
High $ 8.25 $ 11.05 $ 13.57 $ 12.90
Low 6.10 7.05 11.03 9.41
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2012
(In thousands, except per share amounts) March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31

Net sales $ 793,484 $ 833,165 $ 714,167 $ 737,521
Cost of sales 704,971 727,607 643,578 666,884
Gross profit 88,513 105,558 70,589 70,637
Operating income (loss) (434) 17,597 (66,104) (204,893)
Net income (loss) (11,142) 5,508 (66,754) (332,629)

Net income (loss) per common share — basic
Continuing Operations (0.24) 0.12 (1.45) (7.14)
Discontinued Operations — — — (0.04)

(0.24) 0.12 (1.45) (7.18)

Net income (loss) per common share — diluted
Continuing Operations (0.24) 0.12 (1.45) (7.14)
Discontinued Operations — — — (0.04)

(0.24) 0.12 (1.45) (7.18)

Common stock market price:
High $ 10.37 $ 8.96 $ 7.96 $ 8.39
Low 8.04 4.66 4.75 6.61
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Chiquita Brands International, Inc.
SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

  Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
FINANCIAL CONDITION
Working capital $ 220,617 $ 200,144 $ 321,348 $ 396,707 $ 355,000
Capital expenditures 48,130 53,440 75,535 65,542 68,305
Total assets 1,659,138 1,697,762 1,937,959 2,067,146 2,044,826
Capitalization:

Short-term debt 2,271 65,008 16,774 20,169 17,607
Long-term debt 629,353 540,517 555,705 613,973 638,462
Shareholders’ equity 374,438 370,402 800,070 739,988 660,303

OPERATIONS
Net sales $ 3,057,482 $ 3,078,337 $ 3,139,296 $ 3,227,432 $ 3,470,435
Operating income (loss)1 49,845 (253,834) 33,740 107,660 147,309
Income (loss) from continuing operations1 (15,815) (403,034) 56,836 60,623 91,208
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of income tax — (1,983) — (3,268) (717)
Net income (loss)1 (15,815) (405,017) 56,836 57,355 90,491
SHARE DATA
Shares used to calculate net income (loss) per common share –
diluted 46,577 46,059 46,286 45,850 45,248
Net income (loss) per common share—diluted:

Continuing operations $ (0.34) $ (8.75) $ 1.23 $ 1.32 $ 2.02
Discontinued operations — (0.04) — (0.07) (0.02)

$ (0.34) $ (8.79) $ 1.23 $ 1.25 $ 2.00
Dividends declared per common share $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —
Market price per common share:

High $ 13.57 $ 10.37 $ 17.19 $ 18.46 $ 18.98
Low 6.10 4.66 7.64 11.18 4.41
End of period 11.70 8.25 8.34 14.02 18.04

1 2012 includes $180 million ($171 million after-tax) of goodwill and trademark impairment in the Salads and Healthy Snacks 
segment. 2012 also includes $130 million of income tax expense related to establishing a valuation allowance for U.S. deferred tax 
assets. 2011 includes an $87 million income tax benefit for releasing valuation allowances for U.S. deferred tax assets.

See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for information on discontinued operations. See Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for information related to significant items affecting 
operating income (loss) for 2013, 2012 and 2011.
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Publicly Issued Securities
•	 Common Stock, par value $.01 per share
•	 4.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2016
•	 7.875% Senior Secured Notes due 2021

Exchange Listing for Common Stock
New York Stock Exchange
Trading Symbol:  CQB

Shareholders of Record
As of March 24, 2014, there were 1,362 holders of record of Common Stock.

Annual Meeting
May 22, 2014
10 a.m., Eastern Daylight Time
NASCAR Plaza
550 South Caldwell Street, 11th Floor
Charlotte, N.C. 28202

Transfer Agent and Registrar for Common Stock
Wells Fargo Shareowner Services
P.O. Box 64874
St. Paul, Minnesota 55164-0874
(800) 468-9716
(651) 450-4064

Trustee for 4.25% Convertible Notes and 7.875% Senior Secured Notes
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association
Corporate Trust Services 
150 East 42nd Street, 40th Floor
New York, New York 10017
(800) 344-5128

Investor Inquiries
For other questions concerning your investment in Chiquita, contact Investor Relations 
at (980) 636-5637.

Corporate Governance and Code of Conduct 
Chiquita has a Code of Conduct, which applies to all employees, including our senior 
management and, to the extent applicable to their roles, our directors. We also comply 
with New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) governance requirements. All of our directors 
other than the President and Chief Executive Officer are independent.  

The Investor Relations/Corporate Governance section of 
 http://investors.chiquita.com provides access to:
	• Code of Conduct
	• Board of Directors Governance Standards and Policies
	• Charter of the Audit Committee
	• Charter of the Compensation & Organization Development Committee
	• Charter of the Nominating & Governance Committee
	• Charter of the Food Safety, Technology and Sustainability Committee
	• Standards for Director Independence
	• Related Person Transactions Policy
	• Chiquita’s filings with the SEC

Helpline
Chiquita’s Helpline provides its employees, its vendors, and other third parties with 
a means of reporting ethical or legal concerns. The Helpline is available 24 hours 
a day, seven days a week, and reports are accepted in any language. The Helpline 
can be accessed by phone at 1-888-749-1952 or by web at www.chiquitahelpline.
ethicspoint.com.  Persons who report concerns are protected from retaliation.

COMMON STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH
The performance graph to the right compares Chiquita’s cumulative 
shareholder returns over the period December 31, 2009 through 
December 31, 2013, assuming $100 had been invested at December 
31, 2009 in each of Chiquita Common Stock, the Standard & Poor’s 500 
Stock Index and the Standard & Poor’s Midcap Food Products Index.  
The calculation of total shareholder return is based on the change 
in the price of the stock over the relevant period and assumes the 
reinvestment of all dividends.
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